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LISTING INFORMATION

Listing : Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Stock Exchange”)

Stock code : 509
SHARE INFORMATION

Company’s shares of : 4,5681,116,843 Shares
HK$0.02 each
(the “Shares”) in issue
(31 December 2021)

Market capitalisation t HK$128,271,271
(81 December 2021)

Board lot size : 5,000 Shares

LOSS PER SHARE FOR 2021

Basic 1 HK24.48 cents
Diluted : HK24.48 cents

DIVIDEND PER SHARE FOR 2021

Interim - HK$Nil
Final (proposed) - HK$Nil
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. Chairman’s Statement
Chairman’s Statement

‘ ‘ ‘ ‘ In response to the new demand arising from
X
BEMEARSTRERD the development of the agricultural industry in

K RMEREBEENRESREM - the new era, the Group must accelerate its product

upgrade, pursue its technology innovation, and

/1= A\ > , \, I3z =<7 , VAN
jti 1’TU %U ’:F‘ﬁ j]D §§ IT\Z J\ e P jj Tj_ gl enhance its core competitiveness to achieve sustainable
BIRTERRITEXLRE i i development of the enterprise. i I

BRI AR B RS 4A S ERIZERER AR ([ART ] ERENBAT @ It LEE sk AEE]) I would like to thank all for the unfailing support and total confidence in Century Sunshine Group Holdings
FEHELE AAZRRARTNEZT([EF))e((ELE])  MAREAEEEET2021FE12A8318ILEE ([F Limited (the “Company” and together with its subsidiaries, “Century Sunshine” or the “Group”). On behalf of the
N 2 2FHEBEUHSMANEHEEERRN - board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of the Company, | am pleased to present the annual results for

the year ended 31 December 2021 (the “Year”) of the Group for the perusal of our stakeholders.

EC

20214 - AITT ENEST  FEALEBELTERBNRBEEMTBEIBEMES B EREEE INDUSTRY REVIEW

ERIE - ﬁ%ﬁ“,ﬁraﬁu’??ﬁ’z\ HEBEEHRT LR  LREH Bm RXREgAXEEE FEES

TEE Ezéfﬁ%ﬂjﬂi EHH o In 2021, with the continued spread of the pandemic worldwide, as well as the sporadic outbursts and regional
clusters of COVID-19 cases in China, the world was confronted with severe and complex prevention and control

20214F « BEIRERBEENREE - bh&E T AFTEMABIRE - O 20 BON & PR = E 1% R LR 18 8 8270% + LB challenges. The emergence of new variants such as Delta and Omicron cast a shadow over the recovery of the

BREIOTFOFELSM - MZ2PRBTEM2021F FEFRZWEEFRE TR EZERBERBERE] ([eiEe global economy. The energy crisis, extreme weather, and frequent natural disasters have impacted all industries,

EIWE) BOoUMREHNEECESIIZBRENTE  BE FE BEHREIFEERAR- among which the agricultural industry was no exception.

e HFE)\T SERE - (RS NEMERENZETFERZT  IERHTERERNEELEXEZE - In 2021, the surge in energy prices also led to a substantial increase in commodity prices. For example, the price

GiliSN FHREBERENLERARE - RAARKEREZRMIARMAEMS  CHEENEFZHHERE - of Urea in Europe recorded a year-on-year increase of over 270%, while the price of chemical fertiliser reached

?ﬁi%ﬁiiT\ﬁfE CBHEAMEK  PREECEEXES - a historical record high for the last ten years. In addition, in light of the “Barometer of Completion of the Dual

Control of Total Energy Consumption and Energy Intensity in All regions in H12021” (20214 | 3 F & ith % ge 5
HITHEEKIGRBRZE]) (the “Dual Control of Total Energy Consumption and Energy Intensity” policy) issued
by the Chinese government, fertiliser producers in certain regions reduced output, suspended production, or
implemented equipment transformation and upgrade.

Due to several negative factors resulting from the sustained and repeated pandemic, the “Dual Control of
Total Energy Consumption and Energy Intensity” policy, and the rising raw material prices, the production and
operation of fertiliser suppliers were affected. Meanwhile, the market resists high price. Most of the distributors
and farmers adopted a wait-and-see approach due to the sharply increased fertilisers' prices as a result of rising
raw material prices. The poor market performance in peak season and the dampened transaction sentiment put
fertiliser producers under great pressure.
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PROMOTING PRODUCT UPGRADE AND INNOVATION

The development pattern of the PRC economy has undergone profound changes by shifting
from high growth to high-quality development. At the same time, the fertiliser industry has
also entered into a critical stage of transformation towards the new development pattern,
the optimised economic structure, and the new source of growth. Against the backdrop of
achieving “Carbon Peak and Carbon Neutrality”, efforts have been made to promote
the healthy development of the fertiliser industry through technology empowerment and
environmental protection. Since its establishment in 2000, the Group has been committed
to developing and promoting new green fertilisers, which was in line with the national
policies of “Zero Growth of Chemical Fertilisers Use” and “Replacing Chemical Fertilisers
with Organic Fertilisers”, as well as the green and low-carbon development strategy. In
response to the new demand arising from the development of the agricultural industry
in the new era, the Group must accelerate its product upgrade, pursue its technology
innovation, and enhance its core competitiveness to achieve sustainable development
of the enterprise. In 2021, the Group has launched a number of new products and new
series such as seaweed fertilisers, humic acid fertilisers, water-soluble fertilisers, and liquid
fertilisers. The functional fertilisers are mainly used to improve soil ecology, boost crop
quality and increase the effectiveness of fertilisers. Applying functional elements such as
alginic acid, humic acid, and polyglutamic acid to the traditional formula will improve the
quality and effectiveness of fertiliser products. In addition, water-soluble fertilisers and
liquid fertilisers allow simultaneous application of water and fertilisers. The deep placement
of fertilisers with water downward infiltrating achieves the water and fertiliser integration. It
significantly improves the efficiency of fertiliser conversion, increases the effectiveness of
fertilisers, reduces water consumption, and cuts labour costs. Thereby it addresses the sail
issue, meets the needs of crop growth, and satisfies the farmers’ expectation for fertiliser
effectiveness.

FACILITATING DEVELOPMENT OF MAGNESIUM
PRODUCT SEGMENT

The Group’s another main segment, the magnesium product business, is operated by
the Group’s subsidiary, Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
(“REMT”). In light of the sharp fluctuations in magnesium price as a result of the substantial
increase in raw materials’ costs and the implementation of the “Dual Control of Total
Energy Consumption and Energy Intensity” policy, the customers adopted a wait-and-see
approach and became cautious in placing new orders, leading to the weakened market
demand. Although the magnesium industry may be under pressure in the short term, the
trend of expanding the application of magnesium-related products in the downstream
industries will not be affected. The magnesium will facilitate the lightweight transformation
of downstream products to achieve energy conservation and emission reduction, in turn
contributing to the goal of “Carbon Peak and Carbon Neutrality” set by the Chinese
government. Xinjiang Tengxiang, a subsidiary of REMT, was recognised as a national
“High and Advanced Technology Enterprise”. It owns 22 technical patents of the
production technology and manufacturing methods for high-performance magnesium
alloys, and adopts the innovative vertical retorts smelting technology, operating with
satisfactory effect. It has been encouraged and promoted repeatedly by the Ministry of
Industry and Information Technology and other authorities of the Chinese government.

REMT applied the appointment of the provisional liquidators to the Supreme Court of
Bermuda (the “Bermuda Court”) in July 2020. After its efforts over the past one and a half
years, the creditors’ scheme proposed by REMT was approved by the requisite statutory
majorities of the scheme creditors on 1 March 2022. Subsequently, REMT will be taken out
of provisional liquidation according to the procedures and requirements of the Bermuda

Court and other relevant statutory authorities, and returned to a healthy development state.

13
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PROSPECT-CREATING A BRIGHTER FUTURE

As stated in the “Central Committee of the Communist Party of China’s Proposal on Formulating the 14th
Five-year Plan on National Economic and Social Development and the Long-Range Goals for 2035” ({/
RARNFIERREEMCCEHEETHEARFREMN_O=ZRAFESHIEMNEF)) issued by the Chinese
government, efforts shall be made to reduce the use of chemical fertilisers and pesticide, and to enhance soil
contamination treatment. The fertiliser industry in China accordingly adopts a general policy of achieving negative
growth in chemical fertiliser application, and promoting the environmentally-friendly and high-efficiency new
fertilisers. The Group will stay true to its original aspiration of developing green ecological products, leveraging
its technological advantages of soil testing formulae. The Group will further step up its efforts in technology
innovation and develop high-efficiency, dedicated and cost-effective fertiliser products, while improving its
agricultural-chemical services. Capitalising on its brand influence under the brand “Yanyangtian (&[5 X)”

accumulated over the past 30 years, the Group will create a brighter future.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

On behalf of the Group, | wish to thank our shareholders, Board members, customers, banks, business partners
and staff members for their great support for the Group over the past years. | would like to express my heart-felt
gratitude towards our creditors for their understanding and patience, and convey my most sincere gratitude
to all staff of the Group for their outstanding performance. In 2022, the Company will continue to innovate
in technology, products and marketing models; abide by the business philosophy and social mission; seek
development through innovation; seek win-win results in development; stay true to the original aspiration; strive
to bring benefits to all stakeholders; and create a better future together!

Chi Wen Fu
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2022
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Management Discussion and Analysis

REDBERASH

HZ2021F12A31B L2 F ([FR]) - A& EH
K B2 U N 2 #91,331,858,00058 7T (20204 : 4
2,151,811,000/8 7t) ° [A tb & 2> 4938.1% +
BEEREKEEE59.9% (2020%F : 14.1%) * Fi1é s
B 4751,254,102,000/% 7T * tL EF R EEED
984,205,000/ JT I Il #4927.4% - Ep - 2 X R
FHEFRF R A L A904,013,00078 7T (20204F ¢
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EEEEEERR -
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OB FETITENIERCEZEHIE
E-EETE BREDH AR HERHEE
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND ANALYSIS

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2021 (the
“Year”), the Group recorded an overall revenue of
approximately HK$1,331,858,000 (2020: approximately
HK$2,151,811,000), representing a year-on-year decrease
of approximately 38.1%, with an overall gross profit
margin of 9.9% (2020: 14.1%). The loss after tax was
approximately HK$1,254,102,000, representing an increase
of approximately 27.4% as compared with a loss of
approximately HK$984,205,000 for the same period of last
year. Revenue from the fertiliser business during the Year
was approximately HK$904,013,000 (2020: approximately
HK$1,378,985,000), representing a year-on-year decrease
of approximately 34.4%. Such decrease in revenue was
mainly attributable to the constant impact on the production
and transportation at the plants due to the most rigorous
pandemic prevention and control measures adopted by
the Chinese government as a result of repeated outbursts
of the pandemic. Meanwhile, in response to the "Dual
Control of Total Energy Consumption and Energy Intensity"
policy, the plants implemented a series measures such as
production reduction, production suspension and equipment
transformation and upgrade. The decrease in gross profit of
the Group was closely related to the substantial increase of
raw material prices for fertiliser production. The increase in
raw material prices was due to the global energy crisis and
global environment. Most of the distributors and farmers
adopted a wait-and-see approach due to the sharply
increased fertilisers' prices as a result of rising raw material
prices. Hence, the market performance in peak season
was poor, and the transaction sentiment was dampened.
In addition, since the Group was undergoing offshore debt
restructuring, the Group’s working capital liquidity and
operating scale has been hampered. Therefore, due to the
combined effects of various internal and external factors
mentioned above, the production and operation of the Group
will continue to be under pressure in the short and medium
terms.

Revenue from the magnesium product business held by the
Group through REMT was approximately HK$416,060,000
(2020: approximately HK$744,836,000) during the Year,
representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately
44.1%. Average gross profit margin was approximately 16.5%
(2020: 17.5%). For REMT, the decrease in sales revenue
was mainly due to the sharp fluctuations in magnesium price,
which have led to a wait-and-see approach adopted by most
downstream processing and applied companies. They placed
orders cautiously, resulting in weaker demand. Meanwhile,
the influence of the offshore debt restructuring has led to the
lingering constraints to REMT's working capital.
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“RELOCATION OF INDUSTRIES FROM CITY
URBAN AREA TO INDUSTRIAL PARKS"” BY
SHANDONG HONGRI

Shandong Hongri Chemical Joint Stock Company Limited
(“Shandong Hongri”) has cooperated with Luozhuang District
Government of Linyi City to respond to the requirements of
“Relocation of Industries from City Urban Area to Industrial
Parks” (“the Plan”). Shandong Hongri is benefited from the
relevant policies of the Shandong Provincial Government on
the Plan. All plants have been demolished since the launch
of the Plan. Shandong Hongri is persistently discussing with
the local authorities for further instructions to propel the
implementation of the Plan as soon as possible.

In accordance with the relevant policies of the Shandong
Provincial Government on the Plan, Shandong Hongri can
change the industrial use of the land where the plant was
originally located according to the law upon obtaining
approval after completion of the Plan as scheduled. The
Company expects to benefit from the value appreciation after
the change of use of the land, and reap additional gains.
But the change of land use will eventually hinge upon the
approval of relevant authorities in the PRC.

PROSPECT

We have the confidence to forge ahead and overcome
difficulties because of the rigid demand of fertilisers in
agricultural production, the policy support from the Chinese
Government, and the Group’s differentiated superior
products, the green ecological fertilisers, which we have
been exploring for more than 20 years. The repeated
outbreak of COVID-19 has caused food shortages in many
countries. Some food-exporting countries have begun to
restrict food exports. At present and in the future, the market
for agricultural materials related to the grain will face great
development opportunities. Fertilisers, which have a high
contribution rate of over 50% to the grain production, are
indispensable for the stable production and high yield of
grain. The green ecological fertiliser developed and produced
by the Group since its establishment helps improve soil
conditions and fertiliser utilisation rate, and enhance crop
yield and quality. We believe that in the post-epidemic
era, people’s increasing demand for healthy food will also
promote the market demand for green ecological fertilisers.
“Enhancing Crop Productivity and Soil Fertility” is always our
eternal mission. To expand the fertiliser industry, leading the
development of green fertiliser is the unremitting pursuit of
Century Sunshine.

17
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FEEEHNE KEY OPERATIONAL DATA

FRZRAEEZR T BLEHEB2020F R EE  Unaudited key operational data for the Year, together with

BHEIN T NRAAVMETEEKBEARE the comparative figures for the corresponding period in 2020,

FRNBEETENIY ° are as follows. Main businesses listed below contributed over
99% of the Group’s total revenue for the Year.

(a) TEERZHEE (a) Sales volume of major products:
2021 2020 S
g 7 Decrease
Tonnes Tonnes %
BEEEE Fertiliser business 326,887 616,661 (47.0)
FEEMES Magnesium product 16,901 39,156 (56.8)
business
(b) TEEBZFYEE : (b) Average selling price of major products:
2021 2020 14
Bt M T,/ A Increase
HK$/Tonne HK$/Tonne %
EEEMER Fertiliser business 2,766 2,236 23.7
EEMES Magnesium product 24,577 18,951 29.7
business
(c) EFZE: (c) Gross profit margin:
Vs
2021 2020 =R
Decrease
Percentage
% % point
BERIER XK Fertiliser business 7.7 12.8 (5.1)
TEEMEX Magnesium product 16.5 17.5 (1.0)
business
REEZER The Group’s overall 9.9 14.1 4.2)

performance
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OPERATING INCOME AND GROSS PROFIT

Contribution of revenue by our Group’s dual core businesses:
fertiliser business and magnesium product business
accounted for similar proportion as last year, representing
67.9% and 31.2% (2020: 64.1% and 34.6%) respectively.

During the Year, the revenue of fertiliser business was
approximately HK$904,013,000 (2020: approximately
HK$1,378,985,000), representing a year-on-year decrease
of approximately 34.4%. The decrease in revenue was
mainly because that, given the Group is undergoing offshore
debt restructuring, the Group’s working capital liquidity and
operating scale have been hampered. Besides, the pandemic
prevention and control measures, “Dual Control of Total
Energy Consumption and Energy Intensity” policy together
with the continuing fluctuating and increasing raw material
prices further impaired the Group’s efficiency. As such, the
total sales volume of our fertiliser decreased by approximately
47.0% on a year-on-year basis, and the gross profit margin
decreased by 5.1 percentage points to 7.7%.

During the Year, the revenue of magnesium product business
was approximately HK$416,060,000 (2020: approximately
HK$744,836,000), representing a year-on-year decrease
of approximately 44.1%. The overall gross profit margin
decreased by 1 percentage point to 16.5%. The decrease
in revenue was mainly due to the lingering constraints to
the working capital of REMT as a result of the influence of
its offshore debt restructuring. Since REMT applied to the
Supreme Court of Bermuda for provisional liquidation for debt
restructuring purpose in July 2020, suppliers and customers
have been more cautious about placing orders due to the
impact of the offshore debt restructuring and the increased
costs of raw materials.
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OTHER GAINS OR LOSSES, NET

Other net gains or losses were approximately HK$50,533,000
(2020: approximately HK$60,309,000), representing a
decrease of approximately 16.2% year-on-year, which were
mainly resulted from the decrease in government grant. In
last year, a discretionary government grant of approximately
HK$19,020,000 for the “Relocation of industries from City
Urban Area to Industrial Parks” to Shandong Hongri from the
PRC government was recognised by the Group, while there
was no such grant for current year.

SELLING AND MARKETING COSTS

Selling and marketing costs were approximately
HK$34,377,000 (2020: approximately HK$55,377,000),
accounting for approximately 2.6% (2020: 2.6%) of revenue,
which mainly consisted of market operating expenses,
sales staff salaries, and sales and distribution expenses. Its
decrease was in line with that of revenue.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Administrative expenses mainly included staff remuneration,
depreciation and amortisation, auditing and professional
expenses. Administrative expenses for the Year were
approximately HK$205,813,000 (2020: approximately
HK$237,492,000), representing a decrease of approximately
13.3% vyear-on-year. The Group is undergoing offshore debt
restructuring and is therefore striving to reduce expenses.

FINANCE COSTS

Finance costs were approximately HK$200,301,000 (2020:
approximately HK$179,501,000), representing an increase of
approximately 11.6% year-on-year. The increase in finance
costs was mainly due to the default interests recognised for
the cross default of certain debts of the Group since July
2020.
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INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSE)

Income tax for the year was a tax credit of approximately
HK$5,605,000 (2020: tax expenses of approximately
HK$56,222,000), which comprised of current tax expenses
of approximately HK$14,965,000 (2020: approximately
HK$35,901,000) and a deferred tax credit of approximately
HK$20,570,000 (deferred tax expenses of approximately
HK$20,321,000). During the year, current tax has decreased
by 58.3% year-on-year as a result of decrease in revenue.
Besides, certain non-current assets have been impaired for
the Year, resulting in a decrease of its related deferred tax
liabilities and a deferred tax credit therefore being recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit and loss, while in last
year, certain properties, plant and equipment have been
written-off and its related deferred tax assets was therefore
recognised as deferred tax expenses in the consolidated
statement of profit and loss.

MATERIAL ITEMS CONTRIBUTED TO LOSS
FOR THE YEAR

During the Year, the Group recognised the following write-off,
impairment and allowance on assets in aggregate of
HK$1,010,173,000 (2020: HK$853,464,000):

1. Impairment of non-current assets

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the
management of the Group reviewed that two
cash-generating unit of the Group, fertiliser business
and metallurgical flux business segment (“CGU 17)
and magnesium product business segment (“CGU
2”) underperformed and incurred losses due to the
constraints to working capital and offshore debt
restructuring of the Group.
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To cope with the "Dual Control of Total Energy
Consumption and Energy Intensity" policy, the plants
implemented a series measures such as production
reduction, production suspension and equipment
transformation and upgrade. In addition, as affected
by fluctuations of international commodity prices due
to the global energy crisis and global environment, the
prices of raw and auxiliary materials for CGU 1 and
CGU 2 in China have increased significantly. Most of
the customers adopted a wait-and-see approach due
to the sharply increased fertilisers' and magnesium’s
prices as a result of rising raw material prices. The
market performance in peak season was poor, and the
transaction sentiment was dampened. Subject to the
combined effects of both internal and external factors
mentioned above, the production and operation of the
Group will continue to be under pressure in the short
and medium terms.

In view of the economic performance of the CGU 1 and
CGU 2 which was not as expected, management of the
Group concluded there was an indication for impairment
and conducted impairment assessment on right-of-use
assets, property, plant and equipment, and intangible
assets with carrying amounts of HK$232,958,000,
HK$3,408,172,000 and HK$291,125,000 respectively.

The Group estimates the recoverable amount of CGU1
and CGU2, to which the asset belongs when it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually,
including allocation of corporate assets when
reasonable and consistent basis can be established.
Each cash-generating unit represents the Group’s
manufacturing operation in respective geographical
locations. The carrying amounts of assets of CGU1 and
CGU 2 were approximately HK$2,642,500,000 and
HK$1,750,470,000 respectively.
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CGU 1

The recoverable amount of CGU1 has been determined
based on a value in use calculation. That calculation
uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by the management of the Group covering
the following 5 years as at 31 December 2021
with an expected pre-tax discount rate of 14.84%
and the corporate tax rate of 25%. The cash flows
beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using
2% growth rate. This growth rate is based on the
relevant industry growth forecasts and does not exceed
the average long-term growth rate for the relevant
industry. Another key assumption for the value in use
calculated is the budgeted gross margin with a range of
approximately 11% to 22%, which is determined based
on the cash-generating units’ past performance and
management expectations for the market development.

CGU 2

The recoverable amount of CGU 2 has been determined
based on a value in use calculation. That calculation
uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by the management of the Group covering
the following 5 years as at 31 December 2021 with
an expected pre-tax discount rate of 14.71% and the
corporate tax rate of 25%. The cash flows beyond the
five-year period are extrapolated using 2% growth rate,
which is based on the industry growth forecasts and
does not exceed the long-term average growth rate for
the relevant industry. Another key assumption for the
value in use calculated is the budgeted gross margin
with a range of approximately 22% to 26%, which is
determined based on the cash-generating unit’s past
performance and management expectations for the
market development.
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The Group engaged Roma Appraisals Limited,
independent valuer, as the valuer to perform the
valuations of CGU 1 and CGU 2 of the Group as at 31
December 2021.

The board of directors and audit committee of the
Group considered that the basis and assumptions used
for preparing the cash flow projection and the valuation
methodology, basis and assumptions used for preparing
the valuation report were reasonable and appropriate.

Details of the impairment of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets are
disclosed in Note 22.

Allowance for expected credit losses on trade
receivables, other receivables and deposits
Under HKFRS 9, companies are required to account
for what they expect the loss to be on the day they
issue the invoice and revise their estimate of that loss
until the date they get paid. The concept of expected
credit losses (ECLs) means that companies are
required to look at how current and future economic
conditions impact the amount of loss. However, it
does not mean that such losses had actually occurred
nor should happen in coming years. Instead, ECLs
reflect information available at the reporting date and
it should need to be assessed for each financial year.
Independent valuers were engaged by the Group
to assess the ECLs for the trade receivables, other
receivable and deposits as at 31 December 2021.
Affected by the ongoing COVID-19 epidemic, the
Group’s receivables collection was significantly delayed.
Therefore, an allowance of HK$173,111,000 (2020:
HK$147,212,000) was made for the Year.

For details, please see Notes 26 and 27 to the financial
statements.
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MARGIN

During the Year, the Group’s after-tax loss was approximately
HK$1,254,102,000 (2020: HK$984,205,000), representing
an increase of approximately 27.4% vyear-on-year. If
excluding the above non-recurring and non-cash material
items contributed to loss for the year of approximately
HK$1,010,173,000 (2020: HK$853,464,000) in aggregate,
the adjusted after-tax loss from operations for the Year
was approximately HK$243,929,000, while that of last year
was approximately HK$130,741,000. The Group’s overall
business performance for the Year was hampered due to
the pandemic prevention and control measures and the
continuing fluctuating and increasing energy and raw material
prices.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

POSSIBLE DEBT RESTRUCTURING AND THE
APPOINTMENT OF JOINT PROVISIONAL
LIQUIDATORS FOR RESTRUCTURING
PURPOSES

Historically, the Group has enjoyed strong growth and
profitability over a number of years in its fertiliser business,
metallurgical flux business, and magnesium product business.
However, the raging COVID-19 outbreak and the Chinese
Government’s epidemic prevention and control measures that
are considered to be the most rigorous measures in history
have led to key businesses either not operating normally
or only operating on a limited basis. These conditions had
resulted in decrease in orders and longer receivable collection
cycles and has led to a material reduction in the Group’s
profitability and liquidity in the first half of 2020. The spread
of the epidemic across the world, and the rising tensions
between the United States of America and mainland China
have adversely affected the Company’s ability to refinance
the Notes and other borrowings, leading to the default in the
redemption of its subordinated notes in the principal amount
of SGD101,750,000 that matured on 3 July 2020.
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In order to facilitate a restructuring of its debts with
the benefit of a statutory moratorium prohibiting the
commencement or continuance of any proceedings against
the Company without the leave of court, the Company has
filed on 2 July 2020 (Cayman lIslands time) to the Grand
Court of the Cayman Islands (the “Grand Court”) a winding
up petition (“Petition”) together with the application for the
appointment of Mr. Yen Ching Wai David and Ms. So Kit
Yee Anita of Ernst & Young Transactions Limited, Mr. Roy
Bailey of Ernst & Young Ltd., and Ms. Tammy Karina Fu of
EY Cayman Ltd. (collectively, the “JPLs”) as the “light-touch”
joint provisional liquidators of the Company for restructuring
purposes, with the power to act jointly and severally. REMT,
a subsidiary of the Company, has also made a similar
application to the Supreme Court of Bermuda for the same
purpose.

A “light touch” basis is that the Board will retain management
of the Company and maintain the operation of the Group,
while the JPLs will work alongside the Company’s
management to monitor, supervise, and oversee the
implementation of a group-wide holistic and coordinated
restructuring of its debts and liabilities including to maintain
the listing of the Company on the Stock Exchange.

The JPLs Application was heard before the Grand Court
on 14 July 2020 (Cayman lIslands time). The Grand Court
granted an order that the JPLs have been appointed with
immediate effect.

On 18 August 2020, the Grand Court issued a letter of
request (“LOR”) to the High Court of Hong Kong for the
recognition of the appointment and powers of the JPLs in
Hong Kong to, inter alia, develop and propose a restructuring
plan to allow the Company to continue as a going concern.
The Grand Court also accepted the resignation of one of the
JPLs, Mr. Yen Ching Wai David on the same day. The JPLs
appointment order remains in force in respect of Mr. Roy
Bailey, Ms. Tammy Karina Fu and Ms. So Kit Yee Anita as
JPLs. An application has been filed by the JPLs to the High
Court of Hong Kong on 26 August 2020 for the recognition
of the appointment and powers of the JLPs pursuant to the
LOR. On 28 August 2020, the High Court of Hong Kong has
approved the said application.
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An application has been filed by the JPLs to the High Court
of the Republic of Singapore (the “Singapore High Court”) on
28 October 2020 for the recognition of the appointment and
powers of the JLPs pursuant to the LOR. On 30 November
2020, the Singapore High Court has approved the said
application.

On 23 December 2020, the Singapore Noteholders have
established the informal steering committee (the “ISC”). On 7
March 2021, the ISC has appointed an independent financial
advisor (the “IFA”), who sits on the creditors’ committee,
together with the ISC, to proceed the follow-up work.

During the Year, the JPLs have held several creditors’
committee meetings to discuss the development of
the provisional liquidation and restructuring scheme.
Nevertheless, any determination and implementation of such
scheme shall be subject to the agreement of the requisite
majorities of creditors and the applicable approval(s) of the
Grand Court, the High Court of Hong Kong, and/or other
relevant jurisdictions, if necessary.

As further ordered by the Grand Court, the hearing of the
Petition will be adjourned to be held on Monday, 25 April
2022 (Cayman lIslands time).

The Company is also taking various measures to improve
and strengthen the operation and management of the Group.
These measures include (i) restructuring internal capital
and debt, and seeking potential investors to participate
in fundraising plans; and/or (ii) taking further cost control
measures on capital investment and operation to reduce
the overall operating costs of the Group. The Company will
continue to seek positive feedbacks from the creditors to
support the scheme.

The Company will make further announcements in respect of
any substantial development of the restructuring scheme.
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REMT CREDITORS' SCHEME

As disclosed in the REMT announcement dated 18 January
2022, REMT proposed to implement the REMT Creditors’
Scheme, which comprises (i) the Term Extension Option; (i)
the Convertible Bonds Swap Option; and (ii) a combination
of the aforementioned two options. Each REMT Scheme
Creditor with REMT Admitted Claims is entitled, to the extent
of the total value of his/her/its REMT Admitted Claim(s), to
elect among options (i), (i) and (i) above.

In order to secure the REMT’s payment obligations under the
Term Extension Option, a financial assistance, namely the
potential repayment under the proposed scheme of REMT
and potential corporate guarantee, will be provided to REMT
in favour of the REMT Scheme Company by the Company
upon the full and final settlement of all liabilities owed to the
Company’s creditors under the Proposed Scheme of the
Company. Further details on the REMT Creditors’ Scheme
were disclosed in the REMT announcement.

On 1 March 2022, the REMT Creditors’ Scheme was
approved by the requisite statutory majorities of the scheme
creditors at the adjourned scheme meeting convened by
REMT.

VALIDATION ORDER

Pursuant to Section 99 of the Cayman Islands Companies
Law, any disposition of the property of the Company,
including things in action, and any transfer of shares of the
Company (the “Shares”), or alteration in the status of the
members of the Company, made after the commencement
of the winding up, shall, unless the Grand Court otherwise
orders, be void.

The Board has sought the legal counsel’s advice and
after due and careful consideration of Company’s current
circumstances and state of affairs, it is of the view that
there is currently no need to apply for a validation order at
this stage. The Company will evaluate the situation from
time to time and take such steps as may be required as
circumstances evolve.

Further announcement(s) in relation to any material
development of the Petition will be made by the Company as
and when appropriate.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

LIQUIDITY, LIABILITIES AND FINANCIAL
RESOURCES

The Group’s liquidity in 2021 was mainly derived from cash
generated from business operations during the Year. As at
31 December 2021, total amount of bank and cash balances
of the Group was approximately HK$112,528,000 (2020:
HK$173,654,000).

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s total borrowings
was approximately HK$2,146,074,000, increased by
approximately 0.2% as compared to that of 2020 of
approximately HK$2,140,789,000, which was mainly due
to the appreciation of CNY. The Group’s gearing ratio
(calculated by total borrowings over total assets) was
approximately 36.3% in 2021 (2020: 30.9%).

DISCLAIMER OPINION RELATING TO GOING
CONCERN

In the consolidated financial statements of the Company
and its subsidiaries (together as the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2021, the Company’s auditors issued
disclaimer of opinion on the material uncertainties relating
to the going concern basis (“Disclaimer of Opinion”), in
which they were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence to conclude on the appropriateness of management
to use the going concern basis of accounting in the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements because
management’s plans for future actions (the “Action Plan”)
in relation to its going concern assessment could not be
finalised yet and therefore issued a disclaimer of opinion on
the results of the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

The management is taking the best efforts to agree on and
execute the Action Plan in 2021. Taking into account the
successful and continued implementation of the proposed
restructuring, the management and also the Directors are
satisfied that the Group will have sufficient working capital
to meet its financial obligation as and when they fall due in
the foreseeable future, and hence it is appropriate to prepare
the Group’s consolidated financial statements on a going
concern basis. The management assessed that there is no
material impact on the Group’s financial position in light of
the Disclaimer of Opinion, as the going concern issue could
be resolved by the Action Plan devised.
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There was no disagreement between the Board and the
Auditors regarding the Disclaimer of Opinion, considering that
the consolidated financial statements have been prepared
by the management on a going concern basis, the validity
of which depends on the outcome of the measures under
management’s assumptions, which are subject to multiple
uncertainties.

The Audit Committee takes the same view as the Board
and agreed with the management’s position concerning the
going concern issue and Disclaimer of Opinion based on the
reasons above.

MANAGEMENT’S POSITION AND BASIS ON
THE GOING CONCERN ASSUMPTION

As detailed in Note 3 to this consolidated financial statement,
conditions existed as at 31 December 2021 indicating the
existence of material uncertainties which may cast significant
doubt regarding the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. The management of the Company has been
actively negotiated with the JPLs and the creditors on debt
restructuring by way of scheme of arrangement involving,
among others, extension of repayment period.

In addition, the Company will continue to seek potential
investment in the Company from third party investor(s) to
facilitate raising of cash for the Company. The Company
has also implemented cost control measures on capital
investments, production, administrative and operations to
reduce overall operating costs of the Group.

Assuming the successful implementation of the creditor's
scheme, the Board is of the opinion that the Group will have
sufficient working capital to meet its financial obligation as
and when they fall due in the foreseeable future. Accordingly,
the consolidation financial statements have been prepared on
a going concern basis.
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SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had pledge of its
assets, details of which are disclosed in Notes 28 and 32 to
the financial statements.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2021, other than those disclosed in Note
38 to the financial statements, the Group did not have any
material capital commitments.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2021, other than those disclosed in Note
42 to the financial statements, the Group did not have any
significant contingent liabilities.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2021, the issued share capital of the
Company were HK$91,622,337, divided into 4,581,116,843
shares of HK$0.02 each.

PROJECT OVERVIEW

Dolomite Mine

The Group’s dolomite mine is situated in Baishan City,
Jilin Province, the PRC. The mine is operated by open-pit
method, and therefore no additional exploration works are
involved or required. Only simple infrastructure works for
open-pit mining are involved in the development activities,
and no underground exploration or structural works are
involved. The dolomite mined is raw material for producing
magnesium products of the Group. The transportation cost
for raw material is relatively low due to the close proximity of
the mine to the production base of the Group.
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The dolomite mine of the Group was reported under the
Chinese resource/reserve categories. As at 31 December
2021, the anticipated resource and reserve volumes were
determined based on the yearly reduction of quantity mined
to calculate the remaining resource and reserve volumes.
There is no material change in the assumptions of estimation
by the Group as compared with those previously disclosed.
The resource and reserve volumes was reviewed by the
Group’s internal geological experts. For the year ended 31
December 2021, there was no dolomite output. As compared
with that as at 31 December 2020, there was no material
change in the resource estimate and ore reserve of the
dolomite mine during the Year.

The expenditure incurred in mining activities, exploration
activities and development activities of dolomite for the year
ended 31 December 2021 were HK$NIl.

Serpentine Mine

The Group’s serpentine mine is situated in Donghai County,
Jiangsu Province, the PRC. The mine is operated by
open-pit method, and therefore no additional exploration
works are involved or required. Only simple infrastructure
works for open-pit mining are involved in the development
activities, and no underground exploration or structural
works are involved. The serpentine mined is sold directly
as metallurgical flux for iron and steel smelting and is raw
material for producing silicon magnesium fertilisers of the
Group. The transportation cost for raw material is relatively
low due to the close proximity of the mine to the production
base of the Group.

The resource/reserve of the serpentine mine of the Group was
reported under the JORC system when it was acquired in
2010. As at 31 December 2021, the anticipated resource and
reserve volumes were determined based on the volume at the
time of acquisition with the yearly reduction of quantity mined
to calculate the remaining resource and reserve volumes.
There is no material change in the assumptions of estimation
by the Group as compared with those previously disclosed.
The resource and reserve volumes was reviewed by the
Group’s internal geological experts. For the year ended 31
December 2021, the Group completed a serpentine output of
114,587 tonnes. As compared with that as at 31 December
2020, there was no material change in the resource estimate
and ore reserve of the serpentine mine.
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The expenditures incurred for 2021 in development activities
were mainly CAPEX in relation to in-depth development
project of the mine. Such expenditures have been capitalised
and included in the consolidated statement of financial
position for 2021. The expenditures incurred in mining
activities were mainly for direct wages, materials, energy,
transportation, depreciation and amortisation, etc. Such
expenditures have been included in cost of sales and charged
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for 2021.

The expenditures incurred in development and mining
activities of serpentine for the year ended 31 December 2021
were approximately HK$10,886,000 and HK$13,130,000
respectively while the expenditures incurred in exploration
activities were HK$Nil.

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Our Group’s financial condition, results of operations, and
business prospects may be affected by a number of risks and
uncertainties directly or indirectly pertaining to our Group’s
businesses. The followings are the key risks and uncertainties
identified by our Group. There may be other risks and
uncertainties in addition to those shown below which are not
known to our Group or which may not be material now but
could turn out to be material in the future.

Market risks

Market risk is the risk that deteriorates profitability or affects
ability to meet business objectives arising from the movement
in market demand, product prices, foreign exchange rates,
and interest rates. The management of our Group keeps
continually monitoring these exposures closely to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner against such risks.
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Exchange rate risk

The Group mainly operates in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”) and Hong Kong and is exposed to
foreign exchange risk arising from primarily Renminbi, HKS,
Singapore dollars, US$ and Australian dollars. Foreign
exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions,
recognised assets and liabilities and net investments in
foreign operations. The Group does not presently hedge
the foreign exchange risks. The Group periodically reviews
current assets and liabilities held in currencies other than HK$
to evaluate its foreign exchange risk exposure and consider
the usage of hedging instruments when necessary.

Interest rate risk

For interest-sensitive products and investments, our Group
analyses its interest rate exposure on a dynamic basis and
considers managing this risk in a cost-effective manner
through variety of means when appropriate.

Credit risk

The Group has always been aware of the credit risk exposure
of our customers. The Group strictly followed the “client
account management procedures” established in 2004.
The procedures required and ensured that all clients were
regularly assessed and be kept track of their accounts based
on their transaction records and credit history. The Group
specified and assigned to each customer, as according to
their operation and credit status, a series of credit measures
such as credit ratio, credit period, credit rating, credit terms
and guarantee. The client account management procedures
were effective to control the credit risk of the Group.
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Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate
or failed internal processes, people and systems or from
external events. Responsibility for managing operational risks
basically rests with functional departments of the Group
and its subsidiaries. Key functions of the Group is to guide
their standard operating procedures, limits of authority
and reporting framework. Our management will assess key
operational exposures and impacts brought by our business
development regularly, implement relevant measures and
improve the internal control so that risk can be addressed
and mitigated on a timely and effective manner.

Investment risk

Investment risk can be defined as the likelihood of extension
of its return period relative to the expected return or
occurrence of losses on any particular investment attributable
to changes of external factors. The Group is well aware of
the importance of exploring various business opportunities
and territories on a continual basis to the development of
our businesses, which shall be implemented as the top
agenda of the year. Key concern of investment projects will
be balancing risk and return across different investments,
and thus risk assessment is a core aspect of the investment
decision-making process. Proper investment assessment
and due diligence procedures have been set up and detailed
analysis will be made before approving investments. Regular
updates on the progress of the investments of our Group
would be submitted to the Board.
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Manpower and retention risk

Manpower risk means huge demand for talents because
of the Group’s rapid business development while at the
same time facing severe competition over specialists from
the industry and turnover of manpower. Our Group may
face the risk of not being able to recruit and retain key
personnel and talents with appropriate and required skills,
experience and competence to cope with the expansion of
business which would meet the business objectives of our
Group. Our Group will conduct a thorough analysis over
its remuneration system, as well as incentive mechanism
and optimise the compensation structure so as to ensure
remuneration packages can align reasonably with market
standard and maintain its competitiveness. Meanwhile,
recruitment channels are broadened and the talent pool
of senior management are strengthened, so as to further
enhance the promotion opportunities and career path of
employees. Systematic staff training are also being further
enhanced to increase the overall effectiveness of training and
the dissemination of good corporate cultures.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

Environmental policies and performance mainly means
increasing attention of PRC government paid to environmental
rules and policies and more strict regulatory requirements. As
subsidiaries and newly acquired enterprises have been put
into operation for a long while and may lag behind certain
environmental and duty requirements promulgated by PRC
government. The Group monitors impact on our business
development closely arising from changes in environmental
policy and external factors. Acting in an environmentally
responsible manner and performing social responsibilities, the
Group is committed to improving and maintaining the long
term sustainability of the communities in which it operates.
The Group endeavours to comply with laws and regulations
regarding environmental protection and adopt effective
measures to achieve efficient use of resources, energy saving
and waste reduction. Green initiatives and measures have
been adopted in daily operation of the Group. Such initiatives
include recycling of resources, energy saving measures and
water saving practices.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the
Company’s subsidiaries in mainland China while the Company
is listed on the Stock Exchange. The Group’s operations
accordingly shall comply with relevant laws and regulations
in mainland China and Hong Kong. During the year ended
31 December 2021 and up to the date of this report, to the
best of our knowledge, the Group has complied with all the
relevant laws and regulations in mainland China and Hong
Kong.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES AND KEY
STAKEHOLDERS

The number of employees of the Group was approximately
1,150 (2020: approximately 1,670) as at 31 December 2021.
The remuneration of employees was determined by the Group
with reference to their performance, work experience and
current market conditions. Employee benefits include medical
insurance, defined provident fund scheme, discretionary
bonus and employee share option scheme. There has been
no labour dispute or significant change in the number of
employees that affect the normal operations of the Group.
The Directors believe that the Group maintains admirable
relations with its employees.

Our Group understands that it is important to maintain good
relationship with business partners, shareholders, investors
and banks to achieve its long-term goals. To keep up with
our key stakeholders closely, the Group has formulated
corresponding scheme about investor relationship, and also
holds tailored activities for various stakeholders from time
to time, such as annual/ extraordinary general meetings,
on-site visits, seminars and road-shows. Accordingly, our
senior management have kept good communication, prompt
exchange of ideas and sharing of business latest update
about development of the Group with them when appropriate.
During the Year, there was no material dispute between our
Group and its business partners or banks.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

CHI Wen Fu, aged 59, Chairman of the Group who is
responsible for overall strategic planning and key operating
decisions. Mr. Chi started his law firm in Fuzhou in 1995, in
which he was the Managing Partner. Prior to that, Mr. Chi
joined Fuzhou Justice Bureau Commerce Law Office after
qualifying as a lawyer in the PRC in 1989. In early 1998,
Mr. Chi originated an initial research on organic agricultural
production and funded a R&D project on microbial compound
fertilisers. Mr. Chi is a graduate of Chemical Analysis and
Law. Mr. Chi established the Group in 2000.

CHI Jing Chao, aged 39, Chief Corporate Affairs Officer
of the Group who is responsible for the overall corporate
activities. Mr. Chi has 10 years of experience in corporate
affairs. Mr. Chi is a graduate of Financial and Administrative
Management. Mr. Chi has joined the Group since August
2004. Mr. Chi was also an executive director of REMT until
31 July 2021.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

GUO Mengyong, aged 63, is a Deputy General Manager
of Fujian Changsheng Wireless Technology Development
Company Limited. He was responsible for electronic
engineering technical management. Fujian Changsheng
Wireless Technology Development Company Limited is
principally engaged in production of electronic products and
communication devices. Mr. Guo joined Fuzhou Capacitors
Factory as a Technician in 1976. From 1993 onwards,
Mr. Guo worked at Fuzhou Meters Group Company as
an Engineer and later promoted to the Deputy Factory
Manager in 1996, in charging of technical quality control. In
2000, Mr. Guo joined Fujian Wireless Group Company as
Deputy General Manager and was responsible for quality
management. He is a graduate of Industrial Enterprise
Management. Mr. Guo has joined the Group since February
2011.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

CHEUNG Sound Poon, aged 61, is currently an
independent non-executive director of Rare Earth.
Mr. Cheung is currently a senior audit manager at Chui &
Kwok (CPA). He was an audit senior at Gary W.K. Yam &
Co. (CPA). Mr. Cheung has over 40 years of experience
in accounting and auditing. He was an independent
non-executive director and the chairman of audit committee
of the board of the Company between February 2004 and
May 2007.

SHENG Hong, aged 59, Director of SWIFTOWN
Development Limited and General Manager of SWIFTOWN
(Shanghai) Trading Limited. The SWIFTOWN Group is
principally engaged in design and sales of metallic products.
Mr. Sheng has over 20 years of experience in management
of corporation and investment. He was employed by China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited from 1986 to
1996. Mr. Sheng holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Engineering
Mechanics from Tongji University, Shanghai.

Shen Yi Min, aged 58. a qualified lawyer to practise
securities laws in the PRC since July 1996. Mr. Shen
graduated from Fudan University in the PRC with a major in
Economics Law in 1992. Mr. Shen was a partner of Fujian Zhi
Li Law Office* ({8 @ = I8 £ 80 = 75 F7) and the former principal
of Fujian Fuzhou Foreign Economics Law Office* (t8 &4
BN T EIME B EMERFT) in the PRC. Mr. Shen was an
independent non-executive Director and a member of audit
committee of the Board of the Company from May 2003 to
September 2008.

COMPANY SECRETARY

LUK Sai Wai, Simon, aged 58, Chief Financial Officer and
Company Secretary of the Group. Mr. Luk is responsible for
financial, management accounting and secretarial affairs of
the Group. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Luk was appointed
as Financial Controller for several listed companies in Hong
Kong and was experienced in finance and management.
Mr. Luk holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Business Administration
from Hong Kong Baptist University and a Master’s Degree in
Business Administration from University of Strathclyde. He is
a fellow member of The Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales, an associate member of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and a member of
Society of Registered Financial Planners, Hong Kong. Mr. Luk
has joined the Group since May 2010.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

HU Jie, aged 52, Production Director of the Group,
is responsible for fertiliser production and operation
management of the Group. Mr. Hu studied in mechatronics,
and has over 20 years of experience in the fertilizer industries.
He has served in various positions, such as the Head of
fertiliser factory, the General Manager of the production
technology department, the Head of the main chemical
factory and the General Manager of the purchasing and
branding department. Mr. Hu has joined the Group since
2007.

ZHU Guocai, aged 48, Sales Director of the Group, is
responsible for sales management in fertiliser business of the
Group. Mr. Zhu graduated from Jilin Agricultural University,
and has over 20 years of experience in the agricultural
management and marketing of fertiliser. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. Zhu served as Regional Director and Deputy
General Manager of sales in Shandong Hongri Chemical Joint
Stock Company Limited. Mr. Zhu joined Shandong Hongri in
2000.

WANG Yongxiang, aged 53, is responsible for the ore
production and operation management of the Group.
Mr. Wang majored in planning and surveying of mining
industry with over 20 years of experience in agricultural
fertilisers production and mining. Prior to joining the Group,
he was the Production Technician and Engineer at Donghai
serpentine mine in Jiangsu Province, and the Head of Sulfuric
Acid Factory. Mr. Wang has joined the Group since 2007.

LEE Man Ching, aged 42, Assistant to Chairman of the
Group. Ms. Lee has over 10 years of experience in human
resources and administrative management. Ms. Lee holds a
Bachelor’s Degree in Accountancy and a Master’'s Degree
in Corporate Governance from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. She is a fellow member of Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants, and an associate member
of Hong Kong Institute of Company Secretaries. Ms. Lee has
joined the Group since August 2004.



ARABAOREZEBREREFEKTIHEEERH
REPE-EFSHE RYLEXERTER
HEEERAEERKREEEDL  TAK/KAT
ZERMBRETERIFER

f

ERELIEH

of

Al

R2021F 2% ARAEETHIMES LW
HBI(T Em R A M 8x14Pr 8 2 ¥ EA<F A
(TEEEARTA REXEARSE 2 TRIEX -
WA T RBEE R R EEEE B IE BRI

(@) MBIETFRIMENXFEA2. G £/ EITRAEE
(TR 2 ABEDH » TEHERF—
AFBE - AT ERARARE 2 R ARE
T ERERITHRARz2ACLELSF A
BARFIR BN T EE MITHAEE ] —F -

(o) WREBETFAKRIXFEEI2M6 EFFEHEAL
FRRBFAE - mNESE T FEN2021
FOHA30H AR HZ - B BALFERZ
BRITZBRRAFREG ARBZHATE
AU REEECHE LRBRRBEFRKEIN
Bl Z B R AR e

F 2021 ANNUAL REPORT

IEXREGHRS
Corporate Governance Report

The Company is committed to achieve and maintain high
standards of corporate governance and business integrity.
The Board believes that good corporate governance will
not only improve management accountability and investors
confidence, but will lay a good foundation for the long-term
development of the Company.

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

Throughout the year of 2021, the Company has complied with
the code provision as set out in the Corporate Governance
Code (the “CG Code”) and Corporate Governance Report
under Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”)
except for the following deviations as explained below with
considered reasons:

(@)  Under code provision A.2.1, the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer (the “CEO”) should be separated
and should not be performed by the same individual.
However, there is no separation between the roles
of chairman and CEO under the current corporate
structure of the Company, details of which have been
disclosed in the paragraph headed “Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer” below.

(b)  Under the code provision E.1.2, the chairman of the
Board should attend the annual general meeting. The
chairman of the Board was unable to attend the annual
general meeting held on 30 June 2021 as he was
obliged to be away for a business trip on that date.
Mr. Shum Sai Chit, executive Director of the Company,
attended the said annual general meeting to answer
questions from shareholders.

41



42

G REEERER AT Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited

EFREIBIRS
Corporate Governance Report

RIS A ([R5 E]) B R2021F6 A30
HEAARBIBUIENTES BTEZEE
eXERFHNEZEEKE - RESLERME
% ARRBEMBENIENITE S HREX
ZEEKE  BHitDRIRERFE EmHEA
EAOMNKEI2VGEHELEPEBE =4
VN TESHERZEENECEXK .

RyE E R BIES.1143.231% - " A AIZE
RAEFTEREE-—BEARZAEME L
IENTESRHEEKENAEZEZER -
BEXARADHZEZAS HEE - A2 7
RETEHEFHEADECEEARE - KNAF
E MR ATEL B - iR ATE 12021
F11A25HAARR R L E R - 15 ERE
ERZE2021F12A31H « LBREEER
2022F1A1HEEEZT AR RARMNIBILIE
WITESE ZEE2ERZEEKERES
CHHNEZESKE  NEFHTHR -

Mr. Lau Chi Kit (“Mr. Lau”) had retired as an
independent non-executive director, a member of audit
committee and a member of remuneration committee of
the Company on 30 June 2021. Following the retirement
of Mr. Lau, the Company has two independent
non-executive directors and audit committee members,
which therefore fell below the minimum requirements of
three under Rules 3.10(1) and 3.21 of the Listing Rules
respectively.

Pursuant to Rule 3.11 and 3.23 of the Listing Rules,
the Company should appoint additional independent
non-executive Directors and appropriate members to
the Audit Committee within three months after failing to
meet the requirements. Despite from the best effort by
the Company, the Company failed to identify suitable
candidate within the time requirement. The Company
has applied to the Stock Exchange for, and the Stock
Exchange has on 25 November 2021 granted to the
Company, a waiver to extend the grace period to 31
December 2021. Mr. Shen Yi Min has been appointed
as an independent non-executive director, a member
of audit committee of the board and a member of
remuneration committee of the board of the Company
on 1 January 2022 to fill the vacancy.
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THE BOARD

The Group is governed by the Board which is responsible for
strategic leadership and overall supervision of the Group. The
Board exercises a number of authorities which include:

- Formulating the Group’s overall strategies

- Monitoring and controlling operational and financial
performance

- Formulating strategies for risk management

- Reviewing effectiveness of internal control system

- Approving financial results and public announcements

- Approving annual operating budgets

- Approving major acquisitions or disposals and capital
projects

- Reviewing and approving major investments and
material borrowings

- Setting dividend policy

- Approving appointment of Directors

- Setting the Group’s remuneration policies

The Board is also responsible for performing the functions set
out in code provision D.3.1. The Board will meet to develop,
review and monitor the Company’s corporate governance
policies and practices, to review and monitor training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, to review and monitor the Company’s policies
and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, to develop, review and monitor the code of
conduct and compliance manual applicable to employees and
Directors and to review the compliance of the Company with
the CG Code and the disclosure in the corporate governance
report.

During the year of 2021, in relation to the corporate
governance functions, the Board has reviewed the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and the regulatory
and statutory requirements, and the disclosure in the
corporate governance report.

During 2021, the Chairman had met the non-executive
Director and the independent non-executive Directors
respectively and individually without the presence of other
executive Directors.
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BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board comprises 6 Directors in which 2 are executive
Directors; 1 is non-executive Director and 3 are independent
non-executive Directors. The number of independent
non-executive Directors constitutes more than one-third of
the Board. The composition of the Board as at the date of
this report and their profiles are set out on page 38 and page
39 of the annual report respectively.

The Board delegates powers to executive Directors for the
day-to-day management of the Group and the implementation
of major strategies and initiatives adopted by the Board
whereas executive Directors should provide such explanations
and information to the Board in a timely manner to enable the
Board to monitor the performance of management.

Non-executive Director brings in valuable expertise and
experience to the Company and serves important functions
as well as provides strategic advices to the management.

Independent non-executive Directors ensure that the Board
is accountable for the interest of all shareholders and
handles matters in an objective manner. The 3 independent
non-executive Directors have brought a wide spectrum of
valuable business experience, knowledge and professionalism
to the Board for efficient and effective delivery of its
functions. The Board has received from each independent
non-executive Director an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Board considers all of the independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.

Mr. Chi Wen Fu and Mr. Chi Jing Chao have a family
relationship of uncle and nephew. Mr. Guo Mengyong is a
brother-in-law of Mr. Chi Wen Fu. Save as disclosed, there is
no other relationship among members of the Board.

Upon reviewing (i) the directorships and major commitments
of each Director; and (i) the attendance rate of each Director
at the meetings of the Board and its committees, the Board
is satisfied that all Directors have spent sufficient time in
performing their responsibilities during 2021.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in
respect of legal action against Directors.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Upon the resignation of Mr. Shum Sai Chit as Chief Executive
Officer on 30 July 2021, Mr. Chi Wen Fu, founder of the
Group, the chairman and an executive Director, has been
appointed as the CEO of the Company.

This structure does not comply with code provision A.2.1.
However, the Board is of the view that it is in the best
interests of the Group to adopt a single leadership structure,
as Mr. Chi possesses extensive experience and knowledge
in the PRC market and he is playing a significant role in
establishing strategic decisions and overall management of
the Group. It enables the Company to make and implement
decisions promptly and efficiently. Further, it is difficult for
the Board to find a candidate with suitable qualification
and expertise in the market to fill the position of CEO at
this stage of debts restructuring. With the single leadership
structure, sufficient safeguards are established to ensure the
management is accountable to the Board. The Chairman/
CEO ensures Board meetings are held regularly and when
necessary. The Chairman/ CEO ensures that Board members
are provided with complete, adequate, accurate and timely
information on a regular basis to enable them to be fully
cognizant of the affairs of the Group. The Chairman/CEO
ensures all Directors have unrestricted access to document
or information kept by the Group and professional advice
when necessary.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION

Any potential new Directors, being individuals who
are suitably qualified and expected to make a positive
contribution to the performance of the Board, will be identified
by the existing Directors and the Nomination Committee and
submitted to the Board for approval.

In accordance with the articles of association of the
Company, at each annual general meeting of the Company,
one-third of the Directors shall retire from office by rotation
and every Director shall be subject to retirement at least once
every 3 years. Mr. Guo Mengyong and Mr. Cheung Sound
Poon shall retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company, but being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election.

If an independent non-executive Director serves more than 9
years, his further appointment will be subject to a separate
resolution to be approved by shareholders.
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Mr. Shen Yi Min, being appointed by the Board after the
preceding general meeting of the Company, shall also retire
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company,
but being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Each of the non-executive Director and the independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Guo Mengyong,
Mr. Cheung Sound Poon, Mr. Sheng Hong and Mr. Shen
Yi Min, has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for a fixed term of 2 years commencing from 1
April 2021 and 1 January 2022 respectively, subject to the
provisions of retirement and rotation of Directors under the
articles of association of the Company and save that either
such Director or the Company may terminate the appointment
by giving at least 3 months’ prior written notice. Annual
emoluments payable to independent non-executive Directors
and non-executive Director will be reviewed according to their
estimated time to be spent on the Company’s matters and
their working experience with the Company.

All existing executive Directors are entitled to a fixed
remuneration per annum respectively. In addition, each
executive Director is also entitled to a discretionary
management bonus calculated as a percentage of the
audited consolidated net profit of the Group attributable to
the owners of the Company (after tax and non-controlling
interests and the payment of such management bonuses
but before extraordinary and exceptional items), which
percentage shall be determined by the Board provided that
the aggregate amount of the bonuses payable to all executive
Directors in respect of each financial year of the Company
shall not exceed 5% of such net profit. The remuneration of
each executive Director is subject to the annual review of the
Board with reference to his/her contribution in terms of time,
effort and his/her expertise.

Details of remuneration paid to each of the Directors and
senior management during the year are disclosed in Note 13
to the financial statements.

All Directors are entitled to be reimbursed for reasonable
expenses incurred during the performance of their duties to
the Company and are eligible for share options under the
share option scheme of the Company.

BOARD PROCESSES

The Board is accountable to the shareholders and leads
the Group in an ethical, responsible and effective manner.
The Board meets on a regular basis and arranges ad-hoc
meetings for any specific matters that may arise.
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EEeN20IFEHEHsNEE - TREAMER] The Board met 5 times in 2021. The attendance of individual
TEEHEFEEe e ZESe#EMNIREAE Directors at Board meetings, committee meetings and
2 ERER general meetings is set out in the following table:
R/ BTzes
Attended/held
EZ® EnZE® RAZE®  FHZEe
-F -f g3 -f EN-
Audit  Nomination Remuneration
Board Committee = Committee =~ Committee General
Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings
BTE=S Executive Directors
WX E(LE) Chi Wen Fu (Chairman) 5/5 - il - 0/1
g (M) Shum Sai Chit (note 1) 3/3 - - 11 1
T Chi Jing Chao 5/5 - - - 0/1
FHTES Non-Executive Director
PEE Guo Mengyong 5/5 - - - 0
BUFHTES Independent Non-Executive
Directors
REXR Cheung Sound Poon 5/5 5/5 11 1 il
s Sheng Hong 5/5 5/5 1 11 11
284 (sk2) Lau Chi Kit (note 2) 2/2 2/2 - 11 1/1
BsE - notes:

1. BR202147 A30H BHE

2. ER202156 A30H R

ZREMENEFEXHRIRNEFTEXAEREES
FARMKXTERES  BHETHRISRERS
BH -ZEF@AREFETA LURERRS
AINEAARBRRFLRE - HWEBRRAE
EREZSLERERRBERZEZETERN
H2ER FRFERUNEERTEZEESHRZ
FAMIFARAETMRERZ TR

1. Resigned on 30 July 2021

2. Retired on 30 June 2021

Agendas and the accompanying board papers are circulated
in full to all Directors at least 3 days before the Board or
committee meeting. Board decisions will then be resolved

either by vote at Board meetings or by written resolutions. If a

substantial shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest
in a matter to be considered by the Board which the Board
has determined to be material, the matter will be dealt with
by a physical Board meeting rather than a written resolution.
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Minutes of the Board meetings and meetings of the Board
committees taken by the company secretary of the Company
and, together with any supporting papers, are available for
inspection to all Directors. The minutes record the matters
discussed by the Board or its committees, the decisions
made and any concerns or dissenting views raised by the
Directors.

If a Director has a conflict of interests in relation to a
transaction or proposal to be considered by the Board, such
Director is required to declare his/her interest and abstain
from voting. Such matter shall be considered at a Board
meeting by Directors who have no material interest in the
transaction or proposal.

DIRECTORS’ INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

On appointment to the Board, each Director would receive
an induction package covering the Group’s business and
the statutory and regulatory obligations of a director of a
listed company. The Group also regularly updates Directors
on the latest development regarding the Listing Rules and
other applicable legal and regulatory requirements regarding
subjects necessary for performing their duties. In addition,
the Company has been encouraging and offering to pay
for Directors to attend seminars on the latest development
of applicable laws, rules and regulations so that they can
continuously update and further improve their relevant
knowledge and skills.
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as follows:

Executive Directors
Chi Wen Fu

Shum Sai Chit (note 1)
Chi Jing Chao

Non-Executive Director
Guo Mengyong

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Cheung Sound Poon

Sheng Hong

Lau Chi Kit (note 2)

According to the records provided by the Directors, the

Directors during the period

BESERR
IR
Type of
continuous
professional
development
training " ®

W

A/B

G

2202147 A30H BT

B 52021F6 A30R R

EIEE

A RS FIRE

FHELEME EORARA e
ERE RN RES S BRI ERN

notes:

1. Resigned on 30 July 2021

2. Retired on 30 June 2021

3. Training types:

A: Attending seminar(s) or training session(s)
B: FERE - TWEhABAATEBRE B: Reading newspapers, journals and updates relating

to the Company’s business or directors’ duties and
responsibilities, the latest development of the Listing

Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements etc.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility for
implementing business strategies and management of the
daily operations of the Group to the senior management who
is required to report back to the Board. Functions reserved to
the Board and the management are reviewed periodically. The
Board and each individual Director is empowered to access
any Company’s information from senior management and
the company secretary at all times. The Directors are kept
informed on a timely basis of major changes that may affect
the Group’s businesses, including amendments on relevant
rules and regulations. During the year, Directors are provided
with monthly updates on the Company’s performance,
position and prospects to enable the Board as a whole and
each Director to discharge their duties. Directors are allowed
to seek independent professional advice in performing their
duties at the Company’s expense, but no request was made
by any Director for such independent professional advice in
2021.

The Board monitors and reviews performance of the
management based on several key performance indicators
such as financial figures, investor relations, corporate
governance and internal control. The principal measures
include review of management accounts, review of internal or
external auditor reports and feedbacks from stakeholders.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

During the year, the Board has implemented a board diversity
policy which has been effective since 1 September 20183.
The Company seeks to achieve board diversity through
the consideration of a number of factors, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. All Board appointments will be based
on meritocracy and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.
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Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural background and ethnicity, in addition to educational
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. The ultimate decision will be based on merit
and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises 6 Directors.
Among which, one of them is a non-executive Director and
three of them are independent non-executive Directors. The
Directors are of diverse educational background and possess
a wide spectrum of professional qualifications and business
experience. The Board is of significant diversity, whether
considered in terms of gender, professional and educational
background and skills.

CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules (“Model Code”) as the code
of conduct of the Company regarding Directors’ securities
transactions. The Company made specific enquiries to all
Directors and all Directors have confirmed in writing that they
have complied with the required standards set out in the
Model Code during the year.

BOARD’S COMMITTEES

To assist in the execution of its responsibilities, the Board
has established audit committee (the “Audit Committee”),
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”),
and nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”).
These committees function within clearly defined terms
of reference. Independent non-executive Directors play
a significant role in these committees to ensure that
independent and objective views are taken.

The terms of reference of these committees are available on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

Upon the retirement of Mr. Lau Chi Kit on 30 June 2021,
the Audit Committee consists of Mr. Cheung Sound Poon
(chairman of the Audit Committee) and Mr. Sheng Hong for
the reporting period, who are both independent non-executive
Directors. Mr. Shen Yi Min was appointed as independent
non-executive Director on 1 January 2022 and also joined
the Audit Committee as a member. All committee members
possess appropriate qualifications such as accounting and
financial management.

The Audit Committee met 5 times in 2021 to review with
the senior management and external auditors the Group’s
significant internal controls and financial matters as set out in
the Audit Committee’s terms of reference. The functions of
the Audit Committee include the following matters:

- Reviewing the Group’s financial statements with
recommendation to the Board for approval

- Reviewing the Group’s compliance of the regulatory and
statutory requirements

- Reviewing the Group’s internal control and risk
management

- Reviewing significant accounting and audit issues

- Reviewing the Group’s connected transactions

- Overseeing and managing the relationship with external
auditors

The Audit Committee has power to conduct investigations
into any matter within the scope of responsibility of the
Audit Committee. The Audit Committee is authorised to
obtain independent professional advice if it deems necessary
for discharging its responsibilities. The Audit Committee
has obtained a written confirmation from the auditors on
their independence and objectivity as required under the
Section 290 (revised) of the Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants issued by Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants prior to the commencement of the audit
of the Company’s financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2021.
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During the year, the Audit Committee has carried out the
above functions in the respective Audit Committee meetings
and also has been satisfied with the review of the audit
scope, process, effectiveness and independence of the
auditors.

In the consolidated financial statements of the Company
and its subsidiaries (together as the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2021, the Company’s auditors issued
disclaimer of opinion on the material uncertainties relating
to the going concern basis (“Disclaimer of Opinion”), in
which they were unable to obtain sufficient audit evidence
to conclude on the basis of the application of the going
concern basis due to the uncertainty on the successful
implementation of the debt restructuring of the Company.
The Audit Committee has communicated with the Auditors
regarding the basis of the Disclaimer of Opinion. Other than
the going concern basis, in all other aspect, in the opinion
of the Auditors, the consolidated financial statements have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The Audit Committee has reviewed and recommended to
the Board for approval of the interim and annual financial
statements for 2021. There was no disagreement between
the Board and the Audit Committee on the re-appointment of
the auditors.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises 4
members, namely Mr. Cheung Sound Poon (chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and independent non-executive
Director), Mr. Chi Jing Chao (executive Director), Mr. Sheng
Hong (independent non-executive Director) and Mr. Shen Yi
Min (independent non-executive Director as appointed on 1
January 2022.).

The functions of the Remuneration Committee are to
formulate transparent procedures for setting remuneration
policies and packages for Directors and the senior
management of the Group. Its duties include:

- Reviewing and recommending to the Board the
remuneration packages of individual executive and
non-executive Directors and the senior management of
the Group

- Reviewing the administration of the share option
scheme of the Company

- Reviewing the appropriateness of compensation for
Directors and the senior management of the Group

No Director is involved in determining his/her own
remuneration. The Remuneration Committee met once in
2021 to review the existing remuneration policies of the
Directors and senior management.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee currently comprises 3 members,
namely, Mr. Chi Wen Fu (chairman of the Nomination
Committee and executive Director), Mr. Cheung Sound Poon
(independent non-executive Director) and Mr. Sheng Hong
(independent non-executive Director).

lts duties include:

- Reviewing the structure, size and composition of the
Board

- Recommending any change to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategies

- Identifying capable and qualified individuals to become
Board members

- Assessing independence of independent non-executive
Directors

- Making recommendation on appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors

- developing and maintaining a policy for the nomination
of Board members

- developing and maintaining a board diversity policy and
to ensure its effectiveness

- monitoring the implementation of the Board diversity
policy and to review and to make recommendations on
any revisions of such policy

The Nomination Committee met once in 2021 for reviewing
the structure, size and composition of the Board, making
recommendation to the Board regarding change of roles
of board members and re-appointment of retiring Directors
at the forthcoming annual general meeting, assessing the
independence of independent non-executive Directors.

In carrying out the responsibility for identifying suitably
qualified candidates to become members of the Board, the
Nomination Committee will give adequate consideration to
the board diversity policy.
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AUDITORS' REMUNERATION

The Company had appointed HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
Limited as the independent auditors of the Group. Apart
from audit services, HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited also
provided non-audit services during the year. For the year
of 2021, the provisions of non-audit services mainly include
professional services for professional review.

The following principles are considered when determining the
appointment of the auditors in non-audit services:

- No management decision made by the auditors
- Independence of the auditors not to be impaired
- Quality of service

- Cost of service

The Board was authorised in the annual general meeting to
determine the remuneration of the independent auditors.

The remuneration paid/payable by the Group to the
independent auditors for the year of 2021 are as follows:

FERT
HK$’000

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Audit and audit related services 2,080

AFEEZERBEMBEFEAMEEABERIAE
T BEHERASRTZRRAFAE LE
meBEREZEGEREFSEE  NAKETT
ZBREAFAE LBERZEBRGSMELA
BRRABRARR ZZEEAD

The accounts for the year were audited by HLB Hodgson
Impey Cheng Limited whose term of office will expire upon
the forthcoming annual general meeting. The Audit Committee
has recommended to the Board that HLB Hodgson Impey
Cheng Limited be re-appointed as the auditors of the
Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF
DIRECTORS AND AUDITORS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for
preparation of the financial statements for each financial
period, which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Company and its subsidiaries and in compliance with
the requirements of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622
of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Listing Rules.

The auditors acknowledge their responsibilities in the
auditors’ report as set out on pages 76 to 80 of the annual
report.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to establish,
maintain and review the effectiveness of the Group’s system
of internal controls and risk management with a view to
ensuring that shareholders’ investments and the Group’s
assets are safeguarded. Such system is designated to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss. This responsibility is primarily fulfilled on its behalf by
the Audit Committee. In the year under review, the Audit
Committee, as delegated by the Board, has reviewed the
effectiveness of the internal control systems of the Group,
covering all material controls, including financial, operational
and compliance controls and risk management functions.

The foundation of a strong system of internal control is a
solid control environment. This is dependent on the following
components:

- Business ethics and culture of the organisation;
- Quality and competence of its personnel;

- Direction provided by the Board; and

- Effectiveness of the management
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RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group improves its business and operational activities by
identifying the areas of significant business risks via a regular
review and taking appropriate measures to control and
mitigate these risks. The management of the Group reviews
all significant control policies and procedures and highlights
all significant matters to the Board and Audit Committee.

The implementation of risk management of the Group was
assisted by the Group’s internal audit department so that the
Group could ensure new and emerging risks relevant to the
Group’s operation are promptly identified by management,
assess the adequacy of action plans to manage these
risks and monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of the
action plans. These are on-going processes and our Audit
Committee reviews the Group’s risk management systems
periodically.

Audit committee reported to the Board the implementation
of the Group’s risk management and internal control policy
which, among other things, included the determination of
risk factors, evaluation of risk level the Group could endure
and effectiveness of risk management measures. Based on
the reports from the Group’s internal control department and
the Audit Committee, the Board considers the Group’s risk
management and internal control system is adequate and
effective and the Group has complied with the provisions on
risk management and internal controls as set out in the CG
code.
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PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
FOR HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF
INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group complies with requirements of Securities and
Futures Ordinance (“SFQO”) and the Listing Rules. The
Group discloses inside information to the public as soon
as reasonably practicable unless the information falls within
any of the safe harbours as provided in the SFO. Before
the information is fully disclosed to the public, the Group
ensures the information is kept strictly confidential. If the
Group believes that the necessary degree of confidentiality
cannot be maintained or that confidentiality may have
been breached, the Group would immediately disclose the
information to the public. The Group is committed to ensure
that information contained in announcements or circulars
is not false or misleading as to a material fact, or false or
misleading through the omission of a material fact in view of
presenting information in a clear and balanced way, which
requires equal disclosure of both positive and negative facts.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company recognises the importance of open
communication and fair disclosure. It is the Company’s policy
to ensure that all shareholders are equally informed of all
major corporate developments.

All shareholders have proper notice of any general meeting
of the Company at which the Directors and the committees’
members are available to give explanation on any query
raised by the shareholders. Major information of the Company
could be obtained from the Company’s website or financial
reports and circulars sent to the shareholders. Any enquiries
by the shareholders requiring the Board’s attention can also
be sent in writing to the Investor Relations Manager of the
Company whose contact details are set out in the paragraph
headed “Shareholders’ Rights — (c) Right to Put Enquiries to
the Board” below.

59



60

G REEERER AT Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited

EFREIBIRS
Corporate Governance Report

RARFIRRERREG LIRENRBRBARET
ANETRR EASEIEAUBEEANRA
HERE  BHEEERREFRXITREENR
BRUABFIARR - ARABRBREERK
SLARRBERERAEF YOERRE
AREEFNBE RERRERBE LETR
AFTEAN T AT E R B R AR B L -

EARAEEBETHABN B9 BRTK
ABTREEATERTHMEN & REH - L0
HBIEEERAFHBLETTE  RAQTW
X5 BEREBREFEABE AATEE
BHEBREHADDS -

B SRAEF
(a) BHRRBHNXEZ T

REBEARBZEBERMA - A — (I
A ERFRERABMBFAETIRARAH
REAR (MEEMNRARABRBRRANE L&
Btz HWRRERAERAALAE
EERNANERHERER  BRES
SAMBRENRE  NREFHERS
ERAMEMER: AZRERERNIELZE
SRIg2ME AR ETT -

Resolutions put to vote at the general meetings of the
Company shall be decided on a poll, save that the chairman
of the meeting may in good faith allow a resolution which
relates purely to a procedural or administrative matter to be
voted by a show of hands. Procedures for conducting a poll
will be explained to the shareholders at each general meeting
and questions from shareholders regarding the voting
procedures will be answered. The poll results will be posted
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company
respectively in the manner prescribed under the Listing Rules.

As part of a regular program of investor relations, senior
executives may hold briefings or road shows after the
results announcement and attend conferences with
institutional investors and analysts to engage in two-way
communications on the Company’s performance, objectives
and developments. Company visits can be arranged by the
Company upon specific request.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

(a) Right to Convene Extraordinary General

Meeting

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company,
any one or more members holding at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all
times have the right, by written requisition to the Board
or the company secretary of the Company, to require
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within
2 months after the deposit of such requisition.
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The written requisition must state the purposes of the
meeting, signed by the requisitionist(s) and deposit it to
the Board or the company secretary of the Company
at the Company’s head office and principal place of
business in Hong Kong at 16th Floor, Tower 5, The
Gateway, Harbour City, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon,
Hong Kong, and such request may consist of several
documents in like form, each signed by one or more of
the requisitionist(s).

The request will be verified with the Company’s branch
share registrar in Hong Kong and upon the confirmation
of the branch share registrar that the request is in order,
the company secretary of the Company will ask the
Board to convene an extraordinary general meeting by
serving sufficient notice in accordance with all relevant
statutory and regulatory requirements to all registered
members. On the contrary, if the request is verified as
not in order, the requisitionist(s) will be advised of this
outcome and accordingly, an extraordinary general
meeting will not be convened as requested.

If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s)
himself/themselves may do so in the same manner, and
all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Right to Put Forward Proposals at General
Meetings

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to
propose new resolutions at general meetings under
the Cayman Islands Companies Law or the articles of
association of the Company. Shareholders who wish
to propose a resolution may request the Company to
convene an extraordinary general meeting following the
procedures set out in the preceding paragraph.

As regard the procedures for proposing a person for
election as a Director, please refer to the procedures
made available on the website of the Company at
www.centurysunshine.com.hk.
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(c) Right to Put Enquiries to the Board
Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries
and concerns to the Board in writing for the attention
of Investor Relations Director of the Company whose
contact details are as follows:

16th Floor

Tower 5, The Gateway

Harbour City

Tsim Sha Tsui

Kowloon

Hong Kong

Fax: (852) 2802 2697

Email: ir@centurysunshine.com.hk

The Investor Relations Director of the Company shall
forward the shareholders’ enquiries and concerns to
the Board and/or relevant committees of the Board to
answer the shareholders’ questions where appropriate.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Luk Sai Wai, Simon is an employee of the Company
and has been appointed as the company secretary of the
Company with effect from 1 May 2010. The biographical
details of Mr. Luk are set out in the section headed “Directors
and Senior Management Profile”.

According to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Mr. Luk has
taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
during the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There are no changes in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

At the Company’s last annual general meeting held on 30
June 2021, all the resolutions relating to the adoption of
financial statements, re-election of Directors, reappointment
of auditors and grant of general mandates to issue and
repurchase shares have been duly passed. The forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company is scheduled to be
held on 30 June 2022 or any other dates as specified in
further notice of annual general meeting to be published on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange later.
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The Directors have pleasure in submitting their report
together with the audited financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2021, which are set out on
pages 81 to 219.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL
ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The activities and other particulars of its principal subsidiaries
are shown under Note 23 to the financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance by operating
segments is set out in Note 8 to the financial statements.
During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, the
Group mainly operated in the PRC and the Group’s revenue
are mainly derived from the PRC and non-current assets of
the Group are mainly located in the PRC as at 31 December
2021 and 31 December 2020. No analysis of the Group’s
result and assets by geographical area is disclosed.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2021 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income on pages 81 to 82.

The directors of the Company do not recommend the
payment of any dividend for the year ended 31 December
2021.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A business review of the Group is set out on pages 16 to 25
of the annual report.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last 5 financial years is set out on page 220 of the
annual report.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of
the Group are set out in Note 16 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are
set out in Note 35 to the financial statements.

EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENTS

(a) Share options granted to directors and
selected employees
For share options granted, exercised and lapsed during
the year ended 31 December 2021, details are set out
in Note 37 of the financial statements and the section
named “Share Option Schemes” contained in this
Directors’ Report.

(b) Call option

On 13 December 2019, an indirect wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company (the “Grantor”) entered
into a call option agreement with an independent third
party (the “Optionee”). Pursuant to which, the Grantor
agreed to grant to the Optionee a call option at a
non-refundable option fee of HK$2,000,000 relating to
the purchase of up to 200,000,000 REMT shares at an
exercise price of HK$0.35 per REMT share during an
option period on and subject to the terms of the call
option agreement. In the event that the call option is
exercised in full, the aggregate consideration receivable
by the Grantors will be HK$72,000,000.

For more details, please refer to the announcements
made by the Company on 13 December 2019 and 23
March 2020.
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LISTED SUBORDINATED NOTES

On 5 June 2017, the Company issued listed subordinated
notes (under the Multicurrency Medium Term Note
Programme) with the face value of SGD101.75 million. The
note carries a coupon rate of 7.0% and are listed on the
Singapore Stock Exchange. The note matured on 3 July 2020
and was defaulted.

Details of the listed subordinated notes outstanding as at
31 December 2021 are set out in Note 32 of the financial
statement.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in reserves of the Group and of
the Company during the year are set out in consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 85 and Note 36(b) to
the financial statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2021
amounted to HK$510,141,000 (2020: HK$978,395,000).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association or the laws of the Cayman
Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares
on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year 2021 and 2020, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of
the Company’s listed securities during the year and up to the
date of the annual report.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of the
annual report are:

Executive Directors

Chi Wen Fu (Chairman and CEQ)

Shum Sai Chit (CEQ) (Resigned on 30 July 2021)
Chi Jing Chao

Non-Executive Director
Guo Mengyong

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Cheung Sound Poon

Sheng Hong

Shen Yi Min (Appointment on 1 January 2022)
Lau Chi Kit (Retired on 30 June 2021)

In accordance with Article 87 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. Guo Mengyong and Mr. Cheung Sound
Poon will retire from office by rotation at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election.

Mr. Shen Yi Min, being appointed by the Board after the
preceding general meeting of the Company, shall also retire
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company,
but being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract
with the Company which is not determinable within one
year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No contract of significance in relation to the Group’s business
to which the Company, any of its subsidiaries or its parent
company was a party and in which a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year, none of the Directors or the management
shareholders of the Company or their respective associates
(as defined in the Listing Rules) had any interest in a business
that competed or might compete with the business of the
Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to Article 167 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, every Director shall be entitled to be indemnified
out of the assets of the Company against all losses or
liabilities which he may sustain or incur in or about the
execution of the duties of his office or otherwise in relation
thereto, and no Director shall be liable for any loss, damages
or misfortune which may happen to or be incurred by the
Company in the execution of the duties of his office or in
relation thereto.

A Directors liability insurance is currently in place, and was
in place during the year, to protect the Directors of the
Company against potential costs and liabilities arising from
claims brought against them.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of Directors and senior management
are set out on pages 38 to 40 of the annual report.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

(a) Share option scheme of the Company

In order to attract and retain the best quality employees
for the development of the Group’s businesses and to
provide additional incentives or rewards to selected
qualifying participants, the Company adopted a share
option scheme on 3 December 2008 (the “Old Scheme”)
and on 26 June 2019 (the “New Scheme”) respectively.
The qualifying participants mainly include employees
of the Group, Directors and contractors, suppliers or
service providers of the Group who have contribution to
the Group. Both schemes, unless otherwise cancelled
or amended, will remain in force for 10 years since its
establishing date. The Old Scheme was expired on 3
December 2018, options granted under the Old Scheme
before its expiry were all expired and lapsed in 2020.
The remaining life of the New Scheme is approximately
7.5 years (expiry on 26 June 2029).

As at 31 December 2021, options to subscribe for a
total of 284,900,000 Shares were outstanding under the
New Scheme. Details of the movements in the options
are set out in Note 37 to the financial statements.
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(b) Share option scheme of a subsidiary

REMT

In order to attract and retain the best quality employees
for the development of the Group of REMT’s businesses
and to provide additional incentives or rewards to
selected qualifying participants, REMT adopted a
share option scheme on 4 December 2017 (the “REMT
Scheme”). The qualifying participants mainly include
employees, directors, contractors, suppliers or service
providers who have contribution to the Group of
REMT. The REMT Scheme, unless otherwise cancelled
or amended, will remain in force for 10 years since
its establishing date. The remaining life of the REMT
Scheme is approximately 6 years (expiry on 4 December
2027).

As at 31 December 2021, options to subscribe for a
total of 348,400,000 Shares were outstanding under
the REMT Scheme (the “REMT Options”). Details of the
movements in the options are set out in Note 37 to the
financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'
INTEREST IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE
COMPANY AND ANY ASSOCIATED
CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2021, the relevant interests and short
positions of the Directors or chief executive of the Company
in the Shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFQ”)), as recorded in the register to be kept by the
Company under Section 352 of Part XV of the SFO were as
follows:
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(i) RELEZRHORBREZRE

Esg

Name of Director
X E(GhkE])
Chi Wen Fu ("Mr. Chi")

ity

Chi Jing Chao
DB

Guo Mengyong

REK
Cheung Sound Poon

Sheng Hong

(i) Long Positions in Shares and Share Options
of the Company

BERMHA

Number of Shares held

EARAT

#2021%

12A31H

BRTRA

2B

Percentage

BEEBREZE of issued share
(Kt*2)  capital of the

B AER
Personal
interests

249,970,548

2,625,000

1,775,000

BE#ER NAER
Spouse Corporate
interests interests

- 1341,871,364
(B3E1) (note 1)

1,633,998 -

&t Number of Company as at
Options held 31 December

Total (note 2) 2021
1,591,841,912 34.75%
20,000,000 0.44%

1,633,998 0.04%
8,000,000 0.17%

2,625,000 0.06%
5,000,000 0.11%

5,000,000 0.11%

1,775,000 0.04%
5,000,000 0.11%
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(ii) Long position in debentures of the Company

EENA B e FEEsSE
Name of director Capacity/Nature of interest Amount of debentures held
3 03 T
SGD
il 1 A e 2 2,500,000
Mr. Chi Personal interest
Bt - notes:
1. ZERMNETERREEREAR([BE]FEH - 1. These Shares are held by Alpha Sino International Limited

ERBEERBTED EITRAL3.74% » Fit
BTRARBERRAG LITRRERNTE=2
ZRALEZERER  ARBERRARAAER -

B BB A20014F7810B 2 KR A
Bl EAARAEEREHTE  BARAQ A
549,280,0008% % 17 (18 & 7201546 A30H
NABEITRAL12%) WIFLEES @A
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H% Z (R2015F 12878 & BT LEY]) HE
gz ERS -

2. BAZBBREZFBEHIIN EXTERERS]
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FHRRALERARRREZRF RSP EEGE
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(“Alpha Sino”) and are deemed corporate interests by virtue
of Mr. Chi’s holding of 83.74% of the issued share capital
of Alpha Sino which entitled him to exercise or control the
exercise of one-third or more of the voting power at general
meeting of Alpha Sino.

As pursuant to a share mortgage agreement dated 10 July
2014, Alpha Sino, being the substantial shareholder of the
Company, had mortgaged 549,280,000 Shares (representing
approximately 12% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at 30 June 2015) to International Finance Corporation
(“IFC”) as security for a loan agreement dated 30 May 2014
(as amended and restated on 7 December 2015) entered into
between IFC and Baishan City Tianan Magnesium Resources
Co. Ltd.

2. Details of Options held are set out in the above section headed
“Share Options Schemes”.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none
of the Directors or chief executive of the Company or their
respective associates had interests and short positions in the
Shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO), as recorded in the register to be kept by the
Company under Section 352 of SFO.
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(iii) RELXEZHBEBR K - B  (iii) Interests in the shares, underlying shares and

REFZERE debenture of associated corporation of the
Company
HEHH REMT
ERERE
H2021F
12A31H
ERITREZ
BFERENR Bo
FEREERRABREER 2 EEREE BREZHE Percentage of
Number of ordinary shares interested (Htz¥) issued share
or deemed to be interested Number of capital of
o RIkER NEER &3t REMT  REMT as at
Family Corporate Options held 31 December
Director interests interests Total (note) 2021
rR

Long position

RE AR - - - 5,000,000 0.08%
Cheung Sound Poon

MisE : BAECEREZFIEHI R L [EREZ note: Details of Options held are set out in the above section
— o headed “Share Options Schemes”.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN THE

SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF
THE COMPANY

So far as is known to any Director or chief executive of
the Company, as at 31 December 2021, persons who had
interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying shares
of equity derivatives of the Company as recorded in the

regist
were

FEROBE BEBREHR

er required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO
as follows:
575 A 511820215
12A31HE #1T
BARZE S

Percentage of
issued share
capital of the

Company as at

Number of Number of 31 December
Shares held Options held 2021
1,591,841,912 34.75%
(FffF7E1) (note 1)
20,000,000 0.44%
(FfF5E3) (note 3)
1,341,871,364 29.29%
(FfF5E2) (note 2)
549,280,000 12.00%

(B$5E2) (note 2)

GEX

X EEERARAS £1,501,841,912/%
Ry B = - B HP(a) 249,970,548 ik
BITHEESZHEE YUNELZEER Kb
1,341,871,364 B HE R BB BB H#E D BT
BRA83.74% B FEBEHAIRTEREK
CFITEREEITE=0 22— N L2 RERE
MER AR AR -

HRHHA2014F7B108 2 MK F A
B 1EAARATERENTE  HARQF
549,280,0008% % 17 (18 & 7 2015F6 308 &
RNAEBETRAN12%) WIFLEE A A
(TBEEemAall)  EARBERESR ARG
I AL ¢ BERERR QA R2014F5H30
HEZ (R2015F12 A7THKEIREYN) HE
i 2 AR o

notes:

Mr. Chi Wen Fu has interest in an aggregate of 1,591,841,912
Shares of which (a) 249,970,548 Shares are beneficially owned
by him and registered in his name; and (b) 1,341,871,364
Shares are deemed corporate interests by virtue of his holding
of 83.74% of the issued share capital of Alpha Sino which
entitled him to exercise or control the exercise of one-third or
more of the voting power at general meeting of Alpha Sino.

As pursuant to a share mortgage agreement dated 10 July
2014, Alpha Sino, being the substantial shareholder of the
Company, had mortgaged 549,280,000 Shares (representing
approximately 12% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at 30 June 2015) to International Finance Corporation
(“IFC”) as security for a loan agreement dated 30 May 2014
(as amended and restated on 7 December 2015) entered into
between IFC and Baishan City Tianan Magnesium Resources
Co. Ltd.
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2. IFC has interest in an aggregate of 549,280,000 Shares of
which pursuant to a share mortgage agreement dated 10 July
2014, Alpha Sino, being the substantial shareholder of the
Company, had mortgaged 549,280,000 Shares (representing
approximately 12% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at 30 June 2015) to IFC as security for a loan agreement
dated 30 May 2014 (as amended and restated on 7 December
2015) entered into between IFC and Baishan City Tianan
Magnesium Resources Co. Ltd.

3. Details of Options held are set out in the above section headed
“Share Options Schemes”.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the period under review, none of the Directors nor the
management shareholders of the Company or their respective
associates (as defined in the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”)) had any interest in a business that competed
or might compete with the business of the Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the year.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The percentage of purchases and sales for the year
attributable to the Group’s major suppliers and customers are
as follows:

Purchases

— the largest supplier 4.9%
— 5 largest suppliers in aggregate 26.1%
Sales

— the largest customer 1.3%
— 5 largest customers in aggregate 10.3%

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholders
which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5%
of the Company’s share capital) had an interest in the major
suppliers or customers noted above.



REXH
AEREREFREWRBEMRNBERS - HERE
TRz FESOFT I T & B A ©
PRBERECTEEN
BEARRAUXRLAHEEREZENERES
Fral ARRABREZ2021F12A31BIEFER
—HEBZHARRERE -

73 40
HE2021F12A3IHEFENKRELHHA S
FIENERAERAREZ  EAHRAERT
ZHERRBFRE EEm  ANAREREIEET

ZERRBFARG LRE-BABZERBREZLHE
FEAMEBMERARA/ERR ZZEED -

RRE=S

MXE
HITEF

EB - 2022F3H31H

F 2021 ANNUAL REPORT

SEEWRS
Directors’ Report

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Other than those disclosed in Note 39 to the financial
statements, there was no connected transaction during the
year and in last year.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the directors, the
Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout
the year ended 31 December 2021.

AUDITORS

The accounts for the year ended 31 December 2021 were
audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited whose term
of office will expire upon the forthcoming annual general
meeting. A resolution for the re-appointment of HLB Hodgson
Impey Cheng Limited as the auditors of the Company will be
proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Chi Wen Fu
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 31 March 2022
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HERLTITRES Hong Kong

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

CENTURY SUNSHINE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(IN PROVISIONAL LIQUIDATION)

(Incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial
statements of Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”) set out on pages 81 to 219, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2021, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
a summary of significant accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the significance of
the matter described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion
section of our report, we have not been able to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an
audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements. In
all other respects, in our opinion, the consolidated financial
statements have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Material uncertainties relating to the going
concern basis

As explained in Note 1 to the consolidated financial
statements, on 3 July 2020, the Company announced (i)
the Company defaulted on the redemption of the SGD
101.75 million in principal amount of the listed subordinated
notes (the “SGD Notes”); (ii) the Company had received
demands from two of its bank creditors for the repayment of
borrowings of the Company and its subsidiary guaranteed by
the Company of approximately HK$51 million plus interest
accrued and believed it was likely to receive further calls from
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its creditors; and (iii) a winding up petition has been filed
on 2 July 2020 (Cayman Islands time) to the Supreme Court
of the Cayman Islands together with the application for the
appointment of the joint provisional liquidators (“JPLs”) on a
“light touch” basis for debt restructuring purpose. The JPLs
were appointed pursuant to an order granted by the court in
the Cayman lIslands on 14 July 2020 (Cayman Islands time)
and recognised by the High Court in Hong Kong on 28 August
2020 and by the Singapore High Court on 30 November 2020.

In 2021, the JPLs have held creditors’ committee’s meetings
to discuss the development of the provisional liquidation and
restructuring plan. As of the date of this report, no consensus
on any restructuring plan could be reached between the Group
and the creditors and the hearing of the winding up petition
was adjourned to be heard on Monday, 25 April 2022 (Cayman
Islands time) by the Grand Court of Cayman Islands.

Further, as explained in Note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group incurred a net loss of approximately
HK$1,254,102,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021,
and, as of that date, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded
its current assets by approximately HK$1,881,426,000, its
current borrowings amounted to HK$2,146,074,000 as at
31 December 2021, while its cash and cash equivalents
amounted to HK$101,964,000 only. In addition, the
Group could not fulfil certain covenants relating to certain
borrowings of the Group amounting to HK$1,995,673,000
as at 31 December 2021, which have become repayable on
demand of the lenders. Further, included in the borrowings
of the Group as at 31 December 2021 were borrowings of
approximately HK$637,276,000 and in the trade and other
payable for exceeding HK$1 million in aggregate approximately
HK$43,000,000 of which the creditors have commenced
litigations against the Group for repayment of the outstanding
balances and to proceed ruling and freezing on certain
non-core operating assets.
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The conditions described above indicate the existence
of material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
The directors have been undertaking certain measures to
improve the Group’s liquidity and financial position, as set
out in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements. The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a
going concern basis, the validity of which depends on the
successful eventual outcome of these measures, which are
inherently uncertain and as at the date of this report cannot be
ascertained with reasonable certainty and are still subject to
multiple uncertainties, including whether (i) the JPLs and the
Company will be able to finalise the proposed restructuring
plan for the restructuring of the debts and liabilities of the
Group after consultations with the creditors’ committee of the
creditors of the Group and the Informal Steering Committee
of the holders of the SGD Notes and obtain the sanctions of
the relevant courts for the schemes of arrangement for the
implementation of the finalised restructuring plan; and (i) the
Group is able to implement further cost control measures on
capital investments, production and administrative operations
to reduce overall operating costs of the Group.

Should the Group fail to achieve successful outcomes from
the above-mentioned plans and measures, it might not
be able to continue to operate as a going concern, and
adjustments would have to be made to write down the
carrying values of the Group’s assets to their recoverable
amounts, to provide for further liabilities which might arise
and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities
as current assets and current liabilities respectively. The
effects of these adjustments have not been reflected in these
consolidated financial statements.
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We have not been provided with sufficient appropriate
audit evidence to conclude on the appropriateness of
management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements
because management’s plans for future actions in relation
to its going concern assessment could not be finalized yet,
as, although creditors' committee was formed and several
meetings were held, no consensus on any restructuring
plan could be reached between the Group and the creditors
as of the date of this report. Any adjustments found to be
required may have consequential significant effects on the
consolidated net assets of the Group as at 31 December
2021 and the consolidated loss and other comprehensive
income or loss and cash flows of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2021, and the related elements and
disclosures thereof presented or disclosed in the consolidated
financial statements.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (the “HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend
to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA and
to issue an auditor’s report solely to you, as a body, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of
this report. However, because of the matter described in
the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we
were not able to form an audit opinion on these consolidated
financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditors’ report is Kwok Tsz Chun.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Kwok Tsz Chun
Practising Certificate Number: PO6901

Hong Kong, 31 March 2022
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2021 2020
Bt 5 FET TABT
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
A Revenue 7 1,331,858 2,151,811
& A AR Cost of sales (1,200,336) (1,848,286)
EF Gross profit 131,522 303,525
H bW am sk 5 185 58 Other gains or losses, net 9 50,533 60,309
HERMISHEER Selling and marketing costs (34,377) (55,377)
TR Administrative expenses (205,813) (237,492)
WE - BB N R Written-off of property, plant and
equipment 16 (1,451) (660,000)
EERE Impairment of goodwill 19 - (46,252)
Y - BEREERE Impairment of property, plant and
equipment 22 (696,034) =
EREEERE Impairment of right-of-use assets 22 (59,215) -
| A ERE Impairment of intangible assets 22 (80,362) -
BEHREWRE e &k Net allowance for expected credit
H th B U Fk T8 T8 R losses on trade receivables,
EEBEREFE deposits and other receivables 12 (173,111) (147,212)
HBEREEALEE Change in fair value of financial
guarantee liabilities (250) 48,132
& H Z=5%E Exchange differences, net 9,152 (14,115)
W ER Finance costs 10 (200,301) (179,501)
B FT 1S %4 B 5 18 Loss before income tax 12 (1,259,707) (927,983)
Frefiie, (Fi) Income tax credit/(expense) 11 5,605 (56,222)
FAEIE Loss for the year (1,254,102) (984,205)
THALELEFEREIE : Loss for the year attributable
to:
VNNETEZ ZEDN Owners of the Company (1,121,566) (745,368)
FEFE AR B 2w Non-controlling interests (132,536) (238,837)
(1,254,102) (984,205)
BRESR Loss per share:
— FA (L) - basic (HK cents) 15  (24.48)flicents (16.27){licents

- #58 (B l)

— diluted (HK cents)

15

(24.48)flicents (16.27)flicents
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2021 2020
FHET TABT
HK$’000 HK$'000
FRBRE Loss for the year (1,254,102) (984,205)
Hab2muizs - JOBRATEBH - Other comprehensive income,
net of income tax:
BMEBINEBFIESX 2 Exchange differences arising from
PE X =58 translation of foreign operations 124,367 286,738
FREMZEBRA Other comprehensive income
(HOBRFTBH) for the year (net of income tax) 124,367 286,738
FRAEZEIHARE Total comprehensive
expense for the year (1,129,735) (697,467)
TIHATEEFAZE Total comprehensive
AR expense for the year
attributable to:
ViN/NETEF SN Owners of the Company (1,019,960) (480,539)
I 12 AR A 2 Non-controlling interests (109,775) (216,928)
(1,129,735) (697,467)
BEMI P T B AN S B ISR — 25 o The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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2021 2020
Bt 5 FET THT
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
ERBEE Non-current assets
ME - BE KK E Property, plant and equipment 16 3,408,172 3,693,366
"EYE Investment properties 17 106,055 104,896
FREEE Right-of-use assets 18 232,958 296,330
kS Goodwill 19 151,116 151,116
| EE Intangible assets 20 291,125 366,511
FRUERE Mining rights 21 460,715 449,642
EHIRITFER Long-term bank deposits 28 - 59
4,650,141 5,061,920
REBEE Current assets
BARBEFAEBRZ Equity instruments at fair
AT A value through profit or loss 24 3,906 8,737
ey Inventories 25 357,926 583,002
L5 REWEIE KL EIREE Trade and bills receivables 26 390,324 526,093
T FIE e REM Prepayments, deposits and
& other receivables 27 395,636 581,128
1T NI A ER Bank and cash balances 28 112,528 178,595
1,260,320 1,872,555
RBEE Current liabilities
B ENTBEREEMNEE Trade and bills payables 29 180,807 250,061
FEEtE A N E A EN RRIE Accruals and other payables 30 584,985 290,206
EHBE Contract liabilities 30 220,318 337,126
HEaE Lease liabilities 31 391 514
JET TS %R Income tax payable 9,171 11,724
ERET Borrowings 32 2,146,074 2,065,408
3,141,746 2,955,039
RBEEEE Net current liabilities (1,881,426) (1,082,484)
EEHERRBAR Total assets less current
liabilities 2,768,715 3,979,436
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2021 2020
Bt 5 FHET TABT
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
EkRBEE Non-current liabilities
R FE WA Deferred revenue 33 75,018 72,834
H b e~ 5RIR Other payables 30 48,789 47,907
HEBE Lease liabilities 31 5,823 6,034
EE Borrowings 32 - 75,381
EIERIEAE Deferred tax liabilities 34 175,066 190,282
304,696 392,438
EEFE Net assets 2,464,019 3,586,998
AATEBEAEMRAE Capital and reserves
kf#E attributable to owners
of the Company
RZ 7R Share capital 35 101,419 101,419
1 Reserves 2,246,664 3,259,868
2,348,083 3,361,287
FERER Non-controlling interests 115,936 225,711
R Total equity 2,464,019 3,586,998

TEEEN022E3A31 A #HE & R IERE T2 H L The consolidated financial statements on pages 81 to 219
FEOIE210B VA B M= - WH ~NoES(  were approved and authorised for issue by the board of

K= directors on 31 March 2022 and are signed on its behalf by:
M E kgt
Chi Wen Fu Chi Jing Chao
EF EFE
Director Director
BERTHI T B AR A BB — 25 o The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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AREREAER
Attributable to Owners of the Company
EXRE
BF  HABE  iERR BRE
BA  RGEE (G (KRG () B BERE HtRE  REEd Nt FERER @it
Capital
redemption Capital  Statutory Share Non-
Share Share reserve reserve reserve option Translation Other  Retained controlling
capital  premium  (note (i) (note (ii)) (note (iii)) reserve reserve reserve  earnings  Sub-total interests Total
Tn FEx Thr THR T#R T Tn TEx TEx FEr T THr
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
2019512318 As at 31 December 2019
R202051818 and 1 January 2020 101,419 1,353,356 4,526 13,666 275,051 32,594 (347,598) (221,707) 2,617,516 3,828,823 441,088 4,269,911
FRER Loss for the year - - - - - - - - (745368  (745368)  (238,837)  (984,205)
EREBZERE Other comprefensive income for the year,
(MBHER) (net of income tax)
HEENEBFEE  Exchange diferences arising from
JERER translation of foreign operations - - - - - - 264,829 - - 264,829 21,909 286,738
ER2E(FER)/ Total comprehensive (expense)/income
ezt for the year - - - - - - 264,829 - (745,368) (480539) (216,928 (697,467
KEBARMAR Change in ownership interest of
55 3] subsidiaries - - - - - (657) - 2,006 - 1,449 1,561 3,000
BRI Share option lapsed - - - - - 8,778 - - 3,778 - - -
ERZRHE Transfer to reserve - - - - 5,149 - - - (5,149 - - -
REEERATR Equity settled share-based transactions
25 - - - - - 11,554 - - - 11,554 - 11,554
2020512318 As at 31 December 2020
R202151A18 and 1 January 2021 101419 1,353,356 4,626 13,666 280,200 39,813 (82.769)  (219,701) 1,870,777 3,361,287 225711 3,586,998
FRER Loss for the year - - - - - - - - (1,121,566) (1,121,566) (132,536) (1,254,102
FRERZENG Other comprehensive income for the year,
(MBHEHR) (net of income tax)
BESNERAESE  Exchange differences arising from
LERER translation of foreign operations - - - - - - 101,606 - - 101,606 22,761 124,367
ER2E(FER)/ Total comprehensive (expense)/income
634 for the year - - - - - - 101,606 - (1,121,566) (1,019,060)  (109,775) (1,129,735)
BRI Share option lapsed - - - - - (1,260) - - 1,260 o o -
BRERE Transfer to reserve - - - - 9,025 - - - (9,025) - - -
REEERGER Equity settled share-based transactions
325 - - - - - 6,756 - - - 6,756 - 6,756
PO01F12A318 Asat 31 December 2021 101,419 1353356 4526 13666 289,225 45300 18,837  (219,701) 741,446 2,348,083 115036 2,464,019

85



86

tHaEEREEZERER AT Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited

mOERmBEE

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

HZE2021F12A31H LFE
For the year ended 31 December 2021

GES

(i)

(i)

(i)

B KR 3 4 18 AN A A B () B A R 10 B e
ARARRERNER 2 ARA KM 2 EE -

EXAREEREEEEHACWEREARL 2 W
BRAAKRMNEESEBEIIMREBBMOMET L
ARBBHOHEEMERNZEZE -

EERBIERMNBARKREDTEARKNE
(THRBEEEMBRERMAINENNI0%E BE
TRELEDDHRBENES -

REBEFBERI2MBAR ZEABEZMA R
HEzFBEDRRIRER  ZEMBARARDL
10% 2 kR AT 15 B 1808 A (3% o B B 7% 5 B 7%
BERCBREVERETRHE RIFZHRBES
HHRCENBAREMEAR0% - ZHEES
EURARNEENBRARBEFECER EX
M AR 2 EERBSIEINME R F 2R -

REFEERZ2EEEEERERREMA
HEERBRMANE TR AEEFRRE
HHIEF2RAEAREAARELZDREES
ZEEUHARGRE SN E LRt
B AERBRERDIK -

notes:

(i)

(i)

Capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value
of the Shares of the Company which was transferred from
the Company’s retained earnings upon repurchase and
cancellation of Shares by the Company.

Capital reserve represents the difference between the nominal
value of the shares of the subsidiaries that have been acquired
and capitalised pursuant to a group reorganisation over the
nominal value of the Company’s Shares issued in exchange
therefore.

Statutory reserve mainly represents the fund set aside by the
subsidiaries based on 10% of their net profit of the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) statutory financial statements
and that for the purpose of certain safety production activities.

In accordance with the articles of association of the
subsidiaries established in the PRC and the relevant PRC rules
and regulations, these subsidiaries are required to set aside
10% of their profit after income tax as recorded in the PRC
statutory financial statements as statutory reserve, except
where the reserve fund balance has reached 50% of the
subsidiaries’ registered capital. The reserve fund can only be
used to make good the subsidiaries’ previous years’ losses, to
expand the subsidiaries’ production operations or to increase
the capital of the subsidiaries.

Pursuant to certain regulations issued by the State
Administration of Work Safety of the PRC and other relevant
regulatory bodies, the Group is required to set aside funds
mainly for mining of dolomite and serpentine at prescribed
rates. These funds can be used for maintenance and/or
improvements of safety of these activities, and is not available
for distribution to shareholders.
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2021 2020
TET FH T
HK$’000 HK$'000
KEEE Operating activities
B P15 %4 R 5 18 Loss before income tax (1,259,707) (927,983)
MTHIEBEE A Adjustments for:
YrE R Depreciation and amortisation 220,093 226,056
758 A Finance costs 200,301 179,501
HEWME - BELZHER Net (gain)/loss on disposal of property,
i (E AR (k) EE plant and equipment and land use
ek rights (6,577) 8,781
MEHA Interest income (1,477) (6,842)
% 8 4% B D S 3R Equity settled share-based payments 6,756 11,554
o EWHIBEHEE Net allowance for expected credit
EERE TR losses on trade receivables 173,332 148,021
HthE W IBTEHEE Net reversal of allowance for expected
B R E R @R credit losses on other receivables (221) (809)
MHEVBERAREE Change in fair value derivative financial
guarantee 250 (48,132)
MTETRMABBEEELEY Fair value (gain)/loss arising from
ARE k) EE derivative financial liabilities (11,905) 613
BEARBEAEBRmS Loss on change in fair value of equity
BRATEZz AR EZEHEIR instruments at fair value through
profit or loss 4,338 45
BEARBEFABEARATAR Loss on disposal of equity instruments
ZELEE at fair value through profit or loss 56 -
EHENEBRRZBEER Impairment loss recognised in respect
of goodwill - 46,252
REFLEEERZ BEER Impairment loss recognised in
intangible asset 80,362 =
R - BEREEER Impairment loss recognised in property,
BB EE plant and equipment 696,034 =
RNERAEEE®RR ZREESE Impairment loss recognised in
right-of-use assets 59,215 -
WiEEEEE Written off of intangible asset 80 =
WE - BE MRS Written off of property, plant and
equipment 1,451 660,000
EEESEERIA Operating cash flows before movements
KEBRESME in working capital 162,381 297,057
FERL (35 hm) Decrease/(increase) in inventory 198,479 (75,791)
B 5 Y 3 IE K i I EE 1 A8 0 Increase in trade and bills receivable (36,657) (180,276)
FENZIE e REMEIWFRIE  Decrease in prepayment, deposits and
k> other receivables 89,514 56,471
5 RMNRERENZRRD Decrease in trade and bills payables (75,8086) (68,177)
FEFtER - HMEAHEK Decrease in accruals, other payable
BRRELEDBERD and receipt in advance and contract
liabilities (116,944) (31,376)
REXBFEANE S Cash generated from operations 220,967 7,908
BB Income tax paid (17,746) (57,182)
mESEBFRELS(FTA)® Net cash generated/(used in) from
REeRE operating activities 203,221 (49,274)
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2021 2020
THET FH T
HK$’000 HK$'000
RETE Investing activities
IRER 1T K Withdrawal of deposits with banks 6,083 32,704
BEYWE  BWEREKE Purchase of property, plant and
equipment (239,609) (471,161)
=2 U R 2 Interest received 1,477 6,842
HERAAEFT ABRARA Proceeds from disposal equity
T A ZFTSIA instrument of fair value through
profit or loss 434 =
HEWE  BERKENME Proceeds from disposal of property,
B plant and equipment 8,195 11,636
RETEFMANESFE Net cash used in investing
activities (223,420) (419,979)
Al & SEE Financing activities
FEEMAE IR Proceeds from new borrowings - 564,876
BEEE Repayment of borrowings (11,502) (668,591)
ERHE Interest paid (29,441) (88,200)
BEHEAE Repayment of lease liabilities (961) (2,587)
1TERBRR BE PR 1S FR 1A Proceeds from share option exercised - 3,000
RETEBFANRSFE Net cash used in financing
activities (41,904) (191,502)
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2021 2020
FET FABT
HK$’000 HK$’000
ReRERELEB RS FE Net decrease in cash and cash
equivalents (62,103) (660,755)
FINRERERERESIER Cash and cash equivalents at the
beginning of the year 157,417 785,157
IEERSBHHZE Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes 6,650 33,015
FRNBESRERARSER Cash and cash equivalents at the
end of the year 101,964 157,417
HEREQNHEELER Analysis of balances of cash and
wEeRo A cash equivalents
REBBARREKRY Z Pledged bank deposits and bank
EEMRITERRBRITR and cash balances as stated in the
Re & consolidated statement of financial
position 112,528 173,654
BEERAEERENRE Pledged deposits with banks pledged
BRZEEBRITER as security for borrowings and bills
payable (10,564) (16,178)
W REHBBE=EA N 2 Non-pledged deposits with bank with
IR ERITF K original maturity of more than three
months when acquired - (59)
HEBREmMERMI RS R Cash and cash equivalents as stated in
ZRBELIAE the consolidated statement of cash
flows 101,964 157,417
BEHI I B A G S B REN —ZD o The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in
fertiliser business, magnesium product business and
metallurgical flux business.

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
on 21 January 2003 as an exempted company with
limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law
3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands. On 17 February 2004, the Company’s shares
were listed on the Growth Enterprise Market (“GEM”)
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) and were withdrawn from the GEM
on 31 July 2008. Since 1 August 2008, the Company’s
shares have been listing on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange. In the opinion of the directors, the
ultimate holding company of the Company is Alpha Sino
International Limited, a company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands.

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is the same as
the functional currency of the Company. All values are
rounded to the nearest thousand (“HK$’000”) except
when otherwise indicated.
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Winding-up petitions and appointment of
provisional liquidators

On 3 July 2020, the Company announced (i) the Company
defaulted on the redemption of the SGD 101.75 million
in principal amount of the listed subordinated notes
(the “SGD Notes”) on their maturity on 3 July 2020
(the “Payment Default”) (Note 32 iii); (i) the Company
had received in June 2020 demands from two of its
bank creditors for the repayment of borrowings of the
Company and its subsidiary guaranteed by the Company
of approximately HK$51 million plus interest accrued
and believed it was likely to receive further calls from
its creditors following the Payment Default; and (iii) a
winding-up petition ("Petition") has been filed on 2 July
2020 (Cayman Islands time) to the Supreme Court of the
Cayman Islands on behalf of the Company together with
an application for the appointment of joint provisional
liquidators (“JPLs”) on a “light touch” basis that the board
of directors of the Company (the “Board”) will retain
management of the Company while the JPLs will work
alongside the Company’s management to, amongst other
things, monitor, supervise and oversee the implementation
of a group-wide holistic and coordinated restructuring of
its debts and liabilities (the “Proposed Restructuring Plan”)
including to maintain the listing of the Company on the
Stock Exchange of the Hong Kong Limited.

On 14 July 2020 (Cayman lIslands time), an order was
granted by the Grand Court of Cayman Islands (the “Grand
Court”) for the appointment of Mr. Yen Ching Wai David
and Ms. So Kit Yee Anita of Ernst & Young Transactions
Limited, Mr. Roy Bailey of Ernst & Young Ltd., and
Ms. Tammy Karina Fu of EY Cayman Ltd as JPLs of the
Company with the power to act jointly and severally.
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On 18 August 2020, the Grand Court issued a letter
of request (“LOR”) to the High Court of Hong Kong for
the recognition of the appointment and powers of the
JPLs in Hong Kong to, inter alia, develop and propose
a restructuring plan to allow the Company to continue
as a going concern. The Grand Court also accepted the
resignation of one of the JPLs, Mr. Yen Ching Wai David
on the same day. The JPLs appointment order remains
in force in respect of Mr. Roy Bailey, Ms. Tammy Karina
Fu and Ms. So Kit Yee Anita as JPLs. An application has
been filed by the JPLs to the High Court of Hong Kong
on 26 August 2020 for the recognition of the appointment
and powers of the JLPs pursuant to the LOR. On 28
August 2020, the High Court of Hong Kong has approved
the said application.

An application has been filed by the JPLs to the High
Court of the Republic of Singapore (the “Singapore High
Court”) on 28 October 2020 for the recognition of the
appointment and powers of the JLPs pursuant to the
LOR. On 30 November 2020, the Singapore High Court
has approved the said application.

On 23 December 2020, the Singapore Noteholders have
established the informal steering committee (the “ISC”).
On 7 March 2021, the ISC has appointed an independent
financial advisor (the “IFA”), who sits on the creditors’
committee, together with the ISC, to proceed the follow-up
work. The Proposed Restructuring Plan had been initially
formulated but subject to be negotiated with the creditors.

During the Year, the JPLs have held several creditors
committee’s meetings to discuss the development of
the provisional liquidation and restructuring scheme.
Nevertheless, any determination and implementation
of such scheme shall be subject to the agreement of
the requisite majorities of creditors and the applicable
approval(s) of the Grand Court, the High Court of Hong
Kong, and/or other relevant jurisdictions, if necessary.

As further ordered by the Grand Court, the hearing of the
Petition will be adjourned to be heard on Monday, 25 April
2022 (Cayman Islands time).
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual
Framework in HKFRS Standards and the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for
the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the
annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2021 for
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS
9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
- Phase 2

In addition, the Group applied the agenda decision of
the IFRS Interpretations Committee (the “Committee”)
of the International Accounting Standards Board issued
in June 2021 which clarified the costs an entity should
include as “estimated costs necessary to make the sale”
when determining the net realisable value of inventories.

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group’s
financial positions and performance for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but

not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are

not yet effective:

HKFRS 17

Amendments to
HKFRS 3

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendment to
HKFRS 16

Amendments to
HKAS 1

Amendments to
HKAS 1 and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2

Amendments to
HKAS 8

Amendments to
HKAS 12

Amendments to
HKAS 16

Amendments to
HKAS 37

Amendments to
HKFRSs

2021.
January 2022.

January 2023.

Insurance Contracts and the related
Amendments®

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 2021’

Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)°

Disclosure of Accounting Policies”

Definition of Accounting Estimates®

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction®

Property, Plant and Equipment —
Proceeds before Intended Use®

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract®

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-20207

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date
to be determined.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all the new and amendments to HKFRSs
will have no material impact on the consolidated
financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all
the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs, issued by
the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”)
and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (“CQO”).

Going concern

The Group recorded loss of approximately
HK$1,254,102,000 (2020: HK$984,205,000) for the
year ended 31 December 2021, and, as of that date,
the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current
assets by approximately HK$1,881,426,000 (2020:
HK$1,082,484,000). Further, as at 31 December
2021, the Group’s current and non-current borrowings
amounted to approximately HK$2,146,074,000 (2020:
HK$2,065,408,000) and HKS$Nil (2020: HK$75,381,000)
respectively, while its cash and cash equivalents
only amounted to approximately HK$101,964,000
(2020: HK$157,417,000). As stated in note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements, the Company had
defaulted in repayment of its listed subordinated notes
of principal amount of SGD101.75 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$593,782,000) plus interests accrued
when they fell due on their maturity date on 3 July
2020 and had received demands from two of its bank
creditors for repayment of the borrowings of the Group
of approximately HK$51 million. The Group could not
fulfil certain covenants of certain borrowings amounting
to approximately HK$1,995,673,000 as at 31 December
2021, which have become repayable on demand and
are presented as current liabilities in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

The conditions described above indicate the existence
of a material uncertainty that cast significant doubt on
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
Therefore, the Group may be unable to realize its assets
and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of
business.
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The Company is actively exploring options to
restructure the debts of the Group and has commenced
implementation of a management led restructuring by
taking advantage of the court-supervised provisional
liquidation regime in the Cayman Islands, commonly
known as a “light touch” provisional liquidation, which
gives the Company the benefit of a statutory moratorium
prohibiting the commencement or continuance of any
proceedings against the Company without the leave of
the Grand Court of the Cayman Islands. The Company
is seeking to develop a viable proposed restructuring
plan, including but not limited to some or all of the
followings:

1. equity restructuring to facilitate the raising of cash
for the Company from third party investors through
equity issue;

2. a debt restructuring that may involve refinancing
and/or a compromise or arrangement of the debts
and liabilities of the Group; and

3. potential investment in the Company from one or
more third party investor(s) to facilitate raising of
cash for the Company and potential disposal of
non-core business and non-operating fixed assets
of the Group.

It is proposed that the Proposed Restructuring Plan will
be implemented by way of schemes of arrangement
(the “Creditors’ Scheme”) with the creditors of the
companies in provisional liquidation, including the
Company. The Schemes are likely subject to the
sanction of the Grand Court, the BVI Court (in respect
of the subsidiaries in provisional liquidation which are
incorporated in the BVI), the Hong Kong Court and the
Singapore Court.

In addition, the Company plans to implement further
cost control measures on capital investments,
production and administrative operations to reduce
overall operating costs of the Group.
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The directors of the Company are of the opinion that
it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements on going concern basis. These consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis, the validity of which depends upon
the eventual successful outcomes of the events and
conditions described above, which are inherently
uncertain, including the Group being able to successfully
negotiate and agree with the creditors to renew or
extend the existing borrowings or complete debt
financing to provide funds for the Group to meet its
liabilities as they fall due. This in turn is dependent upon
(i) the JPLs and the Company being able to finalise the
proposed restructuring plan after consultations with
the creditors’ committee of the general creditors of the
Group, the Informal Steering Committee (“ISC”) of the
noteholders of the SGD Notes and the Independent
Financial Adviser engaged to represent the ISC; and
(i) the sanctions of the schemes of arrangement will
be successfully obtained from the relevant courts
referred to above for the implementation of the finalised
Proposed Restructuring Plan.

As at the date of approval for issuance of the consolidated
financial statements, the framework of the proposed
restructuring plan has been initially formulated but
the eventual outcome of the proposed restructuring
plan cannot be determined with reasonable certainty.
Accordingly, the material uncertainty that cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern remains in existence as at the date
of approval for issuance of the consolidated financial
statements. Should the Group be unable to continue
as a going concern, adjustments would have to be
made to the consolidated financial statements to write
down the carrying values of the Group’s assets to their
recoverable amounts, to provide for further liabilities
which might arise and to reclassify non-current assets
and non-current liabilities as current assets and current
liabilities, respectively. The effects of these adjustments
have not been reflected in the consolidated financial
statements.

Historical cost basis

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis, except for certain
financial instruments, which are measured at fair values,
as explained in the accounting policies set out below.
Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for assets.
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AL BEAMB2EENAEAHEEFRK Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
SHHEEEM RIS EEEER an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
NZEBHE TwZBEECEEEBRAS transaction between market participants at the
FEAS —EHERMNEE - et EESK measurement date, regardless of whether that price is
BEZANEE AEREETHELR directly observable or estimated using another valuation
EEGENHAZEENABETEER technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a
BeZEMEENBEEH EZELHES liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics
BREBEPAHAEN  SIBEENLALEAE of the asset or liability if market participants would take
WA FFUREE  EBM SRS %L those characteristics into account when pricing the
F2RABRMAERNREE AN 2 ARHD asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
IR G - BANBRELERF165: for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
NZHER G RAREAREREUEN consolidated financial statements is determined on such
IERAENE (Flan BESFERFE2 a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
SEERHA SR EENE S ERE that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based
36 EERMEFTRFEREE) BRI - Payments, leasing transactions that are within the

scope of HKFRS 16, and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such
as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in
use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

FEMEENAABIFEREMBLEE A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
AU ERERERRERZEE L into account a market participant’s ability to generate
ZEEETES AN Eas RRERERE economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
RAZEENTISSMEEMEENLESZ best use or by selling it to another market participant

that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

RAAARBETRIN SR T AU ERA For financial instruments which are transacted at fair
BEHEERTAERGARBTEAAE value and a valuation technique that unobservable
MEELREMS  HEAESERE N inputs is to be used to measure fair value in subsequent
FOBERRGEETENEREST FER periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so that at
A e initial recognition the results of the valuation technique

equals the transaction price.

AN B EREmME AR EFERIE In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
AABHEZHABBEIEREZEE REH A measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
HEH AR BETE2EEEBEDEASE based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair
158 - B2 RESE - HillwT - value measurements are observable and the significance

of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its
entirety, which are described as follows:

o F1IEGASBEEERNF=H A o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
MBS HREEXBERERET active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
52 B (REHEE) the entity can access at the measurement date;

e ZFOHWAHBENEAEXAGBEE e Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
SR B R 2 A SR (B15 included within Level 1, that are observable for the
ABENRERIN) 0 & asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o FIEHAHEBREEFXAGHNTH e Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the

R AR o asset or liability.
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Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
(including structured entities) controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

o has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases
when the Company loses control of the subsidiary.
Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary
acquired or disposed of during the year are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Company
gains control until the date when the Company ceases
to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to being their accounting
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the investee
and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give the
Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities
of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less
than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an
investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over
an investee, including:

(@) The contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting
rights.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the
Company’s profit or loss to the extent of dividends
received and receivables. The Company’s investments
in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any impairment.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which
is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair
values of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related
costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as
incurred.

Except for certain recognition exemptions, the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed must meet the
definitions of an asset and a liability in the Framework for
the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements
(replaced by the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting issued in October 2010).
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At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value, except that:

o deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or
liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements
are recognised and measured in accordance with
HKAS 12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee
Benefits respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to
share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree or share-based payment arrangements
of the Group entered into to replace share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree are
measured in accordance with HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment at the acquisition date (see
the accounting policy below);

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified
as held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5
Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations are measured in accordance with that
standard; and

° lease liabilities are recognised and measured at
the present value of the remaining lease payments
(as defined in HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases
were new leases at the acquisition date, except
for leases for which (a) the lease term ends
within 12 months of the acquisition date; or (b)
the underlying asset is of low value. Right-of-use
assets are recognised and measured at the same
amount as the relevant lease liabilities, adjusted
to reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of the
lease when compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair
value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest
in the acquiree (if any) over the net amount of the
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed
as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests
in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the
excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a
bargain purchase gain.
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Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event
of liquidation are initially measured at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the recognised
amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at
fair value.

When the consideration transferred by the Group
in a business combination includes a contingent
consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration
is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and
included as part of the consideration transferred in a
business combination. Changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that qualify as measurement
period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively.
Measurement period adjustments are adjustments
that arise from additional information obtained during
the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed
one year from the acquisition date) about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent
consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the contingent
consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent
reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration
that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured
to fair value at subsequent reporting dates, with the
corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or
loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the
date when the Group obtains control), and the resulting
gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss or
other comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts
arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the
acquisition date that have previously been recognised
in other comprehensive income and measured under
HKFRS 9 would be accounted for on the same basis as
would be required if the Group had disposed directly of
the previously held equity interest.
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If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which
the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional
amounts for the items for which the accounting is
incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
retrospectively during the measurement period
(see above), and additional assets or liabilities are
recognised, to reflect new information obtained about
facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition
date that, if known, would have affected the amounts
recognised at that date.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is
carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition
of the business (see the accounting policy above) less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units
(or group of cash-generating units) that is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, which
represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently when
there is indication that the unit may be impaired. For
goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period,
the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment before the end of that reporting period. If the
recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets on
a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit (or group of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or
any of the cash-generating unit within the group
of cashgenerating units, the attributable amount of
goodwill is included in the determination of the amount
of profit or loss on disposal. When the Group disposes
of an operation within the cash-generating unit (or a
cashgenerating unit within a group of cash-generating
units), the amount of goodwill disposed of is measured
on the basis of the relative values of the operation
(or the cash-generating unit) disposed of and the
portion of the cash-generating unit (or the group of
cash-generating units) retained.
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Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

° the Group’s performance creates and enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct good
or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not
yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in
accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.
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A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a
contract are accounted for an presented on a net basis.

Revenue from the processing and sales of fertiliser,
magnesium products and metallurgical flux is
recognised at a point in time when control of the
products has transferred, being at the point the
products are delivered to the customer and the
customer has accepted the products, and there is no
unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customer’s
acceptance of the products. Delivery occurs when
the products have been shipped to the specified
location, the risks of obsolescence and loss have been
transferred to the customer, and either the customer
has accepted the products in accordance with the
sales contract, the acceptance provisions have lapsed,
or the Group has objective evidence that all criteria for
acceptance have been satisfied.

Revenue from these sales is recognised based on the
price specified in the contract, net of discounts, returns
and value added taxes.

A receivable is recognised when the products are
delivered and the customers accept the products,
as this is the point in time that the consideration is
unconditional because only the passage of time is
required before the payment is due.
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Government Grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will
be received.

Government grants related to income that become
receivable as compensation for expenses or losses
already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they become receivable. Such grants are
presented under “other gains or losses, net”.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment, are tangible assets
that are held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services, or for administrative purposes (other
than construction in progress), are stated at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses.

Costs include any costs directly attributable to bringing
the asset to the location and condition necessary for it
to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs
capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting
policy. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis
as other property assets, commences when the assets
are ready for their intended use.

Construction in progress includes property, plant and
equipment in the course of construction for production
or for its own use purposes. Construction in progress
is carried at cost less any recognised impairment loss.
Construction in progress is classified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation
of these assets, on the same basis as other property
assets, commences when the assets are ready for their
intended use.
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When the Group makes payments for ownership
interests of properties which includes both leasehold
land and building elements, the entire consideration is
allocated between the leasehold land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values at initial
recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments
can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is
accounted for as an operating lease is presented as
“right-of-use assets” in the consolidated statement of
financial position. When the consideration cannot be
allocated reliably between non-lease building element
and undivided interest in the underlying leasehold land,
the entire properties are classified as property, plant
and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of assets less their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is
included in profit or loss in the period in which the item
is derecognised.
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Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and for capital appreciation.

Investment proper ties are initially measured at
cost, including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
investment properties over their estimated useful lives
and after taking into account of their estimated residual
value, using the straight-line method.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal
or when the investment property is permanently
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits
are expected from its disposal. A leased property which
is recognised as a right-of-use asset is derecognised
if the Group as intermediate lessor classifies the
sublease as a finance lease. Any gain or loss arising
on derecognition of the property (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss
in the period in which the property is derecognised.
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Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from
business combinations on or after the date of initial
application, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date,
as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
For a contract that contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative standalone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components, including contract for acquisition of
ownership interests of a property which includes both
leasehold land and non-lease building components,
unless such allocation cannot be made reliably.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate
non-lease components from lease component, and
instead account for the lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease
component.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of machinery and equipment
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. It also applies the recognition exemption
for lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or
another systematic basis over the lease term.
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Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

° any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required
by the terms and conditions of the lease, unless
those costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated
useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) and initially
measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at that
date. In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in
the lease is not readily determinable.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the
lease liability comprise:

o fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index
or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at
the commencement date;

o the amount expected to be payable by the lessee
under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of purchase options, if the
lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the
options; and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if
the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to
terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.
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The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change
in the assessment of exercise of a purchase
option, in which case the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the date
of reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes in
market rental rates following a market rent review/
expected payment under a guaranteed residual
value, in which cases the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications

Except for Covid-19-related rent concessions in which
the Group applied the practical expedient, the Group
accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

o the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as
a separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease
liability based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified contract
contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price
of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone
price of the non-lease components.
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Changes in the basis for determining the future
lease payments as a result of interest rate
benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the future
lease payments as a result of interest rate benchmark
reform, the Group applies the practical expedient to
remeasure the lease liabilities by discounting the revised
lease payments using the unchanged discount rate
and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related
right-of-use assets. A lease modification is required by
interest rate benchmark reform if, and only if, both of
these conditions are met:

o the modification is necessary as a direct
consequence of interest rate benchmark reform;
and

° the new basis for determining the lease payments
is economically equivalent to the previous
basis (i.e. the basis immediately preceding the
modification).

Covid-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a direct
consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Group has
elected to apply the practical expedient not to assess
whether the change is a lease modification if all of the
following conditions are met:

° the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially the
same as, or less than, the consideration for the
lease immediately preceding the change;

o any reduction in lease payments affects only
payments originally due on or before 30 June
2021; and

° there is no substantive change to other terms and
conditions of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts
for changes in lease payments resulting from rent
concessions the same way it would account for the
changes applying HKFRS 16 if the changes are not
a lease modification. Forgiveness or waiver of lease
payments are accounted for as variable lease payments.
The related lease liabilities are adjusted to reflect the
amounts forgiven or waived with a corresponding
adjustment recognised in the profit or loss in the period
in which the event occurs.
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Intangible Assets

Intangible Assets Acquired in a Business Combination
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date
(which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets with
finite useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives
is provided on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. Alternatively, assets with indefinite
useful lives are carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal,
or when no future economic benefits are expected
from use or disposal. Gains and losses arising from
derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or
loss when the asset is derecognised.

Technical Know-how

Expenditure on acquired technical know-how is
capitalised and amortised using the straight-line method
over its estimated useful life of 3 to 5 years, from the
date when the technical know-how is available for use.

Trademark
Trademarks are shown at historical cost. Trademarks
acquired in a business combination are recognised at
fair value at the acquisition date and the useful lives are
accessed to be indefinite as the license can be renewed
at little cost.

Patent

Expenditure on acquired patent is capitalised and
amortised using the straight-line method over its
estimated useful life of 9 to 16 years, from the date
when the patent is available for use.

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful
lives are assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion
that the useful life of an intangible asset is indefinite
is reviewed annually to determine whether events and
circumstances continue to support the indefinite useful
life assessment for that asset. If they do not, the change
in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is
accounted for prospectively from the date of change
and in accordance with the policy for amortisation of
intangible assets with finite lives as set out above.
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Club membership

Club membership are shown at historical cost. Club
membership acquired in a business combination are
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date and are
not amortised as their useful lives are assessed to be
indefinite and subject to annualised impairment review.

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, and
intangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets
with finite useful lives to determine whether there is
any indication that these assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss
(if any). Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and
intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for
impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an
indication that they may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, and intangible assets
are estimated individually. When it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount individually,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant
cash-generating unit when a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of cash generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be established. The recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units to which the corporate asset
belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount
of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units.
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Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot
be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis
to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the
carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units,
including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group
of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount
of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit or the group of cash-generating units. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest
of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable),
its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount
of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other
assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit
or a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating
units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Mining Rights

Mining rights, including transferred exploration and
evaluation assets, are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses. The mining
rights are amortised on the production quantities over
the total estimated mineral reserve. Mining rights are
written off to the profit or loss if the mining property is
abandoned.

Foreign Currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recorded in the functional currency (i.e. the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates) at the rates of exchange prevailing at the
dates of the transactions.

At the end of each reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items
carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the
date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the translation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise. Exchange differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value,
are included in profit or loss for the period.
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For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
foreign operations are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) at the rates of
exchange prevailing at the end of the reporting period.
Income and expenses are translated at the average
exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during the period, in which
case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising,
if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity (i.e. the translation reserve)
(attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or
a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation, a disposal involving
loss of joint control over jointly controlled entity that
includes a foreign operation, or a disposal involving
loss of significant influence over an associate that
includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a
subsidiary that does not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of
accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to
non-controlling interests and are not recognised in profit
or loss.
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Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period
of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets, until such time as
the assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.

Retirement Benefit Costs

Pension Schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its employees.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit
or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The Group also operates a defined contribution staff
retirement scheme registered under the Occupational
Retirement Schemes Ordinance (the “ORSO Scheme”)
for its employees (including certain directors), the assets
of which are held separately from those of the Group in
an independently administered fund. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the eligible employees’
basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the
ORSO Scheme. When an employee leaves the ORSO
Scheme prior to his/her interest in the Group’s employer
contributions vesting fully, the ongoing contributions
payable by the Group may be reduced by the relevant
amount of forfeited contributions.
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The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Mainland China are required to participate
in a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. These subsidiaries are required
to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll costs
to the central pension scheme. The contributions are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the central pension
scheme.

Payments to defined contribution retirement plans are
charged as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprises of
cash in hand and demand deposits, and short term
highly liquid investments which are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and which are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a
short maturity of generally within three months when
acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management.

Share-based Payment Transactions

Share Options Granted to Employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the
fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based
payments determined at the grant date without
taking into consideration all non-market vesting
conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate
of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a
corresponding increase in equity (share-based payments
reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments
expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant
non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the
revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in
profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects
the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment
to the share-based payments reserve.
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When the share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options
are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
retained earnings.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because it excludes items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in
other years, and it further excludes items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the financial statements and the corresponding tax
base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred
tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary difference to
the extent that is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than
in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities
in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor
the accounting profit.
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Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments and interests are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse
in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset
to be recovered.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which liability is settled or the asset is realised, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and
assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow
from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end
of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group
applies HKAS 12 Income Taxes requirements to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately.
Temporary differences on initial recognition of the
relevant right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
are not recognised due to application of the initial
recognition exemption. Temporary differences
arising from subsequent revision to the carrying
amounts of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities,
resulting from remeasurement of lease liabilities and
lease modifications, that are not subject to initial
recognition exemption are recognised on the date of
remeasurement or modification.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the
same taxation authority. Current and deferred tax is
recognised in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. In the case of work in progress and
finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour
and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Cost is
calculated using the weighted average method. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price
for inventories less all estimated costs of completion
and costs necessary to make sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases
or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at
FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial
liability and of allocating interest income and interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate,
a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash
flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”):

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of a financial
asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment
in other comprehensive income if that equity investment
is neither held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to
which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.
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A financial asset is held for trading if:

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument. In addition, the
Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that are required to be measured at the amortised
cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so
eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch.

()  Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income
is calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no
longer credit impaired.
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(i)  Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period, with any
fair value gains or losses recognised in profit or
loss.

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected
credit loss (“ECL”) on financial assets which are subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount
of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
(“12m ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case, the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increases
in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.
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Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations

[rrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

127



128

tHaEEREEZERER AT Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited

87} 55 ¥ 2R Bf 5

Notes to the Financial Statements

HZE2021F12A31H LFE
For the year ended 31 December 2021

(i)

AEBEEHERARBARNEER
Py ﬁ%“ﬁ%ﬂ#%ﬁﬁﬁ
W 1E S 2 AR A B 15 1
EACESRAR A BRNEERR
MEERR-

BT E
RAMEERREEMS - A&
BRI BRRESHEERAR

BATAKAERBENEERA (B
ERAKE R AEERREELH
REF(TERAKEFANEME
Ham)

Nam Lo - REBERE B
TREEBHBRIOKRE  EHE
KEE BRIASEAFSEER
BENEE ARBHEFENE
HEEEESHE -

EREEMNEERE
EHERMEENTEASAKRRERA
THEEN—BRZREMFELR

TREEANZBLECEERE SRE
EEERENEREEBARUTE
1 & 7T B AR B

@ BITAXBRANEAFBR
5

b) ERAEH MBHOIABHEM

(c)  Hi I B2 A8 5K A B 75 IR 2 AE A A
REXEGHRA ERANE
RABERRAERARTERA
RAETE RINE BH R AF4E

d fERAEAESHREIETHE
b RER X

(ii)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk and revises
them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion
is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events of default that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence
that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

(¢) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted
to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or
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(e) the disappearance of an active market for
that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings,
whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written
off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking
into account legal advice where appropriate. A
write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or
loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e.
the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL
reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted
amount that is determined with the respective
risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is
required to make payments only in the event of a
default by the debtor in accordance with the terms
of the instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly,
the ECL is the present value of the expected
payments to reimburse the holder for a credit loss
that it incurs less any amounts that the Group
expects to receive from the holder, the debtor or
any other party.
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For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which
the effective interest rate cannot be determined,
the Group will apply a discount rate that reflects
the current market assessment of the time value of
money and the risks that are specific to the cash
flows but only if, and to the extent that, the risks
are taken into account by adjusting the discount
rate instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls being
discounted.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status;

° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

° External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue
to share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case interest
income is calculated based on amortised cost of the
financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception for trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.
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Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers
nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the
asset and an associated liability for amounts it may
have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial
asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial
asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for
the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method or at
FVTPL.
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Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the
financial liability is (i) contingent consideration of an
acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3
applies, (i) held for trading or (iii) it is designated as at
FVTPL.

A financial liability is held for trading if:

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
repurchasing it in the near term; or

on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

it is a derivative, except for a derivative that is a
financial guarantee contract or a designated and
effective hedging instrument.

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for
trading or contingent consideration of an acquirer in a
business combination may be designated as at FVTPL
upon initial recognition if:

such designation eliminates or significantly reduces
a measurement or recognition inconsistency that
would otherwise arise; or

the financial liability forms part of a group of
financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which
is managed and its performance is evaluated on
a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s
documented risk management or investment
strategy, and information about the grouping is
provided internally on that basis; or

it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKFRS 9 permits the
entire combined contract to be designated as at
FVTPL.
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Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and bills payables, or
payables and accruals, lease liabilities, borrowings and
exchangeable bond.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor
fails to make payments when due in accordance with
the terms of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee
contract liabilities are measured initially at their fair
values. It is subsequently measured at the higher of:

o the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and

o the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised
over the guarantee period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.
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Related Parties Transactions
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(1

or

@

A person or a close member of that person’s
family is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of the
Group.

The party is an entity where any of the following
condition applies:

()  The entity and the Group are members of the
same group.

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or
fellow subsidiary of the other entity).

(i)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.
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(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group. If the
Group s itself such a plan, the sponsoring
employers of the post-employment benefit
plan.

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (1).

(vi) A person identified in (1)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity).

(viiiy the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity and include:

(@) that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;

(o) children of that person’s spouse or domestic
partner; and

(¢) dependants of that person or that person’s spouse
or domestic partner.

A transaction is considered to be a related party
transaction when there is a transfer of resources or
obligations between related parties.
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Segment Reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the consolidated financial
statements, are identified from the financial information
provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of allocating resources
to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s
various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type
or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature of
the regulatory environment. Operating segments which
are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies
which are described in Note 3, the directors of the
Company are required to make judgments, estimates
and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that
are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.
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Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year.

(a) Estimated Impairment of Right-of-use
Assets, Property, Plant and Equipment and
Intangible Assets
The Group evaluates whether right-of-use assets,
property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets have suffered any impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount of the assets may not be
recoverable, in accordance with the accounting
policy stated in Note 3. The recoverable amounts
of CGUs represent the higher of the asset’s
fair value less costs to sell or its value-in-use.
The calculations of fair value less costs to sell
or value-in-use require the use of estimates. As
at 31 December 2021, the carrying amounts of
right-of-use assets, property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets subject to impairment
assessment were approximately HK$232,958,000
(2020: HK$296,330,000), HK$3,408,172,000
(2020: HK$3,693,366,000) and HK$291,125,000
(2020: HK$366,511,000) respectively after
taking into account the impairment losses
of approximately HK$59,215,000 (2020:
HKS$NIl), HK$696,034,000 (2020: HK$NIl) and
HK$80,362,000 (2020: HKS$NIl) in respect of
right-of-use assets, property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets that have been recognised
respectively.

Details of the impairment of right-of-use assets,
property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets are disclosed in Notes 22.
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(b) Estimated Useful Lives of Right-of-use Assets,

(c)

Property, Plant and Equipment, Intangible
Assets and Mining Rights

The Group’s management determines the
estimated useful lives and related depreciation/
amortisation charges for its right-of-use
assets, property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets. This estimate is based on
the historical experience of the actual useful
lives of right-of-use assets, property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets of similar
nature and functions and the mineral reserve
determined by independent technical adviser. It
could change significantly as a result of technical
innovations and competitor actions in response
to market conditions. Management will increase
the depreciation/amortisation charge where useful
lives are less than previously estimated lives, or it
will write-off or write-down technically obsolete or
non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or
sold.

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and
2020, the Group did not change the estimated
useful lives of right-of-use assets, property, plant
and equipment, intangible assets and mining
rights.

Income Tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in several
jurisdictions. There are certain transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination may be uncertain. The Group
recognises liabilities for anticipated tax issues
based on estimates of whether additional taxes
will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the
current and deferred tax provisions in the period in
which such determination is made.
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(d) Provision for Expected Credit Losses on

Trade and Bills Receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate
ECLs for trade receivables. The provision rates are
based on days past due for groupings of various
customer segments that have similar loss patterns
(i.e., by geography, product type, customer type
and rating, and coverage by letters of credit and
other forms of credit insurance).

The provision matrix is initially based on the
Group’s historical observed default rates.
The Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust
the historical credit loss experience with
forward-looking information. For instance, if
forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic
products) are expected to deteriorate over the next
year which can lead to an increased number of
defaults in the manufacturing sector, the historical
default rates are adjusted. At each reporting date,
the historical observed default rates are updated
and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic
conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate.
The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in
circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group’s historical credit loss experience and
forecast of economic conditions may also not be
representative of customer’s actual default in the
future. The information about the ECLs on the
Group’s trade receivables is disclosed in notes 5
and 26 to the financial statements.
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5. #MTITAH 5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a) BT RS (a) Categories of Financial Instruments
2021 2020
F#& T BT
HK$’000 HK$'000
EtWMEE Financial assets
HEHEKATEN Financial assets measured at
STREE amortised cost 561,627 769,565
BARBEFAERRN Financial assets at fair value
SREE through profit or loss 3,906 8,737
565,533 778,302
SRAE Financial liabilities
B R Amortised cost 2,966,869 2,735,511
(b) MEREBEEHEREF (b) Financial Risk Management Objectives

AEENTZSRIABRERAA
Bt ABEHRATAR -ZEH5EK
RIE N EWEE - iR RIE
Be  RERTER ROLRESE
- EHENFIBAREMNEE - B
ERAMHEMENRIE HEAGBGRK
B8 - &5 T B 51550 A8 B8 B 5 5
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?‘EM\EHA ﬂ?ﬂ - HAb B E

1;% /}|L@J§iﬂ|@°1%—r
%JzﬁlJZZDH%%HEZ%HBﬁE’\JE& N
SENERBREREEGFEHAZERND
AEANERTSEMSRERIEE
i@ﬁ%{ﬁiﬁ’%lﬁﬂ%i‘%fﬁﬁﬁéi‘ﬁma
ETNZE

and Policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
equity instruments on fair value through profit or
loss, trade and bills receivables, other receivables,
deposits, long-term bank deposits, bank and cash
balances, trade and bills payables, accruals and
other payables, lease liabilities and borrowings.
Details of the financial instruments are disclosed in
respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments include foreign exchange
risk, interest rate risk, other price risk, credit risk
and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate
these risks are set out below. The Group’s
overall risk management programme focus on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance.
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Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group does not have significant
exposures to foreign currency risk as most
of its business transactions, assets and
liabilities are principally denominated in
the functional currencies of the respective
subsidiaries. The Group currently does not
have a foreign currency hedging policy in
respect of foreign currency transactions,
assets and liabilities. The Group will monitor
its significant foreign currency exposure
and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

Interest Rate Risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest
rate risk in relation to pledged bank
deposits, bank and cash balances and
fixed-rate borrowings (see Notes 28 and 32
respectively for details).

As management considers the Group’s
exposure to the above fair value interest rate
risk is not significant, no interest rate swaps
or other hedging activities are undertaken by
management during the year.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow
interest rate risk in relation to bank balances
and variable-rate borrowings carried at
prevailing market rate. However, such
exposure is minimal to the Group as the
bank balances are all short-term in nature.

Sensitivity Analysis

If interest rates on variable-rate borrowings
as at 31 December 2021 had been 10
basis points (0.1% per annum) (2020: 10
basis points) higher/lower than the actual
effective interest rate, the Group’s post-tax
loss for the year would increase/decrease by
approximately HK$754,000 (2020: post tax
profit for the year would decrease/increase
by approximately HK$744,000).
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(iii) R {51 M BE

(iv)
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(iii) Other Price Risk

(iv)

The Group is exposed to equity price risk
through its investments in listed equity
securities in Australia. The management
manages this exposure by maintaining a
portfolio of investments with different risks.
The Group’s other price risk is mainly
concentrated on equity instruments listed in
the Australia.

Sensitivity Analysis

The sensitivity analysis below have been
determined based on the exposure to equity
price risks at the reporting date.

If the prices of respective instruments
has been 10% (2020: 10%) higher/
lower, the Group’s post-tax loss or other
comprehensive income for the year would
decrease/increase by approximately
HK$391,000 (2020: post-tax loss or
other comprehensive income for the year
would decrease/increase by approximately
HK$874,000).

Credit Risk

The Group trades only with recognised
and creditworthy third parties. It is the
Group’s policy that all customers who wish
to trade on credit terms are subject to
credit verification procedures. In addition,
receivable balances are monitored on an
ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to
bad debts is not significant. For transactions
that are not denominated in the functional
currency of the relevant operating unit, the
Group does not offer credit terms without
the specific approval of the Head of Credit
Control.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as
at 31 December 2021 and 2020.
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The table below shows the credit quality
and the maximum exposure to credit risk
based on the Group’s credit policy, which
is mainly based on past due information
and forward looking information such as
economic condition, unless other information
is available without undue cost or effort,
and year-end staging classification as at 31
December 2021 and 2020. The amounts
presented are gross carrying amounts for
financial assets and the exposure to credit
risk for the financial guarantee contracts.

B ZEWHE Trade receivables
FEHEEE REAE EBREES
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
FExT FExT
HK$’000 HK$’000
202112 H31H As at 31 December 2021
BVER (R ER) Current (not past due) 9.99% 432,733 43,263
BHEATNZ 1 Not more than
1 year past due 100% 309,357 309,357
742,090 352,620
TEHES 1 = FEAE BERE
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
FHET FAT
HK$’'000 HK$’000
2020412318 As at 31 December 2020
BNER (R HR) Current (not past due) 5.28% 547,250 28,912
BMETNZ 1 F Not more than
1 year past due 100% 143,708 143,708
690,958 172,620
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BE KA M ER AR

R2021F12H31H As at 31 December 2021
BN ER Current

Deposit and other receivables

FHERE KREAE HBEES

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance

TERT TERT
HK$’000 HK$’000

1.82% 59,864 1,089

202012 A31H As at 31 December 2020
B HA Current

BHEBEEX KEAE BREE

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance

TAET TAET
HK$'000  HK$'000

1.82% 71,109 1,291

EREWREZEBEUARESEER
HeBEHZEERBANRRK S
5 AEMEZRITH IR AKE
B-RERXGH A EBELE
BN -FEit MW EE KR
RezBHEEBBERETG
AR E B 20214 K20204F

12 A31 8 I £ 1 H #4E -

AEEERERAREERY
ME=ZTETRD -AEEW
BRZMAMAGEEGRRIER

SHHEPARXEERERRF

o AREEHAEEERK

+
#EER o

RAEEEMEREE (BFER
eRERBRESER)MELZE
ERRmE  AEEERETE
REFMABMHNEERRE
R TAERHE T EAR RITFE
EG mAKEEHTEE
ZEBBORDERR R

HIB el REREX -

In respect of bills receivables and cash and
cash equivalents, the credit risk is considered
to be low as the counterparties are reputable
banks. The existing counterparties do
not have defaults in the past. Therefore,
expected credit loss rate of bills receivables
and cash at bank is assessed to be close
to zero and no provision was made as of 31
December 2021 and 2020.

The Group trades only with recognised,
creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s
policy that all customers who wish to
trade on credit terms are subject to
credit verification procedures. In addition,
receivable balances are monitored on an
ongoing basis.

With respect to credit risk arising from the
other financial assets of the Group which
comprise cash and cash equivalents, the
Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from
default of the counterparties is limited as the
counterparties have good credit standing
and the Group does not expect to incur
significant loss for unallocated advances/
receivable/deposits from these entities.
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The Group has no significant concentrations
of credit risk. It has policies in place to
ensure that sales of goods are made to
customers with an appropriate credit history.
The Group’s deposits with bank and deposits
placed with financial institutions are placed
in high quality financial institutions without
significant exposure to credit risk.

The directors consider that there is no
significant credit risk in respect of the
Group’s deposits with banks and deposits
placed with financial institutions and bills
receivable as the financial institutions have
no record of default payment.

Further quantitative data in respect of the
Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from
trade receivables and other receivable and
deposits are disclosed in Notes 26 and 27
respectively to the financial statements.

Financial guarantee contracts

At the end of the reporting period, the
management has performed impairment
assessment, and concluded that there
has been no significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition of the financial
guarantee contracts. Accordingly, the loss
allowance for financial guarantee contracts
issued by the Group is measured at an
amount equal to 12-months ECL. The Group
recognised allowance of approximately
HK$250,000 in the profit or loss. Details of
the financial guarantee contracts are set out
in note 30.

Liquidity Risk

The table below analyses the maturity
profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as
the end of the reporting period based on
the contractual undiscounted payments.
Specially, borrowings with repayment
on demand clause and amounts being
demanded by the creditors for immediate
repayment are included in the earliest time
band.
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20214 2021
AHRRER
Undiscounted cashflow
mETLY RERY AR
[ Hilk —EHT —ENE EA L] BEE
Weighted
average  On demand Total
effective  or less than Over undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year 1year cash flows amount
TER TARL TARL TARL
% HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
ZHEMNFERENZE  Trade and bil payables - 180,807 - 180,807 180,807
st ERAREMEMNZIE  Accruals and other payables - 584,985 48,789 633,774 633,774
MEEE Lease liabilities 6.98 802 9,398 10,200 6,214
BE Borrowings 9.86 2,257,849 - 2,257,849 2,146,074
3,024,443 58,187 3,082,630 2,966,869
20204 2020
AERRER
Undiscounted cashflow
Mg REXY, AERR
EIRF= —EH)T —EE enidsE REE
Weighted
average On demand Total
effective or less than Over  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year 1 year cash flows amount
TAT TAT THR TAn
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ZHEMNTERENZE  Trade and bil payables - 250,061 - 250,061 250,061
st ERREMEMNZIE  Accruals and other payables - 290,206 47907 338,113 338,113
HEEE Lease liabilities 6.98 945 9,904 10,849 6,548
EE Borrowings 9.68 1,945,295 264,251 2,209,546 2,140,789
2,486,507 322,062 2,808,569 2,735,511
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(c) Fair Value Measurements
This note provides information about how the
Group determines fair values of various financial
assets and financial liabilities.

(i)  Fair value of the Group'’s financial assets
and financial liabilities that are measured
at fair value on a recurring basis
Some of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period.
The following table gives information about
how the fair values of these financial assets
and financial liabilities are determined (in
particular, the valuation technique(s) and
inputs used).

RATBEHAAE
Fair value as at
SREE 2021512A31A 2020512A31H DAERY HEFEARIEBAHE
Fair value  Valuation techniques
Financial assets 31 December 2021 31 December 2020 hierarchy  and key inputs
BRAAEAREZ  REBRIM EHRA REBRING EHRR 18 ERMHMREAE
RATE (Mzr24) &% : 3,906,000 &% : 8,737,000
Equity instrument at fair  Listed equity securities Listed equity securities Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an
value through profit or ~ outside Hong Kong: outside Hong Kong: active market
loss (Note 24) HK$3,906,000 HK$8,737,000
EHER 2021512f31H 2020F12A31A DAERE HESEREIERAHE
Fair value  Valuation techniques
Financial liabilities 31 December 2021 31 December 2020 hierarchy and key inputs
fTEeBAB(HE0) BHERBEHE EERBHE $38 “EATERE
18,0005 7T 11,923,000 (%® : 21.29%)
Derivative financial Call option in Hong Kong Call option in Hong Kong Level 3 Binomial pricing model
liabilities (Note 30) HK$18,000 HK$11,923,000 (Volatility: 21.29%)

M EFEALE|AEFEIE B2
BRERCHMBERE -

There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2
and 3 in both years.
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RIRE AT B AR (5
B AABARZEBMITA

Reconciliation for financial instruments
carried at fair value based on significant

HERMT unobservable input (level 3) is as follows:
2021 2020
FET TAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
M1A1H As at 1 January 11,923 11,310
ARaE M) & Fair value (gain)/loss (11,905) 613
MW12H31H As at 31 December 18 11,923
RSB T Sensitivity Analysis

i 8 EF T BE% - BISTAE
S EEE 2 REAEKE 1,000
7 7T (20204 : 596,000/ 7T)
R 41,0007 JT (20204
596,000/ 7T) °

(ii) HHFRBEEZEBEZLRE (ii)
HENZKELHBEER LM
REHRAE
EERR RNEAMHHmRE
AHNEREENEBABNRK
HEREQXAERE -

If the volatility increase/decrease by 5%,
the carrying value of the derivative financial
liabilities will increase by HK$1,000 (2020:
HK$596,000) or decrease by HK$1,000
(2020: HK$596,000).

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets
and financial liabilities that are not
measured at fair value on recurring basis
The directors consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial
liabilities recognised in the consolidated
financial statements approximately their fair
values.
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CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing
ratio. This ratio is calculated as total borrowings and
exchangeable bonds divided by total assets as shown
in the consolidated statement of financial position.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group’s
strategy is to maintain a gearing ratio within 50%. The
gearing ratios at 31 December 2021 and 2020 were as
follows:

2021 2020
F#& T FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
fEEERE Total borrowings 2,146,074 2,140,789
BEEBE Total assets 5,910,461 6,934,475
BELX Gearing ratio 36.3% 30.9%
KA 7. REVENUE
AREBTENRESELPRER SEELE The Group is principally engaged in fertiliser business,
BRIRIETBIER REBRFARNZUIA magnesium product business and metallurgical flux
DT ¢ business. An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the
year is as follows:
2021 2020
F#& T FH&T
HK$’000 HK$’000
REEEFZ2E&HNE Revenue from contract with
customers
HEREERER Sales of fertiliser products 904,013 1,378,985
HEEESR Sales of magnesium products 416,060 744,836
5 1R 5 S B E S Sales of metallurgical flux products 11,785 27,990
1,331,858 2,151,811
W mREE Timing of revenue recognition:
— {[E 5 D B A point in time 1,331,858 2,151,811
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8.

SEHEHE 8. SEGMENT INFORMATION
RERHERE RS HER A ARNDTITHR Information reported to the Company’s Chief Executive
BEH(FELEERRE)RE2EHAER Officer, being the chief operating decision maker, for
R o NEBERIES BB SIS R the purposes of resource allocation and assessment
FOFE L N AIRMERN D EBAT ¢ of segment performance focuses on the operating
divisions. The Group’s operating and reportable
segments under HKFRS 8 are therefore as follows:
- EBEEPEMERB - Fertiliser business
- BEREB - Magnesium product business
S A E - Metallurgical flux business
BRAAREB Z A REDBERNRTXER ° Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments
is presented below.
DEBAR KR Segment Revenue and Results
AREFZAHREDIE D 2 MAREE D The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and
M o results by reportable segments.
B ZE2021F12A31BILFE - For the year ended 31 December 2021:
BEERER EEMER RBBEEYR ait
Magnesium Metallurgical
Fertiliser product flux
business business business Total
TERT TERT TER TERT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
A Segment revenue 904,013 416,060 12,377 1,332,450
7 EBEHBA Inter-segment revenue - - (592) (592)
RESBEFHMA  Revenue from external customers 904,013 416,060 11,785 1,331,858
DEEE Segment results (739,221) (256,125) (42,809) (1,038,155)
HiFasEa Other gain or losses, net 6,482
BBRERAGEARE Change in fair value of financial
& guarantee liabilities (250)
RRITHER Central administrative costs (27,483)
PKEH Finance costs (200,301)
BRETER AR Loss before income tax (1,259,707)
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For the year ended 31 December 2020:

BEERER BEMRER BREARHES Bt
Magnesium  Metallurgical
Fertiliser product flux
business business business Total
TAEL FABL FTAEL AT
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
DEBA Segment revenue 1,378,985 744,836 29,250 2,153,071
2 EP U A Inter-segment revenue - - (1,260) (1,260
KEINBEFHBA Revenue from external customers 1,378,985 744,836 27,990 2,151,811
DEEE Segment results (730,385) 30,409 21,061 (678,915)
Hip FU S g8 Other gain or losses, net (736)
UBERABAAE Change in fair value of financial
& guarantee liabilities 48,132
RRITHER Central administrative costs (116,963)
B %& R Finance costs (179,501)
B P75 150 Al 5 18 Loss before income tax (927,983)

EX 22D EBARINBEPFREE Z
WA > 2 EBER 5 IR R FIRRNETL o

ARENHCEHBRREAEE @K
- DA EERN L | B RITERE
B(BREFHFM FTHMFREXE
B ERMERBEZIAABEHRUBE
RIBATESMEBE WLBRAETES
BRREB|EAPFEREER M EDH
RBEZIA

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue
generated from external customers. Inter-segment
transactions are entered into at arm's length.

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are
the same as the Group’s accounting policies. Segment
results represent the results from each segment without
allocation of central administrative costs including
directors’ emoluments, certain net other gains or losses,
change in fair value of financial guarantee liabilities, and
finance costs. This is the measure reported to the chief
operating decision maker for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance.
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PEEERER Segment Assets and Liabilities
MR2021F12A31B ZHBEERABEME The segment assets and liabilities as at 31 December
EZBIEFEZERMTIRAME D E0E 2021 and capital expenditure for the year then ended
DT by reportable segments are as follows:
BX RA
BREE  EERER BEEK AHEH KR ait
Magnesium
Fertiliser product Metallurgical Total
business business flux business segment  Unallocated Total

TRT TEx TRz TRR TRT TER
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000

PHEE Segment assets 2,515,192 2,476,167 597,355 5,588,714 321,747 5,910,461
PHEE Segment liabilities 1,361,202 711,719 170,331 2,243,252 1,203,190 3,446,442
BREY Capital expenditure 288,082 207,694 10,886 506,662 - 506,662
MR2020F12A31 B 2 D EEER B EME The segment assets and liabilities as at 31 December
EZBEFEZEARTIZREDIHE 2020 and capital expenditure for the year then ended
DWW - by reportable segments are as follows:
B2 3
EHEH  BEREH REXHK AHAE AR CH
Magnesium
Fertiliser product  Metallurgical Total
business business  flux business segment Unallocated Total

TAL TR TR TR TAL TAL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AHRE Segment assets 3304296 261,659 626426 6,592,381 342094 6,934,475

=
B
iy
T

Segment liabilities 1,418,900 650,951 171,970 2,241,821 1,105,656 3,347 477

BREY Capital expenditure 502,666 127,243 10,514 640,423 220 640,643
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For the purposes of monitoring segment performance
and allocating resources between segments:

- all assets are allocated to reportable segments
other than assets classified as held for sale, bank
and cash balances and other assets for corporate
use;

- all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments
other than exchangeable bonds, certain
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=0 H borrowings for corporate use and certain other
payables.
Rt 7 BEH Other Segment Information
B E2021F12 A1 AL FE - For the year ended 31 December 2021:
BEREREH HEREE FEGHER KR ait
Magnesium
Fertiliser product Metallurgical
business business flux business  Unallocated Total
THER THER ThEx THT THER
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000
mE BmERRENE (F3516)  Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment (note 16) 85,258 103,305 8,347 3,002 199,912
REMERE (f3517) Depreciation of investment property
(note 17) - - - 1,961 1,961
FREEENRE (Hi18) Depreciation of right-of-use assets
(note 18) 6,632 1,377 2,171 896 11,076
BYEERRBEEHE Amortisation of intangible assets and
(HisooR21) mining rights (note 20 and 21) - 4,900 2,244 - 7,144
EFRNZERAESERAE  Alowance/(Reversal of allowance) for
/ (BEER) (HE26) expected credit losses of trade
receivables (note 26) 121,707 53,308 (1,683) - 173,332
At ENFRRAEEER Allowance/(Reversal of allowance) for
Bi5/ (BEAE) (f7) expected credit losses of other
receivables (note 27) (157) (65) 1 - (221)
HENE HERFENRE  Gainondisposal of property, plant
and equipment (1,525) (5,052) - - (6,577)
BRAAEHABEZIRATIEZ  Loss on change in fair value of
MEEYER equity instruments at fair value
through profit or loss - - - 4,338 4,338
BAAEHABRZBRA Loss on disposal of equity instruments
TAZHERE at fair value through profit or loss - £ - 56 56
(T4 BEEEZ D AEYE  Fairvalue gain arising from derivative
financial liabilities - - - (11,905) (11,905)
FER(#e) /BY Income tex (credit)/expenses (12,062) 5,158 1,104 195 (5,605)
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HE2021F12A31HIEFE

For the year ended 31 December 2021

H 22020512831 H IFFE :

For the year ended 31 December 2020:

REEHZEE  BEREH RAKIEHR FAR GH
Magnesium
Fertiliser product  Metallurgical
business business  flux business Unallocated Total
THT FHL THT THT THEL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
NE BERRENE (Mi16)  Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment (note 16) 83,633 97,963 9,098 2,111 192,806
RAMERE (H3H17) Depreciation of investment property
(note 17) - - - 8,799 8,799
FREEENRE (M) Depreciation of right-of-use assets
(note 18) 6,731 1,273 2,085 2,641 12,730
ENEERABESE Amortisation of intangible assets and
(Mr20R21) mining rights (note 20 and 21) - 4775 6,946 - 11,721
BHEWFBRGBEEEBEEE  Net alowance for expected credit
#8 (Fi5H26) losses of trade receivables
(note 26) 146,306 1,649 4 . 148,021
BN ERSEERE Allowance/(Reversal of allowance) for
B/ (BRERE) (W27) expected credit losses of other
receivables (note 27) (818) 10 (1) - (809)
HENE HRERRZENER,/  Loss/(gan) on disposal of property,
() plant and equipment 9,278 (497) = = 8,781
BAREGFABHEZBRATIEZ  Loss on change in far value of equity
MrEEBER instruments at fair valus through
profit or loss - - = 45 45
TE4REEELZRAEBR  Fairvalue loss arising from derivative
financial liabilities - - - 613 613
FERES Income tax expenses 45,725 5,363 5,134 = 56,202
MEZH Geographical Information

HE20214 &2020F12A31H IEFE * &
EEFTZERFREERAEEEZRAY
REFRE - MKR2021812 831 H KX20204F
12A3818 ' A&EB KR D IERBEEHM
PR B o M I ER AN SR B i [m B )

BREEDN -

EFEEFFEH

B R A 220214 K2020F12A31H IEF
EtETNE-—FF2ERBRAEER
WAZI0% AT EEEEBEEFHNE

25 -

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020,
the Group mainly operated in the PRC and most of
the Group’s revenue are derived from the PRC and
most of non-current assets of the Group are located in
the PRC as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December
2020. No analysis of the Group’s result and assets by
geographical area is disclosed.

Information about Major Customers

No information about major customers is presented
as no single customer contributed over 10% of the
total revenue of the Group during the years ended 31
December 2021 and 2020.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

Httlr R SR B 9. OTHER GAINS OR LOSSES, NET
2021 2020
THET FATT
HK$’000 HK$’000
2 A Interest income 1,477 6,842
EYHE - HWEK&RED Net gain/(loss) on disposal of property,
Was (B18)F8 plant and equipment 6,577 (8,781)
BARBEFABRZEA Loss on change in fair value of equity
TAAREEHERE instruments at fair value through
profit or loss (4,338) (45)
BARBEFABRZIRATER Loss on disposal of equity instruments
ZEHEE at fair value through profit or loss (56) =
METBMBBEELEZARE Fair value gain/(loss) arising from
Was/ (E18) derivative financial liabilities 11,905 (613)
B 88 B (Bt &%) Government subsidy (note i) 1,414 22,516
3H & BE R Sale of scrap materials 25,528 30,290
HE WA Rental income 7,578 3,848
I A Sundry income 448 6,252
50,533 60,309
B &E - note:

HZE2021F12A31B L FE  AE B (i
REAR B B BT R AR TE 3T 8 A0 B

JiT 8 5% #954,0007 7T (20204 : 648,000

B REZBERPEBMNHLERE

£ 5%1,360,0005% st (20204F : 1,081,000

BIT) °

H Z=2020F12A31B L FE » AE B
RERETBEBNALEATR RRAR
5 B8 HY BT 48 B 919,020,000 7T © AN 4
ER BUHERNEEER#IZE2FA
A B H I o

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the
Group recognised government grant of approximately
HK$54,000 (2020: HK$648,000), which related to
Employee Support Scheme provided by the Hong Kong
government and HK$1,360,000 (2020: HK$1,081,000)
which mainly relates to social security contributions
subsidised by the PRC government.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the
Group recognised government grant of approximately
HK$19,020,000, which related to the relevant PRC
government for “Relocation of industries from City Urban
Area to Industrial Parks” by Shandong Hongri. The
subsidies were granted on a discretionary basis during
the year and the condition attached thereto were fully
complied with.
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B ZE2021F12831HILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2021

10. WEEH 10. FINANCE COSTS
2021 2020
F#E T FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTTREZEBEZFERX Interest expenses on listed
subordinated notes 51,549 45,545
BARRAFEALEEEZEER Interest on borrowings wholly
1.8 repayable within five years 148,313 133,486
HEAGBENFE Interest on lease liabilities 439 470
200,301 179,501
1. IS8R ER) BAxX 11. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE
REEEREERARNGEA) B EEEE - The amount of (credited)/charged to the consolidated

statement of profit or loss represents:

2021 2020
F#& T TFAT
HK$’000 HK$'000

BOERAFH IR - Current tax:
— B EMETR — PRC Enterprises Income Tax 14,965 35,901
AEFETH IR (M 7E34) Deferred taxation (Note 34) (20,570) 20,321

(5,605) 56,222




(a)

(b)

(c)

FEF R

MR2018F3HA21H BN EZE R
C217EH T (1BE]) (B75) B H &
=) ([EBIE=R]) - 5| AFES T =X
AR o B B % 8201893 A28 H
KEEBRBEE YRXBRE-R
BRERMEMAG  2EKESR
BREME2H BB Ui 45128.25%
B MiBBE2E 8B Tr R A A
1Z16.5% M - THFE FIB R EM
LHEMEBRERENZANGEERS
— R TAB.5%EF -

AEEEERAE MEHBEERR
FIEBEMS R BERE VB R
EMELTEKR - BAEFESHME
E1%16.5%H & ° #F2021412 531
BIEFE I EEMNTIE (20206 : T
BIL) RERYEREBELER
Fim F) o

AP RFR

R ERGHDIRE E2021F &
2020F12A31H L FERF B E £
2T ERBEF 225%E ©

B AT 1787
ARBITIRBFAEES R BEARHA
SHEETMKRLRERR2BRQAE
VR ERLARFASESREH -
ARBRRBRE BN ZHE
ARANBRERBRELESBEEREX
NI 33 gD VARI | 3 Eesk §
BRZEESMEN -

(a)

(b)

(c)
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HZE2021F12A31H L FE
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Hong Kong Profits Tax

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative
Council passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment)
(No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”) which introduces
the two-tiered profits tax rate regime. The Bill
was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and was
gazette on the following day. Under the two-tiered
profits tax rate regime, the first HK$2 million of
profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed
at 8.25% and profits tax above HK$2 million will
be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities
not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of
16.5%.

The directors of the Group considered the amount
involved upon implementation of the two-tiered
profits tax rate as insignificant to the consolidation
financial statement. Hong Kong Profits Tax is
calculated at 16.5% for both years. No tax is
payable for the year ended 31 December 2021
(2020: HK$NIl) since there were no assessable
profit generated in Hong Kong.

The PRC Enterprise Income Tax

The PRC Enterprise Income Tax is calculated at
25% on the estimated assessable profits arising in
the PRC for the years ended 31 December 2021
and 2020.

Overseas Income Tax

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Companies Law of Cayman
Islands and, accordingly, is exempted from
Cayman lIslands income tax. The Company’s
subsidiaries established in the British Virgin Islands
were incorporated under the International Business
Companies Act of the British Virgin Islands and,
are exempted from British Virgin Islands income
tax.
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The tax on the Group’s loss before income tax
differs from the theoretical amount that would
arise using a tax rate of 25%, the standard income
tax rate of the PRC enterprises, as follows:

2021 2020
TER FAEL
HK$’000 % HK$'000 %

FEMLER ZBBAT Loss before tax from continuing

BR operation (1,259,707) (927,983)
AR MBH I Z25% Tax charge at applicable

(2020%F : 25%) 5t & income tax rate of 25%

MBIAX I (2020: 25%) (314,927) 25 (231,996) 25
REMEERREKLH Effect of different tax rates of

WEARMTRME  subsidiaries operating in

A% other jurisdictions 15,689 (1.2) 11,259 (1.2)
BEBHHWA 2B  Tax effect of income not

e taxable for tax purpose (795) 0.1 (11,777) 1.3
R Mz S 2 HiHs  Tax effect of expenses not

TE deductible for tax purpose 263,620 (20.9) 251,113 27.1)
FREANABERL Utilisation of previous

WEEE unrecognised tax losses (3,572) 0.3 (2,066) 0.2
RER 2 EEHIEER  Tax effect of estimated tax

ks losses not recognised 34,380 (2.7) 39,689 (4.3)
% (He) /Fx  Income tax (credit)/expenses (5,605) 0.4 56,222 (6.1)

M2021FE12A31H » AEE KRHER
FRIEEE £91,012,993,0005% 7t (2020
F : 889,761,000/8 T ) A] 4 & A K
8 2R 2K =R 7 5 7 o £9614,881,000
7 7T (20204 : 491,649,000/ 7T) 2
MEBBEREEFEZIHFE
REET A 12 B HA - T 49398,112,000
7 7T (20204F : 398,112,000/ 7T) Z
MIEEENATERBLEE - AR
BAVEBRBZERB G ] ER
BAMNBEEBBEE NZEMRE
B8 2 IR E B TE R S W R R o

As at 31 December 2021, the Group has
unrecognised tax losses of approximately
HK$1,012,993,000 (2020: HK$889,761,000),
which can be carried forward to offset future
taxable profit. Tax losses of approximately
HK$614,881,000 (2020: HK$491,649,000) will
expire after five years from the year of assessment
they relate to while tax losses of approximately
HK$398,112,000 (2020: HK$398,112,000) can
be carried forward indefinitely. The deferred tax
benefit of such tax losses has not been recognised
as it is not considered probable that future taxable
profit will be available to utilise the unused tax
losses.
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HZE2021F12A31H L FE
For the year ended 31 December 2021

12. FABGIR 12. LOSS FOR THE YEAR

FABREHNR GIA) T B

Loss for the year has been arrived at after
charging/(crediting):

2021 2020
FHET TAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
TERFS Wages and salaries 110,865 141,615
AR A B/ 2~ 2 B8 ﬁ Share-based payment expenses 6,756 11,554
YN EREMEITCRRETEI Payment to defined contribution
(Bt 7xa) retirement plans (note a) 2,133 3,889
BEIXA(BIEESHM) Total staff costs (including
directors’” emoluments) 119,754 157,058
23 GIE=a Auditors’ remuneration
EZREZBBIE Audit and audit related work
- EE e EEER - HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
NG Limited 2,080 2,180
IEEZITIE Non-audit work
ﬁf SETE =T AR — HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
NE Limited - 764
P& N Depreciation and amortisation 220,093 226,056
HEDE - RE NZREN T Net (gain)/loss on disposal of property,
EEREY (W) EEBE%5E  plant and equipment and land use
rights (6,577) 8,781
BARBER AR 2K Loss on change in fair value of equity
TAZAREZTER instruments at fair value through
profit or loss 4,338 45
BEARBEFABRZ Loss on disposal of equity instruments
AT EZzEHERE at fair value through profit or loss 56 -
NMETMBEEECARE Fair value (gain)/loss arising from
(Wz) /K18 derivative financial liabilities (11,905) 613
ARG HE4EE 7 AR HE R S Equity-settled share option expenses 6,756 11,554
HRAERI 2FEKAR Cost of inventories recognised as an
expense 1,192,561 1,845,828
B EWZIEEREEEIE Allowance for expected credit losses
B 15 of trade receivables 282,707 158,376
Hip e IBIEHIZ EE I8 Allowance for expected credit losses
B 15 of other receivables 636 =
BOESRNGFEEHREE Reversal of allowance for expected
B R credit losses of trade receivables (109,375) (10,355)
BEHEMmEKRRIBEREER Reversal of allowance for expected
e credit losses of other receivables (857) (809)
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GEE

(a)

B R A & %Wﬂ%'$ilﬁﬁ¢l
B B[R — A BT & e R R IR
ZET B ERMRET S - RIFE K
FERE  NEBEZEEFH S H14%R %
M WABRFERRZIN AEHE
BERRERXNEZSHRKEREMN
ZEE -ZEBBFERORAKTEE
AERNEEBMNENEEZEEME-

zl&%lai%ﬁﬁ;‘%ﬁéiz?ﬁtﬂbu?ﬁﬁﬁ
T2 - aESFEBR EEENRAE
BUETAERE - BRIEAESTE ZJSE
ErXEEEREASARERIER
mﬁu;ﬂmz«@au&)\m%&ﬂms%ﬁ
B3R - B2014F6A1HR  "EBE K
1 B#HE 2z LR AS A1,5008 7T °

HE2021F12A31BILFE A& E
Mt BEZSHEFEENERETLRLD
2,133,000/ jt (20204 : 3,889,000/8
JC) ° 202112 4318 » N5 B W & #
FESEMZRERABR B AREH
KRB (2020F : TH L) ©

note:

As stipulated by rules and regulations in the PRC, the
Group contributes to a state-sponsored retirement
plan for its employees in the PRC, which is a defined
contribution plan. The Group contributes approximately
14% of the employees’ salary as specified by the local
government, and the Group has no future obligations
for the actual payment of pensions or post-retirement
benefits beyond the annual contributions. The state
sponsored retirement plan is responsible for the entire
pension obligations to retired employees.

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees
to join the MPF Scheme, a defined contribution scheme
managed by an independent trustee. Under the
MPF Scheme, each of the Group and its Hong Kong
employees make monthly contributions to the scheme
at 5% of the employees’ earnings as defined under the
Mandatory Provident Fund legislation. Since 1 June
2014, both the Group’s and the employees’ contributions
are subject to a cap of HK$1,500 per month.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the
aggregate amount of the Group’s contributions to the
aforementioned pension schemes was approximately
HK$2,133,000 (2020: HK$3,889,000). As at 31
December 2021, the Group was not entitled to any
forfeited contributions to reduce the Group’s future
contributions (2020: HK$Nil).
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

1. EF  FETHARRERF#MAK 13. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVES’

el At AND EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS
AND INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS
(a) EFFHFH (a) Directors’ Emoluments
HE2021F12A31HELFERES The emoluments of each director for the year
ZEMESAT ended 31 December 2021 is set below:

HRGAER EIHNBRKE

ik & HRZEX AR Aif
Employer’s

Share-based  contribution

payment  to pension
Fees Salaries expenses scheme Total
THET THET TR TR THET
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

HESE Executive directors

HXE(FE) Chi Wen Fu (Chairman) - 2,185 314 18 2,517

LR (/7R #%) (Mi1)  Shum Sai Chit (CEO) (note 1) - 603 509 11 1,123

hEE Chi Jing Chao - 217 173 - 390

FUTES Non-executive director

PEE Guo Mengyong 35 - 79 - 114

BUFHTES Independent non-executive

directors

FER Cheung Sound Poon 60 - 131 = 191

Bx Sheng Hong 35 - 79 - 114

ARG (M2) Lau ChiKit (note 2) 120 - 41 - 161
250 3,005 1,326 29 4,610

M3 - notes:

1.  BR2021F7A30H Bt 1. Resigned on 30 July 2021

2. 2 12021F6 A30R R 2. Retired on 30 June 2021
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HE2020F12A31H L FERES The emoluments of each director for the year
ZHNE ST ended 31 December 2020 is set below:

NROEER  EEMEHAE
ik e HEZAX I CH
Employer's
Share-hased contribution
payment to pension
Fees Salaries expenses scheme Total
TR TATL TAT THR TAT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

YiTES Executive directors
WXE(FE) Chi Wen Fu (Chairman) - 2,175 502 18 2,695
W R (775 4%) Shum Sai Chit (CEQ) = 1,005 1,042 18 2065
R Chi Jing Chao - 210 282 - 499
FuTES Non-executive director
PZE Guo Mengyong 35 = 126 = 161
BUBTES Independent non-executive

directors
ek Cheung Sound Poon 60 - 215 - 275
s Sheng Hong 3% = 126 - 161
B84 Lau Chi Kit 240 - 126 - 366

370 3,390 2419 36 6,215




(b) BfiREBHFMA L

(c)

RER REBRUKSHE A+
BIE1AL (20204 : 2fi1) T 5 - H T
©FBEH N LXK 13 © 88 T44L
(20204 : 3fi) WIEA R AIEE RN &
BITBRABNGESTMALTFAN
& s BETI T
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HZE2021F12A31H L FE
For the year ended 31 December 2021

(b) Five Highest Paid Individuals

The five highest paid employees of the Group
during the year included one (2020: two) directors,
details of whose remuneration are set out in note
13 above. Details of the remuneration for the year
of the remaining four (2020: three) highest paid
employees who are neither a director nor chief
executive of the Company are as follows:

2021 2020
FHET TAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
HEAEH® - BRRE - Basic salaries, share options, other
H A2 B0 R EWMF = allowances and benefits in kind 4,385 4,035
BRARESEBR - TREMNK Pension costs-defined contribution
& &l plan 72 41
4,457 4,076

VIARBEENRIFMALZ
MEeBRIATHBIBHAREIWT :

The number of the highest paid employees who
are not the directors of the Company whose
remuneration fell within the following bands is as
follows:

AE
Number of individuals
2021 2020
= 21,000,000/ 7T Nil — HK$1,000,000 1 -
1,000,001/ 8 T E HK$1,000,001 — HK$2,000,000
2,000,000/ 7T 3 8
4 8

H E20214F K2020F 128318 Ik F
B AEBEVEREITAARGES
MANGSHFHATZHAHESES
AR5 B 5k hn A AN £ [ B ) R R
SIERMBAE REZE2021F &
2020F12A31H L FE - EARD
AEERANGESHFMALTRER
BREOREENTEMS -

(c)

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and
2020, no emoluments were paid by the Group to
any of the directors of the Company and the five
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group, or as compensation
for loss of office. There was no director of the
Company and the five highest paid individuals
agreed to waive or waived any emoluments during
the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.
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14. &R

ARREETZZEMREE2021F12A31H
LEFERAHEM AL B (20204 « EHET) °

15. BREGR

(a)

14.

DIVIDEND

The directors of the Company do not recommend
the payment of any dividend for the year ended 31

December 2021 (2020: HK$NIl).

2F
BEREAEEERBEARAESR A
BEFAEBR BRAFRAEHTE
BN BGHE -

(a)

15. LOSS PER SHARE

Basic

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the
loss for the year attributable to owners of the
Company by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue during the year.

2021 2020
HEEREREIEFRA S Loss attributable to ordinary equity
AP EEEREA AEL holders of the parent, used in the
E5 18 basic loss per share calculation (1,121,566) (745,368)
DEITEBARIE S Weighted average number of
(F ) ordinary shares in issue
(thousand shares) 4,581,117 4,581,117
SRERNEE Basic loss per share
(BB (HK cents per share) (24.48) (16.27)
(b) #E (b) Diluted
SREEEEERRERAE S Diluted loss per share is calculated by adjusting

MEBEEERR UABRBZETER
BMEFHHAE - ARAE R
BEMEBEET R BRE-

MEREMS  ARRRE&EKRITE
ERERTM c REREEEET
B UBTEAIEAAE (AKRR R
AZBDEETMEETE) BANRG
EE - EXFAMGTENRMNDEE
HBRITEEREMZETHORMOE
BIEEE - ERETEEIR
H £20214F K2020F12A31H IF F
ENRMOEHEME  HEESRES
B R R MR TR AR Al A I Ak i -

the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares. The Company has one
categories of dilutive potential ordinary shares:
share options.

For the share options, a calculation is done to
determine the number of shares that could have
been acquired at fair value (determined as the
average market price of the Company’s shares
during the period) based on the monetary value
of the subscription rights attached to outstanding
share options. The number of shares calculated as
above is compared with the number of shares that
would have been issued assuming the exercise of
the share options. The computation of diluted loss
per share does not assume the exercise of the
Company’s share options because the exercise
price of those share options was higher than
the average market price of shares for the years
ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

HELH
kgF  HENE BRE
(R () 56 HEREE BLERE hE fi FRIE @it
Leasehold
land and Plant  Furniture
buildings  Leasehold and  and office Motor Construction
(note (i)) improvements  machinery  equipment vehicles Ship  in-progress Total
ThL ThL Th T Thn ThL TAT ThR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
s Cost
1202081 A 1A As at 1 January 2020 1,061,910 12,641 2,013 467 47985 13,689 34 1185734 4285730
hE Additions = = 7,69 454 327 = 462,686 471,161
B Transfers 110,074 = 111,760 = = = (221,834) =
HE Disposals (544) - (89,414) (135) (2,024) - (8,099) (100,216
i Witten off (280,757) - (443,179) (8,771) (2,085) - (20,031) (754,803
EEEABARE  Transer from assels
HEMEE classified as held for sale 48937 - - - - - - 48987
Ef% Exchanges alignment 1,205 22 86,114 3,136 1,061 p 84,511 246,353
R2020E12R31B R As at 31 December 2020
01%F1A18 and 1 January 2021 1,010,845 12,923 1,686,442 42619 10,988 378 1432967 4,197,162
hE Additions 45,088 - 50,016 1226 - - 410,382 506,662
3 Transfers 1,428,898 - 327,060 - - - (1,755,959) -
HE Disposals - - 6,864) - - - - (6,864)
i Written off (1,209 - (1,889) () - - - (3,186)
S Exchanges alignment 50,522 135 50,495 1470 381 11 26,259 138,273
R2021%12A318  As at 31 December 2021 2,534,010 13,058 2,114,261 45,310 11,369 389 113,650 4,832,047
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HELH
kgF  HENE BiR
(BraE(i) %6 HEREE HOZRE hE WR ERIE hy
Leasehold
land and Furniture
buildings ~ Leasehold  Plantand  and office Motor Construction
(note (i)) improvements ~ machinery  equipment vehicles Ship  in-progress Total
T AT ThL TAL AL TR THTL TET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ZiFERER Accumulated
deprecation and
impairment
120201 A1A As at 1 January 2020 6,667 5210 384,362 16,071 6,922 354 - 419,586
Eagils Charge for the year 44,303 434 144,602 1216 2,151 - - 192,806
HERHH Eliminated on disposal (143) - (77,605) (128) (1928 - - (79,799)
s Eliminatedl on written off (32,915) - (56,495) (3,575) (1818 - - (94,808
ERAAEARE  Trensfer from assets
HEMEE classified as held for sale 30,284 - - - - - - 30,284
EXAE Exchanges alignment 8,261 282 26,362 1,344 429 24 = 35,722
10020128318 Asat 31 December 2020
011417 and 1 January 2021 56,497 5,926 420,246 14,988 5,761 378 - 503,796
Eagils Charge for the year 55,847 434 140,369 1215 1,987 - - 199,912
NEABAMEE  Impaiment logs recognised
B in profit or loss 409,212 118 261,075 4813 578 - 19,043 696,034
HERLH Eliminated on disposal - - (5,246) - - - - (5,246)
§EEaaE Eliminated on written off (519) - (1211) () - - - (1,735)
Eif% Bxchanges alignment 10,460 140 19,364 683 a7 11 239 31,114
20215125318 As at 31 December 2021 531,497 1,613 834,507 21,754 8,543 389 19,482 1,423,875
REFE Net carrying values
20215127318  As at 31 December 2021 2,002,513 5445 1,279,664 23,556 2,826 - 94,168 3,408,172
2020812318 Asat 31 December 2020 954,348 6,997  1266,19 21,631 5,221 - 1432967 8,693,366
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GEE

notes:

i) AEEMNHEITHEEFRAREHERLN ()  The carrying amount of the Group’s leasehold land and

BEEEIITOT : buildings at the end of the reporting period are analysed
as follows:
2021 2020
FHET FEx
HK$’000 HK$’000
hEHHBHEE Medium term leases in the PRC 2,002,513 954,348

iy M2021F12A31H EEEAHY (i)  As at 31 December 2021, leasehold land and buildings

831,685,000/ 7T (20204 : 458,604,000
BIL) ZME M RET  BERESED
ERIRITIEE 2 HR (H5E32) -

and plant and machinery with a carrying amount of
approximately HK$831,685,000 (2020: HK$458,604,000)
have been pledged to secure bank borrowings (Note 32).

(i) WWRARCIROBRAE ([LRLLH]D (ifi)
BREMESERIMETEBTENEER
WABI(THEBE] BBk B2019F T ¥
FRBEE  2BHWECESFE

Shandong Hongri Chemical Joint Stock Company
Limited. (“Shandong Hongri”) has cooperated with
Luozhuang District Government of Linyi City to respond
to the requirements of “Relocation of Industries from City
Urban Area to Industrial Parks” (“the Plan”). All plants
have been gradually demolished since the launch of the
Plan in the second half of 2019.

AT AB E2020F12A318 IEFE W% - Included in written off of property, plant and equipment
R B K 5% 15 i $8 49660,000,0007%8 7T+ & amounting approximately HK$660,000,000 for the
H 49659,457,0008 T E E M IEE A year ended 31 December 2020, approximately
8 - HK$659,457,000 related to the implementation of the
Plan above.

RAEEZ2YE BEERBIERFH

The useful lives of property, plant and equipment

m adopted for the current year are as follows:
-HELHRIEF HEHK — Leasehold land and buildings Over the lease terms
-HEWMHEERE 2E55F - Leasehold improvements 2 to 5 years

- BB RS 3F404F - Plant and machinery 3 to 40 years
VS VN 2F124F — Furniture and office equipment 2 to 12 years

- 9% 42104 — Motor vehicles 4 to 10 years

- M 5% - Ship 5 years
-TARIEAR 2% — Tooling and moulds 2 years
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17. BEME 17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
FAT

HK$'000
2% Cost
7202041 A 18 As at 1 January 2020 =
BEREEELEEY Transfer from assets held for sales 104,339
NE Addition 36,832
PE 5 A& Exchange realignment 8,999
MR2020F12A31 8 KX2021F1 18 As at 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 150,170
PE H & Exchange realignment 4,502
"2021F12H31H As at 31 December 2021 154,672
25 E Accumulated Depreciation
720201 A1H As at 1 January 2020 =
ERNEREEEER Transfer from assets held for sales 34,201
F A Charge for the year 8,799
& N A2 Exchange realignment 2,274
72020512 A31H %20214F1 818  As at 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 45,274
F R Charge for the year 1,961
[EE 5, 38 =& Exchange realignment 1,382
A2021F12H31H As at 31 December 2021 48,617
REE Carrying amounts
%2021512H381H As at 31 December 2021 106,055
2020512 A31H As at 31 December 2020 104,896

REMEEEZWE PR _HZER-

LRAREMERBIEERBEZBAD

1R
RAFERERERANRERELERE -
REMEZBFHERFERN F422475 -

The investment properties represent the buildings to

phase one and phase two of the Yunxiao properties.

The above investment properties are held for
capital appreciation purpose, measured at cost and
depreciated on a straight line basis over the lease term.

The estimated useful life of the investment properties

range from 42 to 47 years.



NEEH E2021F12A31B R EME
IR E 1B 42 %8 5106,055,000/% T (2020
F 1 104,896,000 70) R EWME D R
B 4258 /5126,493,000/8 JT (20204
123,759,000/ 7T) © i (A F B2 2N £ B 0 /&%
BiEsBYAEREAEMETT - RIEEE
BE2EBISERMGEMD A ZHER
LRELNTHEER  BEHSAEEHESE
2021F12AB1B 2 W EME ZREEE
HRE

BREME 2T AP RIABEIREBEERLL
BERSERUL 2 HERETE -

REMEZDELRDAAENRBETES
EUAERDEEERARFERRETE -

EREFANEAAER MR Z&R R&E
R AEBRMRAE -

BERERRAREREMEZHBUAR
ERAREERZFHBNT
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The aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s
investment properties at 31 December 2021 was
HK$106,055,000 (2020: HK$104,896,000) and
the aggregate fair value of the investment property
HK$126,493,000 (2020: HK$123,759,000). The
valuation was performed by independent qualified
valuers not connected with the Group. Based on
the result of management’s assessment by making
reference to the valuation report issued by the
independent qualified valuers, there is no impairment on
the carrying value of the Group’s investment properties
as at 31 December 2021.

The fair value of land portion of the investment
properties was determined base on direct comparison
approach by reference to sales of similar land.

The fair value of the properties portion of the investment
properties was determined base on deprecation
replacement costs approach by reference to the
replacement cost and deprecation rate.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest
and best use of the properties is the their current use.

Details of the Group’s investment properties and
information about the fair value hierarchy as at the end
of the reporting period are as follows:

2021
RHEHE AREE=ER
Fair value
Carrying at Level 3
Amount hierarchy
F# T FE T
HK$’000 HK$’000
F—H Phase one 36,238 47,533
F£_H Phase two 69,817 78,960
106,055 126,493
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2020
REE ARESE=ER
Fair value
Carrying at Level 3
Amount hierarchy
FHET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
% —Hf Phase one 36,832 45,003
E-H Phase two 68,064 78,756
104,896 123,759
RE £2021F12 8318 KX2020F12 A31 During the year ended 31 December 2021 and 31
HIEFE REVEIEREEHSEA - December 2020, no rental income was generated from
investment properties.
L EYECEREEBSE - The carrying value of investment properties shown
above comprise:
2021 2020
THERT TFHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
ERBREE : In the PRC held on:

FHEIE Medium term lease 106,055 104,896
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18. EHIESEE 18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

=+ i F #E WAE &5t

Land use
right Office Total
FET FHET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
720201 H1H At 1 January 2020 279,699 7,743 287,442
NE Additions 8,172 424 8,596
HEOREFEELEE Transfer from assets held for sales 3,418 = 3,418
e Depreciation charge (10,346) (2,384) (12,730)
BEE 5, 3 £ Exchange alignment 9,216 388 9,604

1202012 H31H & At 31 December 2020 and

2021F1 A 1H 1 January 2021 290,159 6,171 296,330
meEs Depreciation charge (10,371) (705) (11,076)
B E R Impairment loss (59,215) - (59,215)
[E 5 A& Exchange alignment 6,743 176 6,919
#2021F12H31H At 31 December 2021 227,316 5,642 232,958

CTRREEEASEREELEHEZHR
HEANEREEEE L R ERER
HIRARE R & R RFHREBED
R YEHAEHEAEMELAE -

2021F12 8318 » BRE{E4189,535,000
7 70 (20204F : 228,771,000/ 7T) 2 &
BEE LMFERAEEEBERITERZ
R (F15E32) ©

RRETE ANEEREEKEERAEL
M AR R A E o g fE BAE R A
EHEA NI 2 E T HR D B A505
(20204 : 504F) M24F F244F (20204 : 2
FE24F) TR HEA I T AT 2 i
R 48 (IR o TS HARR IR @ Bl E SR
AmEEE ABBEIRERRIEE - £E
TSR RGBSR 2 RS
REBEEAANZERL BT A MIT
BRI ZHABR °

FREREEE 2 REANAFBERES M
SRR M FE 22 R -

The right-of-use assets represent the Group’s rights
to use underlying leased land and premises under
operating lease arrangements over the lease terms,
which are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment losses, and adjusted for
any remeasurement of the lease liabilities.

As at 31 December 2021, the land use right of right-of-use
assets with a carrying amount of approximately
HK$189,535,000 (2020: HK$228,771,000) have been
pledged to secure bank borrowings (Note 32).

For both years, the Group leases land use right and
offices for its operations. Lease contracts are entered
into for fixed term of 50 years for land use right (2020:
50 years), and 2 years to 24 years for office (2020:
2 years to 24 years) but may have extension and
termination options as described below. Lease terms
are negotiated on an individual basis and contain
different terms and conditions. In determining the lease
term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable
period, the Group applies the definition of a contract
and determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.

Details of the impairment testing on right-of-use assets
are disclosed in note 22 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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19. 5 & 19. GOODWILL
FATT
HK$'000
2% Cost
R2020F1 A1H » 2020F12A31H »  As at 1 January 2020, 31 December 2020,
202141 818 &k2021F12/531H 1 January 2021 and 31 December 2021 197,368
25 RE Accumulated impairment
7202041 18 As at 1 January 2020 =
EHERE Impairment of goodwill 46,252
2020512431 H ~ 202151H1H As at 31 December 2020, 1 January 2021
K20215612H31H and 31 December 2021 46,252
BREE Carrying amounts
R2021F12H31H As at 31 December 2021 151,116
2020 12H31H As at 31 December 2020 151,116
PHEEAEBRSELEN ((BeELAE Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating
fL]) 2 B ER D EHA - units (“CGU”") identified according to business segment.
HERKGWERERFERIERAER AT The goodwill was resulted from the acquisition of Rare
(MR (B ARSE : 601) © Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holding Limited
(“REMT”) (stock code: 601).
MBEREARSREZME  BERSE - In addition to property, plant and equipment, intangible
B EENFRAEELAEERBEST AS assets and right-of-use assets that generate cash flows
BIRSESSEN  DUETTRIETE - together with the goodwill are included in the respective

CGU for the purpose of impairment assessment.



MR2021F12A31H » MEFER 2 o k@
CHERBFERAEAENEEE - % EE
ATEREEEBMEZSFHYBEERK
14.71% (20204 : 17.02% ) BRI BRI KR 2
REREEM - HERRBBF2HE D
mENFEARETE R E2% (20204 : 3%)
FE o B RETDNEMNEBITEIERER
W NBBABETEZ FHRAKEE - 5
FHEBFEZEMERRISINBE SR
AR (REBEEHEEERENE -
EBER) 2 BBEGEHDEREMNZ
BEEENEREYMBERE AR -

RARESZHE FENZERIEZ2ENE
BEEH I EREFEMERL B KE S
oA REE2021F12A831B IEFE
IR EEIE -

HZE2020F12A31H I FE s EstiE
S B BT 18 #946,252,0007 7T ©
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As at 31 December 2021, the recoverable amount of
REMT has been determined based on a value in use
calculation. That calculation use cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by management
covering a 5-year period, and pre-tax discount rate of
14.71% (2020: 17.02%). REMT’s cash flows beyond
the 5-year period are extrapolated using a steady 2%
(2020: 3%) growth rate. This growth rate is based
on the relevant industry growth forecasts and does
not exceed the average long-term growth rate for the
relevant industry. Other key assumptions for the value in
use calculations relate to the estimation of cash inflows/
outflows which include budgeted sales and gross
margin, corporate tax rate, such estimation is based
on the unit’s past performance and management’s
expectations for the market development.

The directors of the Company believes that any reasonable
change in any of these assumptions would not cause the
aggregate carrying amount to exceed the aggregate
recoverable amount. Thus, no impairment loss was
recognised for the year ended 31 December 2021.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, an impairment
loss on goodwill of approximately HK$46,252,000 was
made.
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20. ELEE 20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
R AE efes BE A CH
Technical Club
Know-how membership Trademark Patent Total

TER TEx TER TR TER
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000

K& Cost
1"2020F1 A1H As at 1 January 2020 3,687 80 315,134 49,964 368,865
SR Exchange alignment - - 21,003 3,330 24,333
M2020%12F318 & As at 31 December 2020 and

20211 1R 1 January 2021 3,687 80 336,137 53,294 393,198
b Written off - (80) = = (80)
EHAE Exchange alignment - - 10,076 1,597 11,673
R2021E12A31H As at 31 December 2021 3,687 - 346,213 54,891 404,791
R BHERAE Accumulated amortisation

and impairment

120201 A1H As at 1 January 2020 3,687 - 1,733 15,303 20,723
FREH Amortisation for the year - - - 4,587 4,587
BEHAE Exchange alignment - - 115 1,262 1,377
R202012A318 & As at 31 December 2020 and

20211818 1 January 2021 3,687 - 1,848 21,162 26,687
ENEH Amortisation for the year - - - 4,900 4,900
ENERHREER Impairment loss recognised

for the year - - 77,624 2,738 80,362
EHAZ Exchange alignment - - 1,022 695 1,717
1#2021512A31A As at 31 December 2021 3,687 - 80,494 29,485 113,666
EEFE Net carrying values
1#2021512A31H As at 31 December 2021 - - 265,719 25,406 291,125
1202012310 As at 31 December 2020 - 80 334,289 32,142 366,511
BARstE#EO R FEBRFEHET The following useful lives are used in the calculation of
amortisation:

1T 20 5 © 3FEHE Technical know-how . 3to b5 years
e e s C mHEAMR Club membership : Indefinite
HiZ o mHAMR Trademark . Indefinite

= F| © 9F164F Patent : 9to 16 years



B\ EEZ AIEAFHRTERERY -
AT EETHE - WA EBVEEZARE
REPRLSERY  AeEFRINNEER
BEEMEMHRBERBBEFZEEER
BERAERFH G - W EE 0%
FEMHRER  AIERFHFEAERS
BRERYE A28 A HERANE
REERRE I XAE#EERABTLE
EZ BRI

FREVEEZRENZFBERGEE MK
R M E22WE -
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Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful
lives are assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion
that the useful life of an intangible asset is indefinite
is reviewed annually to determine whether events and
circumstances continue to support the indefinite useful
life assessment for that asset. If they do not, the change
in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is
accounted for prospectively from the date of change
and in accordance with the policy for amortisation of
intangible assets with finite lives as set out above.

Details of the impairment testing on intangible assets
are disclosed in note 22 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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21. Rk 21. MINING RIGHTS
2021 2020
F#E T FHT
HK$’000 HK$’000
5% Cost
®1A1H As at 1 January 565,519 530,183
PE 5, A& Exchange alignment 16,951 35,336
M®12A31H As at 31 December 582,470 565,519
g £ Accumulated amortisation
»1A18 As at 1 January 115,877 101,715
F N Amortisation for the year 2,244 7,134
B i, G B Exchange alignment 3,634 7,028
MW12A831H As at 31 December 121,755 115,877
REFEE Net carrying values
W12A31H As at 31 December 460,715 449,642
BEARARPEIIHARSZNEMAEN The balance represents two mining rights, the
FEEMEALT ZAZAENWIBEE serpentine mine located in Donghai County of Jiangsu
#OMmMEBEREENERES R AR ARG Province, the PRC and the dolomite mine located in
SEITE Baishan City of Jilin Province, the PRC, which are

amortised by the production quantity over the ore

reserve.



22. FHIERE VX -BERERMEL

R i B E i (E B

HZE2021F12A81B L FE AEEEE
ERIASBEAEELES XN RAEE
RIMEREAMERRTEAENREEBOR
ERSEEEN  BEEER EKE KRN
RE G ([HEEEEM ) LA RE
EREBIB(REEELEM2]) - ER
ReELBEUINESEEEM2ZEER
BARMBHY  AEBEEEEREEFEERE
B - 30 ¥ BR 1B 5 Bl 5232,958,0007%
JT ~ 3,408,172,0007% 7T %291,125,0007%
TZEREEE W BEREEHEAK
B EEETRERE -

EEEEB GBS RER - NEE G
HEEMBREELEMNINREELEE
2zl Bl €5 BIERARESRE—
BeEERHDRAREE SHRESELS
UAAESERBEBEBENE 2 FEXKE
E-ReELBEMNINACELEEN2EE
Z BREE 5 5l A& %2,642,500,000/%8 7T &
1,750,470,00078 It °

BeELEf1
ReEAEMIZAKRESEIHENEH
BEELET FHEFHEAENAEE
EEEMNEZREEBSF VW ETEE
HHESRETENA - R2021F12H318 K
TATBA IR R 514.84% - BBBSFH 2 H S
METNRBERR2GHEE - EERIE
REBITEEREREL  TESNAER
TENTFHREEER - EFHAEED
F—EEZRIABEINE  NERBES
EEXBNZBARRALERBEMBER
ZTEHEE -
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22. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON RIGHT-OF-

USE ASSETS, PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the
management of the Group reviewed that two
cash-generating unit of the Group, fertiliser business
and metallurgical flux business segment (“CGU 1”)
and magnesium product business segment (“CGU
2”) underperformed and incurred losses due to the
constraints to working capital and offshore debt
restructuring of the Group. In view of the economic
performance of the CGU 1 and CGU 2 which was not
as expected, management of the Group concluded
there was an indication for impairment and conducted
impairment assessment on right-of-use assets, property,
plant and equipment, and intangible assets with carrying
amounts of HK$232,958,000, HK$3,408,172,000 and
HK$291,125,000 respectively.

The Group estimates the recoverable amount of CGU1
and CGU2, to which the asset belongs when it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually,
including allocation of corporate assets when
reasonable and consistent basis can be established.
Each cash-generating unit represents the Group’s
manufacturing operation in respective geographical
locations. The carrying amounts of assets of CGU1 and
CGU 2 were approximately HK$2,642,500,000 and
HK$1,750,470,000 respectively.

CGU 1

The recoverable amount of CGU1 has been determined
based on a value in use calculation. That calculation
uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by the management of the Group covering the
following 5 years with a pre-tax discount rate is 14.84%
as at 31 December 2021. The cash flows beyond the
five-year period are extrapolated using 2% growth
rate. This growth rate is based on the relevant industry
growth forecasts and does not exceed the average
long-term growth rate for the relevant industry. Another
key assumption for the value in use calculated is the
budgeted gross margin, which is determined based
on the cash-generating units’ past performance and
management expectations for the market development.
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ERTEER T5EEEEETET  Re
EAXABEMIZAKESEBERNERE- R/
BeBETEEFTRAEEE VX - HE
LEBAREBREEE KEHSEEENR
AETZEREERE AR BEREEKAE -
EFAEEREZESE - ERFERER
BERBBOR EREZEEERB
EHBEEATREEE WX BELK
HEUAREFEE 2 RAEBED B ERBEE
854,033,000/ 7T * 520,377,000/ 7T &
77,624,000/ T °

BeELEf2

MEEEEM2Z ARG &5 T ERER
BEELET EFHELIHABAENAEE
EEEMEZREEBSF IV ETEER
ERESRmETA - R2021F12A318 K
TRRTEE IR R B14.71% - SBB5FEH 2B &
METDNRBERR2XHES -t EFHE
ENZ—FTERZAEEEFNR > HER
ReESLBEUZATRAKEBEEHMS
BREFBHETFE -

ERNFHER ASEEEEET B
EfBuozalE e B ERKEE R
BELHEEIEEEAREE V¥ BE
SEUAREEERFEAFHNERLEAE
RS EEENRAETTEREERNE
AREREERS HEFRAEERSEZ &
SE - ENFHAEEEEARAESE B
MEZEEERBzEEBERERES
E -DE BEAREBEARETEFREE
2 BR T E D Bl #E R OR B B 185,182,000/%8
JT * 175,657,000/ 7T &.2,738,0007%8 It °

Based on the result of the assessment, management
of the Group determined that the recoverable amount
of the CGU1 is lower than the carrying amount. The
impairment amount has been allocated to each category
of right-of-use assets, property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets such that the carrying amount
of each category of asset is not reduced below the
highest of its fair value less cost of disposal, its value
in use and zero. Based on the value in use calculation
and the allocation, impairment loss of HK$54,033,000,
HK$520,377,000 and HK$77,624,000 has been
recognised against the carrying amount of right-of-use
assets, property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets respectively within the relevant functions to
which these assets relate.

CGU 2

The recoverable amount of CGU2 has been determined
based on a value in use calculation. That calculation
uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by the management of the Group covering
the following 5 years with a pre-tax discount rate is
14.71% as at 31 December 2021. The cash flows
beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using 2%
growth rate. Another key assumption for the value in
use calculated is the budgeted gross margin, which is
determined based on the cash-generating units' past
performance and management expectations for the
market development.

Based on the result of the assessment, management
of the Group determined that the recoverable amount
of the CGU2 is lower than the carrying amount. The
impairment amount has been allocated to each category
of right-of-use assets, property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets with finite useful live such that
the carrying amount of each category of asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less cost of
disposal, its value in use and zero. Based on the value
in use calculation and the allocation, impairment loss
of HK$5,182,000, HK$175,657,000 and HK$2,738,000
has been recognised against the carrying amount of
right-of-use assets, property, plant and equipment and
certain intangible assets respectively within the relevant
functions to which these assets relate.



23. X EMBELF

(a) 720214 K2020%F12A31H » A&
BENTENRBARZEBET ¢

%R

Name

G L EHRERA
Century Sunshine Ecological
Technology Limited

TEEENRREERAT
Jiangsu Azureblue Technology
development Company

Limited

LEERILIBRAT
Jiangsu Longteng
Petrochemical Limited

EACZARLA
Long Xiang Enterprises Limited

WRABLIRAERAT

Shandong Hongri Chemical
Joint Stock Company
Limited

BERLREEHAR
BERGBEHERAT

KPS
NPy

L IERAT

I
Y ITERAA

folE  foleE

AR ER
EARRER
Place of
incorporation and
kind of legal entity

Et RREALR
Hong Kong, limited
liability company

hE - EREAAR
The PRC, limited liability
company

mE BREARA
The PRC, limited liability
company

TRRENER A

Principal activities
and place of operation

RERRELR
Investment holdings in
Hong Kong

RAESEREERR
Manufacturing and sale of
fertiisers in the PRC

REEETRARNT
FiRRiEE

Processing, exploration and
sales of serpentine in the
PRC

ZBRARE ARAL NERRALR

A7

British Virgin slands,
limited liability
company

hE - BRERA
The PR, limited liability
company

hE - EREAAR
The PRC limited liability
company

hE - BREMA
The PRC limited liability
company

Investment holdings in Hong
Kong

RhRRERHERH
Manufacturing and sales of
fertiisers in the PRC

ReEREREERS
Manufacturing and sale of
fertiisers in the PRC

R ERERAELH
Manufacturing and sale of
fertilisers in the PRC
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23. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(a) Particulars of the Group’s principal subsidiaries as
at 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as follow:

BRfRE/
BREMRAZHE RLARENBERERLA RENRZELA

Particulars of issued share/
paid up registered capital

Proportion of ownership
interest held by the Company
Bg [
Directly Indirectly
2021 2020 2021
1,000R & BRERAERT00ET - - 100%
1,000 ordinary shares of
HK$1.00 each

Proportion of
voting power held

2020
100%

2021
100%

2020
100%

AMRGRREARS - - 100% 100%
275,000,0007¢
Registered and paid up capital of

RMB275,000,000

100% 100%

AMRARREARS - - 100% 100%
297,000,00077
Registered and paid up capital of

RMB297,000,000

100% 100%

100REERERARIZT 100% - - 100%

100 ordinary shares of US$1 each

100% 100%

HREERRAARY - - 70.02% 70.02%
260,000,007
Registered and paid up capital of

RMB260,000,000

70.02% 70.02%

AMRGRREARS - - 100% 100%
30,000,007
Registered and paid up capital

of RMB30,000,000

100% 100%

BEARGEREARY - - 100% 100%
500,000,007
Issued and fully paid

RMB500,000,000

100% 100%
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AMELHER
t# EARREH
Name Place of
incorporation and
kind of legal entity
BEUREEARERAR ARE AREMLA
([BEMR) Bermuda, limited liabifty
Rare Earth Magnesium company
Technology Group

Holdings Liited (‘RENIT’)
HERARRRARAR  °E ARALLF

Kinjiang Tengxiang Magnesium The PRC, limited liability
Products Company Limted ~ company

AURRZEEERZAR +E ARREAT

N The PR, limited liability
Baishan City Tianan company

Magnesium Resources

Company Limited

BRfTRA/
TEERAEENE HREMRA 2R
Particulars of issued share/
paid up registered capital

Principal activities
and place of operation

RERENSRERR BRO10BT 2 BT RAREA
Investment holdings in 6,574,390,068%
Bermuda Issued and fully paid up capital of

6,574,390,058 of HK$0.10 each

MESEREECBERE AMRARKAARY
En 174,800,007
Manufacturing and sales Registered and paid up capital of
of magnesium-related RMB171,800,000
products in the PRC

RABREREECRENE REARBAARK

En 280,332,007
Manufacturing and sale Registered and paid up capital of

of magnesium-related RMB280,332,000

products

KRARRNERRRR LY

Proportion of ownership
interest held by the Company
Ef [}
Directly Indirectly

2021 2020 2021 2020

7231%  7231%

1231%  7231%

7231%  7231%

BENRRRLA

Proportion of
voting power held

2021 2020

7231%  72.31%

72.31%

12.31%

72.31%  72.31%




EREJEERAUFEREREATE
FERAEBEEFEERBLONARA
TEMBAF BEFARANEMHBER
AMENERERBARITE -

(b) HEEXFERERNF2EH
B4 AR
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The above table lists the principal subsidiaries of the
Company which, in the opinion of the directors, affected
the results for the year materially or formed a substantial
portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of
other subsidiaries, in the opinion of the directors, would
result in particulars of excessive length.

(b) Detail of non-wholly owned subsidiaries
that have material non-controlling

interests
FERESZRFEZ
HEfR - Ef FAEEERRIREELLS
& i 2 Proportion of PEFHERERZ
Place of ownership interests ] AFtFERER
NG incorporation and voting rights held Loss allocated to Accumulated
Name of registration by non-controlling non-controlling non-controlling
company and operation interests interests interests
2021 2020 2021 2020
THET TET THET FET
2020 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
M EERHE BRE 27.69% 27.69%  (91,898) (20,493) 328,600 402,037
REMT Bermuda
WA IR
B E RIS ER
Li)=ING|
Individual
immaterial
subsidiaries
with

non-controlling

interest

(40,638) (218,344) (212,664) (176,326)

115,936 225,711

AT REEERGFERER AL
EMBARMMEERBE - AT
MBERBENDEREANRREY
HATEZEE °

Summarised financial information in respect of
each of the Group’s subsidiary that has material
non-controlling interests is set out below. The
summarised financial information below represents
amounts before intragroup eliminations.
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HEER REMT
2021 2020
FTET FH T
HK$’000 HK$'000
MENEE Current assets 610,149 772,908
EMEBEE Non-current assets 1,750,470 1,783,924
mENBE Current liabilities (1,093,664) (958,709)
ERBEE Non-current liabilities (78,013) (151,201)
KRNRIHER AELER Equity attributable to owners
of the Company 859,724 1,049,885
IE4E A% A 25 Non-controlling interests 329,218 402,037
2021 2020
TERT FATT
HK$’000 HK$’000
ToN Revenue 416,060 744,836
F Expenses (747,943) (818,847)
FANEIE Loss for the year (331,883) (74,011)
NAaEE AEIEEE Loss attribute to owners of the
Company (239,985) (563,518)
FEERERENER Loss attribute to non-controlling
interests (91,898) (20,493)
FANEE Loss for the year (331,883) (74,011)
KXARHEEAELER Total comprehensive (loss)/income
(BB, Mh=miE attributable to owners of the
Company (191,775) 41,260
FEREREGEEE Total comprehensive (loss)/income
(B18) = msE attributable to non-controlling
interests (73,437) 15,800
FRNE2ME(EE) WL E% Total comprehensive (loss)/income
for the year (265,212) 57,060
KEESTE TSI SR E F5  Net cash flows generated from
operating activities 106,699 29,788
WAEESFTAE S REFE Net cash flows used in investing
activities (105,823) (93,364)
BB EEAMAIR S B F5  Net cash flows used in financing
activities (15,062) (148,010)
WE ML F5E Net cash outflow (14,186) (211,586)
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24. RAREMHAREZREIR 24. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
2021 2020
FExT FABT
HK$’000 HK$’000
EWEE Listed investments
-BMNZ EmRAES — Listed equity securities in
BARE(KEE) Australia, at fair value (note) 3,906 8,737
BT note:
RBERAERREMNZ FMEEEE - AE The amount represents the Group’s investment in listed
B# AFinTech Chain Limited 13,913,373 % securities in Australia. The Group held 13,913,373 shares

25.

1 (20204F : 14,744,0000&f% 1) °

(2020: 14,744,000 shares) of FinTech Chain Limited.

TTRABSREZAANBENHEREERMIGZ Fair values of the investments in listed equity securities are
BAEBMEFE determined by reference to bid prices quoted in active markets.
R 25. INVENTORIES
2021 2020
FET T T
HK$’000 HK$’000
R R Raw materials 190,507 337,813
&S Work in progress 1,766 1,845
BIFK an Finished goods 165,653 243,344

357,926

583,002
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26. BOBKERERBEKSEE

26. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

2021 2020

THExT FHET

HK$’000 HK$’000

B 5 W IE (MaE) Trade receivables (note i) 742,090 690,958
TBHEEEERE Allowance for expected credit

losses (352,620) (172,620)

389,470 518,338

FEUs =& (B &) Bills receivables (note ii) 854 7,755

390,324 526,093

Wi

(ii

AEBETESIEPZEEH —RTE
#®180H (20204 : T#iB180H) °

78 HA R R OBUE RO B 5 8 MR IR B R
SHMRBERTENTFPER -B&
HERBENE ZBUHEESZ ZRA
SEFRACRRENTFLER - REB
R BEEERA  BARKTESRG
REERE RARGEERYLEERXN
2g - BESRDERENZBURE - K&
B E R E AR A ERERR -

2021612 A31 8 + F& Y FE #8 £9854,000
7 78 (2020%F : 7,755,000 7T) #§ R R &=
HR1%& 7~ 8 A (20204 : /<8 A) RE|H -
FTEREKEEREOAAREE -

note:

(ii

The Group allows a credit period normally not more than
180 days (2020: not more than 180 days) to its trade
customers.

Trade receivables that were neither past due nor
impaired related to a wide range of customers for whom
there was no recent history of default. Trade receivables
that were past due but not impaired related to a number
of customers that have a good track record with the
Group. Based on past experience, the management
believes that no impairment allowance is necessary
in respect of these balances as there has not been a
significant change in credit quality and the balance are
still considered fully recoverable. The Group does not
hold any collateral over these balances.

As at 31 December 2021, bills receivables of
approximately HK$854,000 (2020: HK$7,755,000) will
be matured within 6 months (2020: 6 months) after the
end of the reporting period. All the bills receivables are
denominated in RMB.
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The ageing analysis of the trade receivables of the
Group presented based on the invoice date and net of
allowance for expected credit losses was as follows:

2021 2020

FHET FAT

HK$’000 HK$’000

608 LA Within 60 days 27,895 202,053
Z£90H 61 to 90 days 41,491 87,497
91£180H 91 to 180 days 320,084 228,788
389,470 518,338

IESREFRE L EEBRBBEESNT -

The movements of allowance for credit losses of trade
receivables are as follows:

2021 2020
THET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
W1 A1H As at 1 January 172,620 15,876
CHEREHEEZEGRBRE Allowance for expected credit

losses recognised 282,707 158,376

EROEHREEREERERED Reversal of allowance for expected
credit losses reversed (109,375) (10,355)
[E 3, 3 & Exchange alignment 6,668 8,723
M12H31H As at 31 December 352,620 172,620

S AEZ2021F12A31B L FEE 5 JE
WEIB R TE B BB 18 B B A A B &R A
2 5 [ WG IE 2 # 15 4309,357,0007% JT
(20204 : 143,708,0007% 7t) ° 1 Bl & &
BEESERNBETFERSEMTES
B BHEARE S EKERZ — D -

Included in the allowance for expected credit losses
of trade receivables for the year ended 31 December
2021 is a provision for individually impaired trade
receivables of approximately HK$309,357,000 (2020:
HK$143,708,000). The individually impaired trade
receivables relate to customers that were in default
or delinquency in payments and only a portion of the
receivables is expected to be recovered.
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FRBHMBHESERFEIME THRE
REWwE B HARA R EREETRES T -
U ERHEERR - BHEXLIERER
DB EER (BRI IR R - EmEE
BEPRAERFR  UREABESHEMER
MERARRHNAREE) WNZETF D H
HEMAMEETNETE - ZFTERRRK
RENMESER BEERERNHSEBHA
SERBESMH - B AR R IFERIRRE
ERANSIREEZER

R PR 5 5 B 8 5 17 2 9 B 5 R U HOB A
EEARERDT :

MA2021F12H31H

Impairment under HKFRS 9

An impairment analysis is performed at each
reporting date using a provision matrix to measure
expected credit losses. The provision rates are based
on internal credit ratings for groupings of various
customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e.,
by geographical region, product type, customer type
and rating and coverage by letters of credit or other
forms of credit insurance). The calculation reflects the
probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money
and reasonable and supportable information that is
available at the reporting date about past events,
current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk
exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using a

provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2021

FHEEEX KREHAE BEE®S

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
FHET FExT
HK$’000 HK$’000
BNER (R ER) Current (not past due) 9.99% 432,733 43,263
BERNZ Not more than 1 year past due 100% 309,357 309,357
742,090 352,620

202012 H31H As at 31 December 2020

TEHA S 1E = FHAE BERE

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TABT AT
HK$’000 HK$’000
BNEA (R HA) Current (not past due) 5.28% 547,250 28,912
BEATZ M Not more than 1 year past due 100% 143,708 143,708
690,958 172,620
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27. AIREA - REeERHMEERRE 27. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

RECEIVABLES

2021 2020
F#& T &L
HK$’000 HK$’000
H e W oR (B R Other receivables (note i) 26,549 36,110
a1~ k8 (Bt i) Prepayments (note ii) 336,861 511,310
=& (Bt i) Deposits (note iii) 33,315 34,999
396,725 582,419
T EEEEE Allowance for expected credit loss (1,089) (1,291)
395,636 581,128

MoaE - notes:

Hth W EE ZE3EF B YO
1 {E 7 415,437,000 7T (20204 :
11,826,000/% 7T ) K J& WA i B (X 2 3R 4Y
1,673,000/ 7T (20204 : 10,219,000
JT) °

R2021F12A831H - BN REBEBXIERHE
T8 2 84 5 E#)266,560,00078 7T (2020
F 1 472,518,000 ) RFEMA I L
39,987,000/ 7T (20204 : 13,667,000/
JL) °

R2021F12A31H  RERNTEBIEX
NEHEREZERORBERAEZAIR
[0 & 5% & 4930,422,0007% 7T (20204 :
31,804,000 70) ° #4 %8 492,893,000/% T
(20204 : 3,195,000/ 7t) BB & A A
BEHS o

SREMEETIRE . EEBERBEEHEEHNT

(i) Other receivables mainly comprise of value-added tax
recoverable in the PRC of approximately HK$15,437,000
(2020: HK$11,826,000) and receivables from
contractors for expenses paid on behalf, approximately
HK$1,673,000 (2020: HK$10,219,000).

(if) As at 31 December 2021, prepayment mainly comprise of
prepayment for inventory of approximately HK$266,560,000
(2020: HK$472,518,000) and prepaid expenses of
approximately HK$39,987,000 (2020: HK$13,667,000).

(i)  As at 31 December 2021, included in the deposits
mainly represented the refundable trade deposits of
approximately HK$30,422,000 (2020: HK$31,804,000)
which were paid to suppliers for due performance.
The remaining approximately of HK$2,893,000 (2020:
HK$3,195,000) were sundry and utility deposits.

The movements of allowance for credit losses of other
receivables are as follows:

2021 2020
FET FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
M1HA1H As at 1 January 1,291 2,009
ERREEBEERE Allowance for credit losses
recognised 636 =
BOHEMEWRIBEEEEERE Reversal of allowance for credit
losses of other receivables (857) (809)
& H 3 %& Exchange alignment 19 91

MW12H31H As at 31 December 1,089 1,291
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28. CENBITERRBITRARE

[

R2021F12A31H ' SRITEHERD A
10,490,000 7T (20204 : 10,185,000/
TT) c HUARBIE BTFMEE2.1

[E (20204 : 3.3[2) o

MN2021E12A31 B 2R ITEZRLD
10,564,000/% 7T ( 20204 : 16,178,000/%
L) BEEAEMZE (HE20) REE (K

iE32) Z B

RBERAR RITLACERBEATER

AND CASH BALANCES

28. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK

As at 31 December 2021, fixed deposits with
banks were approximately HK$10,490,000 (2020:
HK$10,185,000), which were denominated in RMB and

carried a fixed interest rate of 2.1% (2020: 3.3%) per

annum.

secure borrowings (Note 32).

As at 31 December 2021, deposits with banks of
approximately HK$10,564,000 (2020: HK$16,178,000),
have been pledged to bills payables (Note 29) and

At the end of the reporting period, bank and cash

B balances comprise of the followings:
2021 2020
FTERT FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
RIERBEENRBETHER ©  Long-term bank deposits under
non-current assets:
R REAIRITIF R Non-pledged long-term bank
deposits - 59
B RITE R Pledged bank deposits = =
- 59
RNREBEEMRITNIES44% ©  Bank and cash balances under
current assets:
EEMRTERKLRITRS Pledged bank deposit and
cash at bank 10,564 16,178
HHARITTER Short-term bank deposits - 7,106
RITRENFHEES Cash at bank and on hand 101,964 150,311
112,528 173,595
st Total 112,528 173,654
o DM AEEREMNEEE  Less: Pledged deposits with bank
R BEPIRITERK pledged as security for
borrowings and bills payables (10,564) (16,178)
WER RSB =@EA N Non-pledged deposits with
2 IEM IR IRITER bank with original maturity
of more than three months
when acquired - (59)
RekFRBELIEAE Cash and cash equivalents 101,964 157,417
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Bank and cash balances, and pledged bank deposits
were denominated in the following currencies:

2021 2020
THER T

HK$’°000 HK$'000

AR RMB 109,122 165,220
T HK$ 3,387 8,203
H Others 19 231
112,528 173,654

AARBHEZRITRRSEREL P
B P BUT B e R0 9NE B AT ARER

The remittance of bank and cash balances denominated
in RMB out of the PRC is subject to the foreign
exchange control restrictions imposed by the
government of the PRC.

BHEMREREMERE 29. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES
2021 2020
FHET T
HK$’000 HK$’000
B S EM R Trade payables 144,130 232,568
FE < 2= 4 Bills payables 36,677 17,493
180,807 250,061

M12A31H  A&BE ZENFIBZ RE
o (REZEHEHN) O :

As at 31 December, the ageing analysis of trade
payables of the Group presented based on the invoice
date was as follows:

2021 2020
FTERx THET
HK$’000 HK$’000
S0R AR Within 30 days 10,556 170,580
31260H 31 to 60 days 7,408 11,923
61290H 61 to 90 days 1,906 3,510
HBiE90H Over 90 days 124,260 46,555
144,130 232,568

KESER 2z FEHHEEH A60H £90H The average credit period on purchases of goods is

(20204 : BOHEQ0H) - ZEE R A B 7%
B EERE  AERATEENRERNM:
BEHREN -

FEN R i G AR R 1T 17 SR 4R (BiY5E28) -

60 to 90 days (2020: 60 to 90 days). The Group has
financial risk management policies in place to ensure
that all payables are settled within the credit timeframe.

Bills payable was secured by pledged bank deposits

(Notes 28).
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30. EstEH  HMEARHEARSHA 30. ACCRUALS, OTHER PAYABLES AND

-} CONTRACT LIABILITIES
2021 2020
FTHExT FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEEHE R & H b fEHE0B (M EEi)  Accruals and other payables (note i) 629,087 321,903
PTE S A & (i) Derivative financial liabilities (note i) 18 11,923
B IS R B 1E (B i) Financial guarantee liabilities (note iii) 4,669 4,287
633,774 338,113
& /e E (fstiv) Contract liabilities (note iv) 220,318 337,126
854,092 675,239
B HA Current 805,303 627,332
3k BN £7 Non-current 48,789 47,907
854,092 675,239

MI3E - notes:

()  M2021F12A318 ' Ert R EREME
NHRBEBFEZEREREDE BE KEE
2 & 338 £9205,064,0007% 7t (2020
F : 83,189,000/ 7T) - A fth F& 1~ B TH 4
21,460,000/ 7t (20204 : 11,724,000/
J0) K FE 1R 17 FI| B 49288,726,000/% 7T
(20204 : 117,810,000/ 7T) °

(i) B ZE2021F12H31H &2020F12H31H
IEFE - RNEEFE R LR mER
NMEemAaBE - -EZFBEF2HMBHA
2019F 1213 2 A - T S B A&

(ii

As at 31 December 2021, accruals and other payables
mainly comprised of payable for acquisition of property,
plant and equipment of approximately HK$205,064,000
(2020: HK$83,189,000), other tax payable of
approximately of HK$21,460,000 (2020: HK$11,724,000)
and bank interest payable approximately
HK$288,726,000 (2020: HK$117,810,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2021 and 31
December 2020, the Group recognised derivative
financial liabilities due to the grant of call option. For
detail, refer to the announcement dated 13 December

ZEEBIWNT 2019. The movement of derivative financial liabilities is as
follows:

2021 2020
THET T T
HK$’000 HK$'000
w1 B1H As at 1 January 11,923 11,310
NAaE () EBE Fair value (gain)/loss (11,905) 613
M12 8318 As at 31 December 18 11,928




(ii)

(iv)

MR2021F12A318 * IURA Bt — &8 (iii)
ME=F (2020 - —BBULE=H) AT
EREERER—MRT (2020F : HF

HR1T) B LM BERLO AR 141,000,000

70 (20204 : A R #181,000,0007T) ° &
WEXKE2EBTER  BTAEZM-

MR2021FE12A318  ZERARAERZ
N R MEH) B4,669,000 7T (20204 -
4,287,000/ 7T) °

EHRARERZEZFBEL2HMAHA
20169 H27H 2 A4 »
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As at 31 December 2021, the Shandong Hongri
has executed financial guarantees to a bank (2020:
certain banks) for credit facilities granted to an
independent third party (2020: an independent third
parties), for approximately RMB141,000,000 (2020:
RMB181,000,000) which would be required to be paid if
the guarantees were called upon in entirely.

As at 31 December 2021, the fair value of these
corporate guarantees was approximately HK$4,669,000
(2020: HK$4,287,000).

For more detail of the corporate guarantees please refer
to announcement date 27 September 2016.

ERBEZEHAOT : (ivy  The movements of contract liabilities is as follows:
2021 2020
FERT T T
HK$’000 HK$’000
M A1H As at 1 January 337,126 363,155
FFAEYIEHNBEE®RZ Revenue recognised that was included
2RI A in the contract liabilities balance at
the beginning of the year (337,126) (186,707)
FRNBBRIEEEH 264 Increase in contract liabilities as a result
BEE M of receiving deposits during the year 219,522 159,539
[E 5 Exchange realignment 796 1,139
W12A31H As at 31 December 220,318 337,126
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31. #HE AR 31. LEASE LIABILITIES
2021 2020
FET FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
ERHEEAE Lease liabilities payable:
—FE AR Within one year 391 514
—F LA EETEBRE More than one year but not later
than two years 368 380
MENEERNBBRRE More than two years but not later
than five years 1,399 1,217
AFELE Over five years 4,056 4,437
6,214 6,548
WA DERBBEENR T ZMMA Less: Amount due for settlement
WEIH 4 & 2 308 within 12 months shown
under current liabilities (391) (514)
FIEERBBER T @A Amount due for settlement after
BB E 2 BB 12 months shown under
non-current liabilities 5,823 6,034
THEAEBHERZMEREEHESERF The weighted average incremental borrowing rates
A F6.93%ZF7.03% (20204 : 6.93% % applied to lease liabilities range from 6.93% to 7.03%
7.083%) ° (2020: from 6.93% to 7.03%).
BRI EE N s EAEZHES T Lease obligations that are denominated in currencies
HH W - other than the functional currencies are set out below:
2021 2020
FHET THT
HK$’000 HK$'000

AR RMB 6,214 6,548
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32. & 8| 32. BORROWINGS
2021 2020
FET FHIT
HK$’000 HK$’'000
RITEE Bank borrowings 938,031 924,553
Hi s (MaEi) Other borrowings (note i) 623,622 622,454
B EZE (MEi) Listed subordinated notes (note iii) 584,421 593,782
2,146,074 2,140,789
TEEREREMKEZHBEN TS Carrying amounts of borrowings that
HEENZERZEEE do not contain repayable on demand
GEE clause and repayable (note v):
—FR Within one year 1,898,376 1,822,408
—F FETBBEMRFERBA Within a period of more than one
year but not exceeding two years - 75,381
NEF Sub-total 1,898,376 1,897,789
BIERERKEMEZAR TIE  Carrying amounts of borrowings that
MEMZERZEEE contain a repayment on demand
(Mtzkv) - clause and repayable (note v):
—F R Within one year 247,698 243,000
et Sub-total 247,698 243,000
2,146,074 2,140,789
B FIESE B B 1 2 FRIE Less: Amounts shown under
non-current liabilities - (75,381)
FEREB B2 FRIE Amounts shown under current liabilities 2,146,074 2,065,408
HRERENNEREERER  The carrying amount of bank loans that
TREMRITEEZERERE are repayable on demand due to loan
(FERBEE) (K sEvi) defaults or breach of loan covenants
(shown under current liabilities) (note
vi) (1,995,673) (1,900,268)
BEEFRENNEREREZE 2 Amounts shown under current liabilities
BEIEREBE IR for the borrowings without loan
defaults or breach of loan covenants 150,401 165,140
aE: Borrowings:
A (B 5ED Secured (note i) 964,672 872,215
B A (P i Rziv) Unsecured (notes iii & iv) 1,181,402 1,268,574
2,146,074 2,140,789
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EERATESHE

Borrowings were denominated in the following
currencies:

2021 2020
FET FE&T

HK$’000 HK$’000

AR RMB 851,588 838,110
BT HK$ 512,102 512,101
ETT uss$ 197,963 196,795
N T SGD 584,421 593,783
2,146,074 2,140,789

AEBEENERAE (THESERE LT
K)GEMT :

BIAIE
e U f

ELIESS

GEE

() HR2021F12A318  AEBEEETE
LAREBMZME - -BERSERE FAE
BERBRITEREER 2834
831,685,000 7T * 189,535,000 7T &
10,490,000 7T (20204 : 458,604,000
7 7T+ 228,771,0007% 7T &% 10,185,0005%
T0) A RAR R B AR R & A BER
YEHEAR o

(i) M2021F12A318 st AHMBEEN A
(a)BEl B & @t~ 7] & 5K 4942,359,0007% JT
(20204 : 42,109,000/ 7T) - (b)&E F 4
267,476,0007% 7T (20204 : 267,476,000
7 70) ()% T & % #9313,787,0007% T
(20204F : 312,869,000/ 7T) °

Effective interest rate:
Fixed-rate borrowings

Variable-rate borrowings

The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also
equal to contracted interest rates) on the Group’s
borrowings are as follows:

BZE BH=E
2021%12881H 2020F12A31H
LEFE IEFE

Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December
2021 2020

4.5% to 24% 4.5% to 20%

4.5%%24% 4.5%%20%
2.65% to 5.5% 2.68% to 5.66%
2.65%%5.5% 2.68%%5.66%

notes:

(i) As at 31 December 2021, the secured borrowings
were mainly secured by property, plant and equipment,
right of use assets and deposits with banks of the
Group amounting to approximately HK$831,685,000,
HK$189,535,000 and HK$10,490,000 (2020:
HK$458,604,000, HK$228,771,000 and HK$10,185,000)
respectively and corporate guarantees between the
fellow subsidiaries.

(i) As at 31 December 2021, included in other borrowings
was (a) IFC loan of approximately HK$42,359,000
(2020: HK$42,109,000), (b) loan of approximately
HK$267,476,000 (2020: HK$267,476,000) and (c)
several bonds of approximately HK$313,787,000 (2020:
HK$312,869,000).



RE—BHARAZIEZERBA
AEEESBMAR (EESHA
AN MERBE  BESRA
A B 17 3% I /& A /4% 127,000,000
ENLZ2ER - ZBEFIRAJENEN
T4.99E £5.04E5 8 BEHE
BREXRBEAMROHERERA S
AE - REEBESHARZERMN
THFBEERR AR AMELZ
EER: ((ERATEBRKRER
ARl ([BE| - BEERR)HEE
Z AR B R D o R2021F12 A31
B ' 549,280,0000% f% 15 (4915 A 2
7] 201556 A30H B TR A 4
12%) EREELERABERSRA
AIER T H B RA B R ¢ Kdiii)
38 17 1% 7% #910,490,000/% 7T (2020
£ : 10,185,000 7T) © Lo - AR
RAIEERERBRRBERE B
BERBEZER) ARFSRA
ARG B ERNAR R Z &EFR
E-AEBRERWHBARETE TR
W EPREERBREITHZET
AR5 E2 4 o

1B 1201812 A6 8 5] ;2 ) B X
% - AN A 8] # 40,000,000/ 7T
MELE - RIFRFEED  BERZR
FH A A2020%67A31E - Y 2R
HIZE2021F7A318 - kE XA E
REZBZNE T BEKE
o WEFIRFEFRIERT B -

HRARRERBERE FIHER
#9108,576,0007% 7T 7] 8 2 & %
20206F7TA21B K Rk BEKE (T -
BN BEEHEMERWIZFEF K24
=R
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Pursuant to a loan agreement entered into by a
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company and
International Finance Corporation (“IFC”), IFC had
granted a loan of US$27,000,000 to the subsidiary.
The loan bears interest at variable interest rate
from 4.99% to 5.04% and the amounts due are
based on the scheduled repayment dates set out
in the loan agreements. The loan from IFC was
secured by (i) corporate guarantee given by the
Company; (i) pledges of shares in the Company
as owned by Alpha Sino International Limited
(“Alpha Sino”), the substantial shareholder. As
at 31 December 2021, 549,280,000 shares,
representing approximately 12% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at 30 June
2015, has been pledged by Alpha Sino to IFC
as security for the loan granted; and (i) deposits
with banks of approximately HK$10,490,000
(2020: HK$10,185,000). In addition, Mr. Chi Wen
Fu, a director and controlling shareholder of the
Company (through his interest in Alpha Sino), has
given an undertaking to IFC to maintain a minimum
level of shareholding in the Company. The Group
and the subsidiary had to comply with certain
covenants, including, among other things, certain
financial covenants, under the loan arrangement.

According to a loan agreement entered on 6
December 2018, the Company was granted
HK$40,000,000 facilities. The original maturity
date of the loan was 31 July 2020 and had been
extended to 31 July 2021 unless early redeemed.
The loan was defaulted upon the breach of certain
covenants of the loan agreement. The loan carried
a per annum interest of 9%.

The exchangeable bonds of approximately
HK$108,576,000 become repayable on demand
on 21 July 2020 due to breach of certain terms
in the instruments by the Company, and were
reclassified to other borrowings and carried at rate
of 24% per annum.
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(ii)

(iv)

(Vi)

AR A R2017F6 AR & 1T 2 EE
#101,750,000%7 i3 7T 2 7.0F & B E &
(B2EEETHERFSET) 2EE
B ZEZERTNERSH LT - WE
202067 B3R BB R EL -

FTAEE A E B/ K43,663,000 T
(20204 : 22,800,000/ Jt) #5 K 20214
12A31H AR AR FTIR A Rl B AR (E 4
REIBITER °

S EREREARZHEERE
it -

AEBETRTMEREMEEABIT
BEFEERBEZHEPHEFE - 1202067
A3H  MsE(ifrie EmREZEERERE
B ED - Bt - R20216F12A318 -
REBTBEEITE H 4 %1,995,673,000
7 7 (2020%F : 1,900,268,000/8 JT) 2 %&
FEEZHZ#Z BRTRKERZHEE
WeHEAFTHRAY  LHMEEHAED

ENNRELN  AXEBHMEBEHEHE B
2021 F12A3IAASEEETBERE
#1637,276,000% 7t + HE#E A B BB &
ETHB R ER B BE R A A Y
ETHETELEBELEELRTEHRRE -
BEFAF BRI A IS 8® & M 421

5= o

R2021F12831H @ RITEEREMEE
ZINBEFHERFIE A499.86/E (20204 :
9.68[F) o

M2021F12A831H

H

CfEEZERmER

N A {E2,146,074,00078 7T (20204F

2,140,789,000/& 7T) HHE °

(ii)

(iv)

(vi)

This represents the carrying amount of the 7.0%
subordinated notes with the face value of SGD101.75
million (under the Multicurrency Medium Term Note
Programme) issued by the Company on 5 June 2017.
The notes are listed on the Singapore Stock Exchange
and was matured and defaulted on 3 July 2020.

Included in unsecured borrowings, approximately
HK$43,663,000 (2020: HK$22,800,000) represents bank
loans guaranteed by the corporate guarantee of the
Company as at 31 December 2021.

The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment
dates set out in the loan agreements.

Certain of the Group’s banking facilities and other
borrowings were subject to the fulfilment of covenants
as are commonly found in lending arrangements. On 3
July 2020, the listed subordinated notes described in
note (i) was matured and defaulted. As a result, as at
31 December 2021, the Group could not fulfill covenants
on certain borrowings with an aggregate amount of
HK$1,995,673,000 (2020: HK$1,900,268,000) that
constituted into default of repayment or loan covenants.
As at the date of this annual report, the aforesaid
borrowings were not yet renewed nor repaid.

In view of the payment default, cross default and debt
restructuring, included in the borrowings of the Group
were borrowings of approximately HK$637,276,000 as at
31 December 2021 of which creditors have commenced
litigations against certain subsidiaries for immediate
repayments and to proceed ruling and freezing on certain
non-core operating assets. Details of the litigations
are disclosed in note 42 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The weighted average effective interest rate of bank
borrowing and other borrowings as at 31 December
2021 was approximately 9.86% (2020: 9.68%).

As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amount of
borrowing approximately equal to its fair value were
HK$2,146,074,000 (2020: HK$2,140,789,000).
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33. DEFERRED REVENUE

Government grants received related
to assets

2021 2020
FER FTET
HK$’000 HK$’'000
75,018 72,834

BRESTEZER ALUTRLSBHE
BEER QA R2012% B & BT 5] 3
— Mk REBEZHZE  EMBFAREMR
HUMAREZSBERERR A FIRHITK
EB(TER) AREHEERBERRSY
¥ BB REEHER -

H E20214F K2020F12831H L FE -
A& B R B U EE (] & B - i & £20214F
N2020F12 A31H IEFE W MR E AU
A ° 120214 & 2020F12 A31H 2 & BR
FEZS) AN ERZEELR -

Pl sl AR 2 B B - WIIaTER BIET
WARBEBEAMBINEERS  BZAT
FEEENAFHNIEHRER

In order to encourage the development of magnesium
industry, Baishan City Tianan Magnesium Resources
Co., Limited entered into an agreement with the local
government in 2012. Pursuant to the agreement, the
local government agree to provide financial assistance
(the “Assistance”) to Baishan City Tianan Magnesium
Resources Company Limited to improve their production
technology and enhance the capacity of the property,
plant and equipment.

During the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020,
the Group has not received any Assistance and there
were no other income was recognised for the years
ended 31 December 2021 and 2020. The changes
between the carrying amount as at 31 December 2021
and 2020 are arised from exchange difference.

The Assistance received or which becomes receivables
is initially recognised as deferred revenue and
subsequently recognised in profit or loss over the life of
a depreciable asset by way of as a reduced depreciation
charge expense.
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34 BEMAARR 34. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

FRREETBRARBR 2 ELERIELE The components of deferred tax balances recognised in
BREVARRC B > R E T - the consolidated statement of financial position and the
movements during the year are as follows:
EERERE Deferred Tax Liabilities
ERY-
RER FREEE Rt BYVEE At @t
Property,
Mining Right-of- plant and Intangible
rights  use assets  equipment asset Others Total
THEL THL THL THT THL TEL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
20201 1R As at 1 January 2020 84,000 17,847 (27,042) 78,378 6,000 169,183
(3tA)/MBE%EE  (Credited)/charged to the
Bak (Wa1) consolidated statement of
profit or loss (Note 11) (1,782) (4,344 32,466 (19) (6,000) 20,321
[ % Exchange alignment 5,524 764 (732) 5,222 - 10,778
202012 331 As at 31 December 2020 and
20211 A1 E 1 January 2021 87,742 14,267 4,692 83,581 = 190,282
TARRERER Credited to the consolidated
(KizE11) statement of profit or loss
(Note 11) (495) (509) (166) (19,406) - (20,570)
B 5 R Exchange alignment 2,644 342 113 2,255 - 5,354
#2021E12A31H As at 31 December 2021 89,891 14,106 4,639 66,430 - 175,066
35. X FKRE 35. SHARE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY
RGEHE R 7%
Number Share
of shares capital
T i THET
000 HK$’000
EE Authorised:
H2020F1HA1H - Ordinary shares of HK$0.02 each
2020%12A318 as at 1 January 2020,
2021 F1 A1 & 31 December 2020,
2021F12A31H 1 January 2021 and
FREE0.02F T L imAk 31 December 2021 10,000,000 200,000
BRITREE: Issued and fully paid:
20201 H18 » As at 1 January 2020,
2020 12A31H » 31 December 2020,
2021F1 1B & 1 January 2021 and
2021%12A31H 31 December 2021 4,581,117 101,419
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36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

(a) Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 December

2021 2020
FE T FETT
HK$’000 HK$'000
ERBEE Non-current assets
ME - WEKREE Property, plant and equipment 23 47
KRB AR ZIEE Investments in subsidiaries 2,108 2,108
2,131 2,155
RBEE Current assets
H b pEURFRIE - TER R Other receivables, prepayments
kiEe and deposits 2,096 2,087
JE Y Bt /8 & B 5RIR Amounts due from subsidiaries 1,712,591 2,070,424
R1T RIS 4R Bank and cash balances 98 80
1,714,785 2,072,591
REBEE Current liabilities
E h JE A 5RIE Other payables 215,509 99,616
JETETIEFL Income tax payable 2,974 2,974
BE Borrowings 871,891 881,252
1,090,374 983,842
REEEFEE Net current assets 624,411 1,088,749
EEHERRBAR Total assets less current
liabilities 626,542 1,090,904
EEZEE Net assets 626,542 1,090,904
AATEE AEEREK Capital and reserves
K attributable to owners of the
Company
fi& A< Share capital 101,419 101,419
& Reserves 525,123 989,485
EEEHE Total equity 626,542 1,090,904
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(b) #F (b) Reserves
RARE EXBEEGFE BRERE REEF @t
Capital Share
Share redemption option  Retained
premium reserve reverse  earnings Total
TAEL BT THBT FTAEL FTAEL
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
R2020F1 A1H As at 1 January 2020 1,353,356 4,526 4,812 107,715 1,470,409
FRER Loss for the year - - - (488,503 (488,503
ERN2EFEXEE  Total comprehensive
expense for the year - - - (488,503) (488,503)
RiELERMTF 2  Equity settled share-based
) transactions - - 7,579 - 7,579
B e Share options lapsed - = (1,301) 1,301 -
720205128318 K As at 31 December 2020
2021F1A1H and 1 January 2021 1,353,356 4,526 11,090 (379,487) 989,485
FERNEIE Loss for the year - - - (468,886) (468,886)
FN2EFREE  Total comprehensive
expense for the year - - - (468,886) (468,886)
LSRR 152 Equity settled share-based
R transactions - - 4,524 = 4,524
RELEI Share options lapsed - - (632) 632 -
M2021F128318 As at 31 December 2021 1,353,356 4,526 14,982 (847,741) 525,123
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AEERE  BERBAEBEME
e AEBABE - HERXRY
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FRERDA (B BRRER
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37. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

(a) Share option scheme of the Company

In order to attract and retain the best quality
employees for the development of the Group’s
businesses and to provide additional incentives
or rewards to selected qualifying participants, the
Company adopted a share option scheme on 3
December 2008 (the “Old Scheme”) and on 26
June 2019 (the “New Scheme” or the “Scheme”)
respectively. The qualifying participants mainly
include employees of the Group, Directors and
contractors, suppliers or service providers of
the Group who have contribution to the Group.
Both schemes, unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, will remain in force for 10 years since
its establishing date. The Old Scheme was expired
on 3 December 2018 while the remaining life of
the New Scheme is approximately 7.5 years (expiry
on 26 June 2029). Options granted under the Old
Scheme before its expiry remain in force.

Options may be granted on such terms and
conditions in relation to their vesting, exercise or
otherwise as the directors may determine in its
absolute discretion, provided that such terms and
conditions shall not be inconsistent with any other
terms and conditions of the Scheme.

The subscription price is not less than the highest
of (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in
the daily quotation sheet of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
on the date of offer of the option; (ii) the average
closing prices of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the
5 trading days immediately preceding the date
of offer of the option; and (i) the nominal value
of a Share of HK$0.02. The maximum number of
Shares in respect of which options may be granted
under the Scheme shall not, in aggregate, exceed
30% of the issued share capital of the Company
from time to time. Upon acceptance of the offer
for the grant of option, an amount of HK$1.00 is
payable by the grantee to the Company.
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The Company can issue options so that the
total number of shares that may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the
Scheme does not in aggregate exceed 10% of
the shares in issue on the date of approval of the
Scheme. The Company may refresh this 10% limit
at any time, subject to shareholders’ approval and
the issue of a circular and in accordance with the
Listing Rules provided that the number of shares
to be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under
the Scheme and any other share option schemes
does not exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from
time to time.

The total number of shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted to
each eligible person (including both exercised and
outstanding options under the Scheme) in the
twelve-month period expiring on the offer date
must not exceed 1% of the issued share capital
of the Company. Where any grant of options
to a substantial shareholder or an independent
non-executive director of the Company, or any
of their respective associates, would result in the
securities issued and to be issued upon exercise
of all options already granted and to be granted
(including options exercised, cancelled and
outstanding) to such person in the twelvemonth
period up to and including the date of such grant
(i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the
relevant class of securities in issue; and (i) (where
the securities are listed on the Stock Exchange),
having an aggregate value, based on the closing
price of the securities at the date of each grant,
in excess of HK$5 million, such further grant of
options must be approved by shareholders of the
Company.

The share options are exercisable only if the
Eligible Participants remain in the service of the
Group from the grant date of the share options up
to the designated exercise date.
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20214 2021
1202145 120215
1A1A FREH FERTR EREN FREZE  12831H
BE ZERE ZERE ZBRE ZBRE BE g
B
Held at Options Options Options Options Held at
1 granted exercised lapsed transferred 31
January during during during during  December Exercise
2021 the year the year the year the year 2021 price
HK$
I |
The New Scheme
(A) EE 121,900,000 - - (10,000,000) 20,000,000 131,900,000 0.3
Employees
(B) RER (FisH) 110,000,000 - - - - 110,000,000 0.3
Consultants (note )
c) €2
Directors
HXE 20,000,000 - - - - 20,000,000 0.3
Chi Wen Fu
it 20,000,000 - - - (20,000,000) - 0.3
Shum Sai Chit
i 8,000,000 - - - - 8,000,000 0.3
Chi Jing Chao
DEE 5,000,000 - - - - 5,000,000 0.3
Guo Mengyong
RER 5,000,000 - - - - 5,000,000 0.3
Cheung Sound Poon
it 5,000,000 - - - - 5,000,000 0.3
Sheng Hong
84 5,000,000 - - (5,000,000) - - 0.3
Lau Chi Kit
299,900,000 - - (15,000,000) - 284,900,000 0.3
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20204 2020
12020F AR ERTE EREM 20205
1A1BRA 2B pd 13 ZERE 12A31B%E
Options Options Options
Held at granted exercised lapsed Held at
1 January during during during 31 December
2020 the year the year the year 2020
Eitd
The Old Scheme
(A) EE 8,567,059 - - (8,567,059) =
Employees
(B) E%
Directors
ARG 6,389,145 - - (6,389,145) =
Lau Chi Kit
14,956,204 - - (14,956,204) -
Hatd
The New Scheme
(A) EE 121,900,000 - - - 121,900,000
Employees
(B) B (Miz) 110,000,000 - - - 110,000,000
Consultants (note i)
) €%
Directors
BXE 20,000,000 - - - 20,000,000
Chi Wen Fu
it 5 20,000,000 - - - 20,000,000
Shum Sai Chit
iR 8,000,000 - - - 8,000,000
Chi Jing Chao
BEB 5,000,000 - - - 5,000,000
Guo Mengyong
REAR 5,000,000 - - - 5,000,000
Cheung Sound Poon
Bt 5,000,000 - - - 5,000,000
Sheng Hong
LY 5,000,000 - - - 5,000,000
Lau Chi Kit
299,900,000 - - - 299,900,000
314,856,204 - - (14,956,204) 299,900,000

TEE
BT

Exercise
price
HKS

0.78258

0.78258

0.78258

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3
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ZEBRRARAEERESER
T N B 5 R R B R ) 2R
AEERMAI#FIBEERENE
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Grant date Expiry date
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The New Scheme
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note:

(i) On 25 July 2019, 3 consultants were granted each
with 45,000,000, 25,000,000 and 40,000,000
Share Options respectively. They are body
incorporated and independent third parties to the
Group who are rendering, including but not limited
to, services in relation to assisting of all types of
financing arrangement, introducing of investors,
and other financial services if appropriate and
available, etc.

The Company consider that in view of the limited
resources of the Group and to maintain a long
term growth, the Share Options granted to the
consultants can help to retain and motivates these
non-employees to generate growth in company
value. The Share Options was granted as incentive
for these consultants to provide ongoing service to
the Group and to maintain a long-term relationship
with them so that the Group can maintain a
streamline operation with stability. Apart from
the Share Options granted, the Company has
not provided any other remuneration to these
consultants for their services provided.

Options outstanding at 31 December 2021 have
the following expiry date, exercise period and
exercise prices.

1T1E 5 BRRITEE BREHA
Exercise prices Number
Exercise period per Share of Options
BT
HK$
B2020F11 A1 2 0.3 284,900,000
2025912 A30H

From 1 November 2020
to 30 December 2025
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RAFER B Fat 8\ T 7y #3%
TZARRARRMBE (B Lk E
ITIEREILAE) B443,111,6840% » &
RARREHEBITIRAL.67% °
et 818202966 A26H fEim ©

et B N R EE2019F12 A 31
BIEFEMREcBERE FA=
HARETERAEBETLARBEAY
21,291,000 7T - 8 A Z B BEER
MEZHERZANEL ASENE
B0.2238 L (ERWRM D IFHWFTE
EHFAE) - LT EE - FBEHRE
BB 5F42.352%  FEERBRIE A
1.867% ° #76.4384F 78 5T HE A% 7 F Hf
K0% 2k B & - 1% 78 8 i% (& B 7} &9
EEREMTEMNEE - HIREH
201647 A25H £201947 A25H #
SEHRENGA M ESD - #
Z2021F12A31HLLEFE Et A
IMEBmARNZE2EEL E4524,000
7 7T (20204 : 7,579,000/ 7T ) °
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As at the date of the annual report, the total
number of Shares of the Company available
for issue under the New Scheme (including the
above Options outstanding not yet exercised) was
443,111,684, representing approximately 9.67%
of the issued share capital of the Company as of
the date thereof. The New Scheme will expire on
26 June 2029.

The fair value of Options granted during the year
ended 31 December 2019 under the New Scheme
determined using the Binomial Option Pricing
model was approximately HK$21,291,000. The
significant inputs into the model were share price
of HK$0.223, at the grant date and adjusted for
the effect of the share subdivision, exercise price
shown above, expected volatility is 42.352%,
annual risk-free interest rate of 1.367%. Expected
life of Options of approximately 6.438 years
and dividend payout ratio of 0%. The volatility
measured at the standard deviation of expected
share price returns is based on statistical analysis
of daily share prices from 25 July 2016 to 25
July 2019. During the year ended 31 December
2021, approximately HK$4,524,000 (2020:
HK$7,579,000) were charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.
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Bat 88 T F B4 B6F (R20274F
12A48Em) °
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(b) Share option scheme of a subsidiary

REMT

In order to attract and retain the best quality
employees for the development of the Group of
REMT’s businesses and to provide additional
incentives or rewards to selected qualifying
participants, REMT adopted a share option
scheme on 4 December 2017 (the “REMT
Scheme”). The qualifying participants mainly
include employees, directors, contractors,
suppliers or service providers who have
contribution to the Group of REMT. The REMT
Scheme, unless otherwise cancelled or amended,
will remain in force for 10 years since its
establishing date. The remaining life of the REMT
Scheme is approximately 6 years (expiry on 4
December 2027).

The total number of shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted to
each eligible person (including both exercised and
outstanding options under the REMT Scheme) in
the twelve-month period expiring on the offer date
must not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of
REMT. Where any grant of options to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive
director of REMT, or any of their respective
associates, would result in the securities issued
and to be issued upon exercise of all options
already granted and to be granted (including
options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to
such person in the twelve-month period up to and
including the date of such grant (i) representing
in aggregate over 0.1% of the relevant class of
securities in issue; and (ii) (where the securities
are listed on the Stock Exchange), having an
aggregate value, based on the closing price of the
securities at the date of each grant, in excess of
HK$5 million, such further grant of options must
be approved by shareholders of REMT.

As at 31 December 2021, options to subscribe for
a total of 348,400,000 Shares were outstanding
under the REMT Scheme (the “REMT Options”).
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20214 2021
R20215F ERRLZ ERfTfEZ ERXNZ R2021%
1B1H RENH RENK RENH 128310
B8 BhRE BRE BhRE B8
REMT REMT REMT
Held at Options Options Options Held at
1 granted exercised lapsed 31
January during during during December
2021 the year the year the year 2021
A EE
Employees 163,400,000 - - - 163,400,000
140,000,000 - - - 140,000,000
(B) E2
Directors
hue-3 30,000,000 - - - 30,000,000
Shum Sai Chit
R 3,000,000 - - (3,000,000) -
Chi Jing Chao
FEX 5,000,000 - - - 5,000,000
Cheung Sound Poon
RENRAMES 15,000,000 - - (5,000,000 10,000,000
Other directors of REMT
216,400,000 - - (8,000,000 208,400,000
140,000,000 - - - 140,000,000
356,400,000 - - (8,000,000) 348,400,000

TR
BT

Exercise
price
HK$

0.4
0.3

0.4
0.4
0.4

0.4

0.4
0.3
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20204 2020
ERREC  EROEZ  FRXBZ
1R2020%F BERR WmERE BHERR 120204
1A1BEE R TR e ElkE 12A31BKE 1 E
BT
REMT REMT REMT
Options Options Options
Held at granted exercised lapsed Held at
1 January during during during 31 December Exercise
2020 the year the year the year 2020 price
HK$
(A) EE 163,400,000 - - - 163,400,000 0.4
Employees 40,000,000 - - (40,000,000) - 0.5
150,000,000 - (10,000,000) - 140,000,000 0.3
(B) EX
Directors
it 30,000,000 - - - 30,000,000 0.4
Shum Sai Chit
kg 3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000 04
Chi Jing Chao
REAR 5,000,000 - - - 5,000,000 04
Cheung Sound Poon
BENEAMES 20,000,000 - - (5,000,000) 15,000,000 04
Other directors of REMT
221,400,000 - - (5,000,000) 216,400,000 0.4
40,000,000 - - (40,000,000) - 0.5
150,000,000 - (10,000,000) - 140,000,000 0.3
411,400,000 - (10,000,000)  (45,000,000) 356,400,000
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MN20215FE12A31H » M ARITEZF
BERFEREANUATERBE 1T
FEHI R ATIEE -

g5 a=p J&m B 5

Grant date Expiry date
20184 H25H 2023F 12 A29H
25 April 2018 29 December 2023
201947 H25H 2022%8H31H

25 July 2019 31 August 2022

REMT Options outstanding at 31 December 2021 have
the following expiry date, exercise period and exercise
prices.

FRMER BENE
kel R 1TEE BREHKAE
Exercise Number of
prices per REMT
Exercise period REMT Share Options
BT
HK$
H2018F11A1H#E R 0.4 208,400,000
2023%12 429H
From 1 November 2018
to 29 December 2023
B2019F9 1A £ E 0.3 140,000,000

2022F8H31H
From 1 September 2019
to 31 August 2022

348,400,000

RAFHRAL HERFFEEAET
AHEBETZRERERMBE (BT
s RITEBREREBRE) &
805,839,005% + fHE KW =R &
BEBITRAL12.2%  F iR ET
2z % TNFEHN BT - I #571K2027
F12H4BER °

As at the date of the annual report, the total number
of shares of REMT available for issue under the REMT
Scheme (including the above REMT Options outstanding
not yet exercised) was 805,839,005, representing
approximately 12.2% of the issued share capital of
REMT as of the date thereof. The remaining life of the
REMT Scheme is approximately 6 years and to be
expired on 4 December 2027.
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EEENEE AR EA%13,509,000
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RO AT FEELAE) - Ll
1788 - THHIRRE R BN 1046.729%
£54.568% « FEERRF E1.459%
£1.758% > #9111 B3 1F a7 R
REBREFHRR B R1.64 < 1%
FEHRELNRNZEREMAED
g o T3 AR ¥ 201012 A31H &
2019567 H25B M E B IRER FLat
MEEBE -

H E2018F12A31B It FE &
B HEREERE FAMIR
-HRNHERABEEAREARD
21,558,000/ 7t © 8 A (A EE A
EEERZAERELBHNEKE
0.325B L (BB M D IFM & 21E
HAE) - EWliTEE - BERER
N R42.107%E47.596% * F € &
B K | &1.561%%F1.999% ° #1.52
E568F T MEREBREFHA R
TR B K o 1R IB B AR (B 0] 3R A0 12
REMFTEMEE - HIRIEH2012
F10H248 £20185F4 25 & H
BRENGRTIINTESL -
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The fair value of REMT Options granted during
the year ended 31 December 2019 determined
using the Binomial Option Pricing model was
approximately HK$13,509,000. The significant
inputs into the model were share price of
HK$0.285, at the grant date and adjusted for
the effect of the share subdivision, exercise price
shown above, expected volatility ranged from
46.729% to 54.568%, annual risk-free interest
rate of 1.459% to 1.758%. Expected life of REMT
Options of approximately 1.1 to 3.1 years and
dividend vyield of 1.64. The volatility measured at
the standard deviation of expected share price
returns is based on statistical analysis of daily
share prices from 31 December 2010 to 25 July
2019.

The fair value of REMT Options granted during
the year ended 31 December 2018 determined
using the Black-Scholes valuation model was
approximately HK$21,558,000. The significant
inputs into the model were share price of
HK$0.325, at the grant date and adjusted for
the effect of the share subdivision, exercise price
shown above, expected volatility ranged from
42.107% to 47.596%, annual risk-free interest
rate of 1.561% to 1.999%. Expected life of REMT
Options of approximately 1.52 to 5.68 years and
dividend payout ratio of Nil. The volatility measured
at the standard deviation of expected share price
returns is based on statistical analysis of daily
share prices from 24 October 2012 to 25 April
2018.

During the year ended 31 December 2021,
aggregate amount of approximately HK$2,232,000
(2020: HK$3,975,000) were charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

211



212 tHaEEREEZERER AT Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited
871 55 ¥k 2 Bl 5

Notes to the Financial Statements

B ZE2021F12831HILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2021

38. RE &R 38. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
2021 2020
T FHT
HK$’000 HK$’000

BEHEMANES B BEMAXE Capital expenditure in respect of
BzBEBRBEDE  BE MK the acquisition of property, plant

BzEATH and equipment contracted for but
not provided in the consolidated
financial statements 54,378 285,688
9. EXREAETZSRAERS 39. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS
BB HRRABERBIN  FALREFH Except as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
BETUTNTEIEBEATRS - financial statements, the Group entered into the
following significant related party transactions during the
year.
(a) TEEFEARH L (a) Key Management Compensation
2021 2020
THET FATT
HK$’000 HK$'000
B (fH5E13) Directors (Note 13) 4,610 6,215
HEMFrEEBEAE Other key management personnel:
Fe hHMEHESRER Salaries and other short-term
employee benefits 4,457 4,076
9,067 10,291
b) MXEFLEEEMBEKELSBAFED (b) Mr. Chi Wen Fu has given an undertaking to IFC
O BAARZEREESERK to maintain a minimum level of shareholding in
KFEEEEERA R FELX2REW the Company as collateral of the borrowings as
iT32 o detailed in Note 32.
BIEEABMAEXIMAERARZES LTHR Pursuant to Rule 14A.72 of the Rules Governing the
B (T Em#RE)]) B14A.721& - EERALA Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong
AR EZ ERBEALTRS  BILFE Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), the Directors
FHRBIFBIS4AEFFEENBEER Z I iF consider that none of the material related party
EBREBERS ZEE - transactions disclosed above falls under the definition

of connected transaction or continuing connected
transaction as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.
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40. NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2021, additions
of property, plant and equipment was partially settled

BT &111,123,0008 T FERTFETE by inventories and prepayment of inventories with
RIFREBD BT the amounts of approximately HK$41,090,000 and
HK$111,123,000 respectively.
HMEEDEIEMARYEIE 41. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
2R
RRE - HEAR @3t
Amount
due to a
non-controlling Lease
shareholder Borrowings liabilities Total
TAT FEL THL THT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
1202061A1R At 1 January 2020 799 2,060,243 7,832 2,189,514
BERENE Financing cash flow - (91,651) (2,587) (106,302)
INE R Foreign exchange adjustments 4 63,621 409 64,034
EtRE 2D Other non-cash movement - 108,576 894 894
R2021%1 718 At 1 January 2021 803 2,140,789 6,548 2,148,140
HERENE Financing cash flow - (11,502) (961) (12,463)
MERE Foreign exchange adjustments 24 16,787 188 16,999
LR eE Other non-cash movement S - 439 439
20215128318  Net debt as at
BEE 31 December 2021 827 2,146,074 6,214 2,153,115
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42. SRR ERBARR

(a)

IR AN A A B 8 /2014F10H9H
FRHEEREERAAEED
CREBEEBEFNZAM -BEAREH
B BARRIAE  BEFRANE
MEeRMAREEEE - HEFEEZ
EENXHE B BAEET R
EFHRBRAOVETHEREEZER
BEREBTBOMFE ARG ESR
ERE REBFNTSHAEEER -

BERAHEREREATALE -

ZZ AR B FES 427 Y B BR o 42 A
REH RXBHMEBHEA B
2021F12A3 IHAEEEEFR BIE
f& B #9637,276,000/8 T L A= B~
B S REMAEAMEMN B BEE
BB @1 H & 75 LA 443,000,000
BITHERER  EEEACRIHET
D= R/NCT Bt VA LB = O i/ 2 2
ETHETBLBEBEELETERRE -

HRZEFREESRAREETE
EReaMBRRTERCHEBEARE
NMEGRBEBEEEREE AKH
EEGEEEABR FEBED
aAER Ty SRR AR ©

RERN BTFHFLREEBFAR LG
B R - E B FE(1)%967,089,000
BILTHERERENEEBITRER
MEEFEREE ROEBEEARES
BRI RRIERMRER -—EARK
124,960,0007T (#1 & #9152,426,000
BIL) BERRMITE - WEBER L
e BEZRITEZFHIE  ERUAT
M sE(C) NI E »

42. LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

(a)

Reference is made to the announcement of the
Company dated 9 October 2014 regarding a civil
claim against Capital Idea Investments Limited
(“Capital Idea”). As of the date of this report, to
the best knowledge of the Company, the writ
of summons of the litigation has not yet been
served on Capital Idea. Upon receiving this legal
document, Capital Idea will seek legal advice in
relation to the claim and the necessary actions to
be taken in this respect and will vigorously defend
against the claim. The Board of the Company is
of the view that this claim will not have a material
adverse impact on the business, operation and
financial position of the Group.

Reference is made to the disclosure in Notes 3
and 42. In view of payment default, cross default
and debt restructuring, included in the borrowings
of the Group as at 31 December 2021 were
borrowings of approximately HK$637,276,000 and
in the trade and other payables of the Group were
accounts individually exceeding HK$1 million and
in aggregate to approximately HK$43,000,000 of
which the creditors have commenced litigations
against certain subsidiaries for immediate
repayments and to proceed ruling and freezing on
certain non-core operating assets.

For such litigations, which were mainly in relation
to failure to perform the obligation of the related
liabilities already recognised in the consolidated
financial statements and related assets pledged,
the Group is proactively communicating with the
creditors, striving to solve the litigations through
settlement by agreement.

During the year, certain litigations were resolved
by mediations and negotiations which included
(1) borrowings of approximately HK$67,089,000
were agreed to be repaid by revised and extended
schedules; and, (2) an application was made by
a creditor to withdraw an enforcement granted
before in respect of borrowings RMB124,960,000
(equivalent to approximate HK$152,426,000) and
was approved by court. Details of this enforcement
was disclosed in below note (c).



E - ARRIEERA  #H F2021
F12A31H  EXEZEAETAER
ZERT  MATEFRPEEA
EXMEREHRREB TS FE
AEBRELEER  BRFATE
BAESBEMNTBRAKEERLEE
EXERTHFE -

BENL  ARRAKRELFFAT
FERBR UKREZXFEEER
ARBBETY UGERNEED
ERNG - ARAESTHERAM
AAARBRREREEBRAH
RREGEAMZEFRLNEMNE
RNER -

B AR B A2021F8A1H
AT E ARRIWEIRTT
FRARER (TR ER]) 5@
— AP R IRITHBRBIAITZIR
TRLREAB (AAEEREEIER
ENBAR) BREMNESBEAARK
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ETHBARRMBES 2+ (H AL
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As such, in the view of the directors of the
Company, the above ruling and freezing being
sought by the creditors in the outstanding
litigations as at 31 December 2021 will not affect
the Group's continued operations, in the absence
of unforeseen circumstances, and is not expected
to have a material adverse effect on the Group’s
financial position or its business operations.

Nevertheless, the Company will seek legal advices
on the litigations and will take necessary actions
based on such legal advices for the entire interests
of the Group. Further announcements will be
made by the Company to update the shareholders
and investors of the Company in relation to any
material development on the proposed debt
restructuring and litigations.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company
dated 1 August 2021, the Company received a
written ruling (the “Ruling”) from Linyi Intermediate
People’s Court (“Linyi Court”) regarding a PRC
bank’s application to enforce guarantees of loans
amounting to RMB124.96 million granted to
Shandong Hongri (an indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Group) by the bank that have
been provided by certain subsidiaries of the Group
and Ms. Chi Bi Fen, the former legal representative
of Shandong Hongri.

The Ruling stated that bank deposits of the certain
subsidiaries of the Group and Ms. Chi Bi Fen
in total sum of approximately RMB125 million
or assets of equivalent value may be frozen for
periods of up to one year (if cash), two years (if
moveable assets) and three years (if immovable
property or other types of assets). The Bank
applied for 13 plots of land owned by Shandong
Hongri to be frozen pursuant to the Ruling. On 26
July 2021, Shandong Hongri received a copy of
a notice for assistance for enforcement (1% B #i
173 HE ) dated 21 July 2021 from Linyi Court to
Linyi Immovable Assets Registration Centre (the
“Registry”) requiring the assistance of the Registry
in order to enforce the ruling by “freezing” three
plots of land owned by Shandong Hongri (the
“Frozen Assets”) for the period between 21 July
2021 and 20 July 2024.
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As advised by PRC counsels of the Company
that, in deciding whether or not to grant any such
order and the scope of such order, the Lingyi
Court is required to have regard to the following
requirements: (i) the value of the relevant asset
that is to be “frozen” must not be excessive in
the context of the payment obligations to which
the ruling relates, unless the asset is indivisible
and there are no alternative assets of sufficient
value to satisfy such payment obligations; and (ii)
if multiple assets are available for “freezing”, the
order should apply to those assets which if frozen
would least impact the production activities of the
party concerned. Having considered, (i) to the best
knowledge of the Company, the aggregate value
of the Frozen Assets (after taking account the
value of the Land after its change of use and other
liabilities that were secured by the Frozen Assets)
is not less than RMB125 million; and (i) the Linyi
Court has ordered the freezing of 3 plots of land,
instead of 13 plots of land that were the subject
of the bank’s application, the Company believes
that there is low risk of further freezing orders at
this stage. In view of the foregoing and the fact
that the Frozen Assets belong to Shandong Hongri
which has no operations and absent unforeseen
circumstances, the Company did not expect the
ruling to have a material adverse impact on the
business operations of the Group that are subject
to the Ruling.

On 25 November 2021, the PRC bank had
submitted an application to Linyi Court to withdraw
the enforcement. Pursuant to the written ruling
from Linyi Court dated 1 December 2021, such
application was approved and the enforcement
was withdrawn.
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On 25 February 2021, REMT, a non-wholly
subsidiary of the Company, received a petition
(the “Petition”) filed by Al Global Investment SPC
(formerly known as Haitong Global Investment
SP(lll)) acting on behalf of and for the account
of Al Investment Fund S.P. (the “Petitioner”) on
22 February 2021 against REMT in the Court for
an order that REMT be wound up by the Court.
The Petition was filed against REMT for its failure
to repay the Petitioner an outstanding principal
of the Notes (as defined below) together with
the unpaid interest and default interest in an
aggregate amount of US$20,707,777.78, which
was pursuant to a subscription agreement of 7%
unsubordinated and unsecured notes due 2020 in
a principal amount of US$20,000,000 entered into
between the Petitioner as subscriber and REMT as
the issuer dated 7 August 2017.

On 1 March 2022, the REMT Creditors’ Scheme
was approved by the requisite statutory majorities
of the scheme creditors. The hearing of the
Petition has been adjourned that together with
sanction hearing will be heard on 27 May 2022.
For details, please refer to the announcements
made by REMT on 23 February 2022 and 1 March
2022.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors consider that up

to report date there were no significant litigations would

have material adverse impact on the business and
operation of the Group.

217



218

tHaEEREEZERER AT Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited

87} 55 ¥ 2R Bf 5

Notes to the Financial Statements

HZE2021F12A31H LFE
For the year ended 31 December 2021

43. RERMEER

BN A A A B A2022%1 B18H B A1
Fi#eE ARrEEEHmEATS REE
“HEENEEARARARBEREANBRER &
B R E R R B BEITIRAE20% ; (i)
BRWEEE LG CEMN) EERIEE
RAE (ARAIZ2EWBAR) TEER
AR BEMA L 2 $EE S RIEFE
(&P FT B H R IE - IR A9 AR
KB S) 5 (i) Acronagrotrans Ltd (LU 4T
BeEEZERAR) RERELNILEA
BE TMAFEILR 2 2 B BRI
SRAT B UK B A A% B B (B H0BR BT 4R B8

BIE - ERM AR AR °

MR2022%F1 818H AR A IEE B K
BARWMENREZRER (AEHER
BEEAREBS S AU E) HER K HE
REBRMNEREARBERE B FT L
BRTH A ((HERRERAED -

MERREEAGERE)ERAREE
R ()VATRRES BEREERE  R(i)Lat
MEZZEENES BREEXERRZ
TEERAGEEESERRNBEESR
(i) R (i) 18 2 M EITE

NS S (()
2.

43.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated
18 January 2022, the Company proposed to implement
the restructuring plan and three assets would be
transferred to settle the claims of the creditors of the
Company, which included (i) 20% of the issued shares
capital of REMT,; (ii) the entitlement to receive net sale
proceeds (after deduction of all relevant tax, costs
and expenses incidental to remittance) from the sale
of land in Zhangzhou, the PRC owned by Century
Sunshine (Zhangzhou) Ecological Technology Limited,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company; (iii) the
entitlement to the dividend payments (after deduction
of all relevant tax, costs and expenses incidental to
remittance) receivable by Acronagrotrans Ltd (an
immediate holding company of Shandong Hongri)
from Shandong Hongri after the realisation of the land
registered under the name of Shandong Hongri located
in Shandong, the PRC.

On 18 January 2022, REMT, an indirect non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, proposed to
implement, subject to the approvals by creditors of
REMT and the Hong Kong High Court, the proposed
scheme of arrangement for REMT to be made between
REMT and the creditors who had made a claim (the
“REMT Creditors’ Scheme”).

The REMT Creditors’ Scheme comprises (i) the term
extension option; (i) the convertible bonds swap option;
and (iii) a combination of the aforementioned two
options. Each scheme creditor with admitted claims is
entitled, to the extent of the total value of his/her/its
admitted claim(s), to elect between options (i), (i) and (iii)
above.
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The Company, as the ultimate parent company of
REMT, shall provide and execute a corporate guarantee
on or around the REMT Creditor’ Scheme effective date
in favour of the REMT Scheme Company, to guarantee
REMT’s punctual payment of the interim distribution
payable (if payable) and the final payment to the term
extension option creditors on the terms under the REMT
Creditors’ Scheme. The potential corporate guarantee
to be given by the Company is only enforceable
upon the full and final settlement of all liabilities owed
to the Company’s creditors under the Proposed
Scheme. Further details were set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 18 January 2022.

The REMT Creditors' Scheme was approved by the
requisite statutory majorities of the scheme creditors on
1 March 2022 and the sanction hearing was scheduled
on 27 May 2022.

COMPARATIVES

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to
conform with current year’s presentation.

AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE
OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements was approved
and authorised for issued by the board of directors on
31 March 2022.
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Five-Year Financial Summary

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
BT FHT FTHET TR FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
B F12H31HILEE  For the year ended 31 December
WA Revenue 1,331,858 2,151,811 4,314,420 4,655,116 3,443,219
$HE A Cost of sales (1,200,336) (1,848,286) (3,251,036) (3,512,857) (2,591,833)
EF Gross profit 131,522 303,525 1,063,384 1,142,259 851,386
Hip sk B8 55 Other gains or losses, net (959,890)  (745,023) 92,128 75,324 113,750
HBERMHEEER Selling and marketing costs (34,377) (55,377) (107,917) (133,673) (139,056)
GiGb Administrative expenses (196,661)  (251,607) (302,330) (227,127) (275,998)
B 75 & A Finance costs (200,301)  (179,501)  (153,664)  (164,943)  (150,678)
BT SR AT (B1E) / (Loss)/profit before income tax
i 7 (1,259,707)  (927,983) 591,601 691,840 399,404
Frisfige,/ (Ax) Income tax credit/(expense) 5,605 (56,222)  (163,347)  (150,318) (144,292
BERKEERY Profit for the year from
F N F continuing operations - - - 541,522 255,112
BRIEEEER 2 Profit for the year from
F N5 F discontinued operations - - = 31,315 6,510
FR(BE),/HEH (Loss)/profit for the year (1,254,102)  (984,205) 428,254 572,837 261,622
THATEEER (Loss)/profit for the year attributable to:
(B18) /#H -
VNGIE FEDN Owners of the Company (1,121,566)  (745,368) 380,368 474,230 260,316
TR = Non-controlling interests (132,536)  (238,837) 47,886 98,607 1,306
Sk (BE), /B - (Loss)/earnings per share:
- BEAR(FRBW) - basic (HK cents per share) (24.48) (16.27) 8.30 10.35 5.67
- B (BRABMW) — diluted (HK cents per share) (24.48) (16.27) 8.30 10.35 5.67
H12F31H As at 31 December
BEBE Total assets 5,910,461 6,934,475 7,627,565 7,474,567 7,502,278
BfELE Total liabilities (3,446,442) (3,347,477) (3,357,654) (3,517,949) (3,848,850)
B Total equity 2,464,019 3,586,998 4,269,911 3,956,618 3,653,428
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